Hybrid dynamics in large-scale logistics networks

von Mykhaylo Kosmykov

Dissertation Zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften – Dr. rer. nat. –

Vorgelegt im Fachbereich 3 (Mathematik & Informatik) der Universität Bremen im Juli 2011

Datum des Promotionskolloquiums: 19.09.2011 Gutachter: Priv. Doz. Dr. Sergey Dashkovskiy, Universität Bremen Prof. Dr. Fabian Wirth, Universität Würzburg

To my family

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my supervisor Priv. Doz. Dr. Sergey Dashkovskiy for his extensive support in academic and non-academic life, for the useful advices in proving and presentation of mathematical results, for his optimism and trust.

I also want to thank Prof. Dr. Fabian Wirth for valuable discussions and advices that led to interesting results and added rigidity in research.

I am grateful to my school teachers Bogdan Shpitalenko and Rostislav Smirnov that gave me inspiration in mathematics.

I am also thankful to my colleagues Lars Naujok and Andrii Mironchenko that have kindly agreed to read the earlier version of this thesis and for the insightful discussions and support. Besides that, it was a very nice time to be a colleague of them.

I would also like to thank the other colleagues from the work group "Mathematical Modelling of Complex Systems", from the Center for Industrial Mathematics at the University of Bremen and from the project "Stability, Robustness and Approximation of Dynamic Large-Scale Networks - Theory and Applications in Logistics Networks" for the useful discussions, support and nice work atmosphere, especially Prof. Dr. Hamid Reza Karimi, Thomas Makuschewitz, Michael Schönlein and Christoph Lahl.

And my deep gratitude to my parents Maria and Victor, brothers Alexander and Ivan, and my dear wife Tatiana for their great support, faith and encouragement.

I am also thankful to the Volkswagen Foundation for the financial support (Project Nr. I/82684).

Abstract

We study stability properties of interconnected hybrid systems with application to large-scale logistics networks.

Hybrid systems are dynamical systems that combine two types of dynamics: continuous and discrete. Such behaviour occurs in wide range of applications. Logistics networks are one of such applications, where the continuous dynamics occurs in the production and processing of material and the discrete one in the picking up and delivering of material. Stability of logistics networks characterizes their robustness to the changes occurring in the network. However, the hybrid dynamics and the large size of the network lead to complexity of the stability analysis.

In this thesis we show how the behaviour of a logistics networks can be described by interconnected hybrid systems. Then we recall the small gain conditions used in the stability analysis of continuous and discrete systems and extend them to establish inputto-state stability (ISS) of interconnected hybrid systems. We give the mixed small gain condition in a matrix form $\Gamma \circ D \not\geq$ id, where the matrix Γ describes the interconnection structure of the system and the diagonal matrix D takes into account whether ISS condition for a subsystem is formulated in the maximization or the summation sense. The small gain condition is sufficient for ISS of an interconnected hybrid system and can be applied to an interconnection of an arbitrary finite number of ISS subsystems. We also show an application of this condition to particular subclasses of hybrid systems: impulsive systems, comparison systems and the systems with stability of only a part of the state.

Furthermore, we introduce an approach for structure-preserving model reduction for large-scale logistics networks. This approach supposes to aggregate typical interconnection patterns (motifs) of the network graph. Such reduction allows to decrease the number of computations needed to verify the small gain condition.

vi

Contents

	Intr	oduction					
1	Mat	Mathematical models of logistics networks					
	1.1	Notation					
		1.1.1 Logistics network					
		1.1.2 Vectors and matrices					
		1.1.3 Graphs					
		1.1.4 Notions from control theory					
		1.1.5 Dynamical systems and their stability					
	1.2	Review of the known modelling approaches	1				
		1.2.1 Discrete deterministic systems	1				
		1.2.2 Continuous deterministic systems	1				
		1.2.3 Hybrid deterministic systems	2				
		1.2.4 Stochastic models	2				
	1.3	Comparison of the modelling approaches	3				
2	Stab	ility of interconnected hybrid systems	3				
-	2.1	Interconnected hybrid systems	3				
	2.2	Stability notions	4				
		2.2.1 Input-to-state stability (ISS)	4				
		2.2.2 ISS in terms of Lyapunov functions	4				
	2.3	Gains	4				
		2.3.1 Gain operator	4				
		2.3.2 Mixed small gain condition	4				
		2.3.3 From summation to maximization					
	2.4	Stability conditions	5				
		2.4.1 Small gain theorems in terms of trajectories	5				
		2.4.2 Construction of ISS-Lyapunov functions for interconnected hybrid syste	ems 6				
		2.4.3 Systems with stability of only a part of the state	7				
		2.4.4 Impulsive dynamical systems	7				
		2.4.5 Comparison systems	7				
3	Mod	al raduction approach for large-scale networks	-				
5	3 1	3.1 Gain model					
	3.1	$\Delta a a regation rules$, o				
	5.4	3.2.1 Aggregation of sequentially connected nodes	o				
		3.2.1 Aggregation of nodes connected in parallel	· · · · · 0 c				
		5.2.2 Aggregation of nodes connected in parallel	, ð				

4	Conclusion	and outlook	91
	3.2.3 3.2.4	Aggregation of almost disconnected subgraphsNotes on application of the aggregation rules	87 89

Introduction

Hybrid dynamical systems occur in many modern applications due to their ability to deal with a combination of both continuous and discrete types of dynamics in one model. The continuous dynamics is usually given by an ordinary differential equation with an input:

$$\dot{x} = f(x, u), \ (x, u) \in C,$$

and the discrete dynamics is given by an instantaneous change in the state (jump):

$$x^+ = g(x, u), \ (x, u) \in D.$$

This system behaves continuously in the points $(x, u) \in C$ and jumps in the points $(x, u) \in D$. Such behaviour occurs, for example, in control systems that combine digital and analog devices, e.g., robotics [5], network control systems [159], [110], reset systems [111] or engineering systems [62].

Logistics networks is another type of systems that possesses hybrid dynamics. These networks produce and move goods from suppliers to customers. In the literature, there are known many approaches for the modelling of logistics networks. These models differ in their ability to describe different network characteristics, to apply various analysis methods and to achieve desirable performance goals. Networks, where only continuous flows occur, are described by continuous dynamical systems, see [69], [41] and [65]. A network with discrete changes is given by a discrete-time model [7], [116], [113]. A network with random (stochastic) events can be modelled as a stochastic model, see [94] and [145]. In more general types of logistics networks there are usually continuous changes in production, processing or transportation of goods and discrete (discontinuous) changes in picking up and delivering of goods to other locations. In this case it is natural to describe the dynamics by a hybrid dynamical system, see [137] and [146].

The analysis of logistics networks can be performed also in different directions: optimization [69], [113], [137], where the main point is optimal performance of the network; stability, where stable behaviour under perturbation is desirable [146], [41], [116], [69]; control, where the tools for the control of the network are developed [113], [137].

However, the real-world logistics networks are large-scale and possess a complex structure. This implies large size and complex structure of their models. Analytical analysis of large-scale models is rather sophisticated and time-consuming. This motivates the question of reduction of the model size before its analysis. The best way of reduction is to approximate the model by a smaller one. It means that the reduced model has to possess similar characteristics as the original one. In mathematical systems theory there is a theory of model reduction that proposes different methods for reduction of large-scale systems [4], [123]. These methods are well-developed for linear systems. Their main advantages are small approximation error, preservation of dynamical properties (stability, observability, controllability) and numerical efficiency. However, the weak point of their application to logistics networks is that they, in general, do not preserve the structure of the network. This property is crucial for the analysis of logistics networks, because logistics networks consist of real physical objects

like production facilities, warehouses, retailers, transportation routes and thus information about them should not be lost. Furthermore, the dynamics of logistics networks is usually nonlinear. Compared to linear systems, the theory of model reduction of nonlinear systems is taking only the first steps in its development and is applied only to particular classes of nonlinear dynamics [10].

We start this thesis by surveying eleven known approaches for modelling of logistics networks in Chapter 1. These approaches cover four types of dynamics: discrete one in Section 1.2.1, continuous one in Section 1.2.2, hybrid one in Section 1.2.3 and stochastic one in Section 1.2.4. We present the main equations of each model that describe the network dynamics and recall the main results concerning their application to stability analysis and control. We support the survey by a comparison of main characteristics of the approaches in Table 1.1.

To study stability of a logistics network we consider one of the modelling approaches that proposes to model logistics networks as an interconnection of n hybrid subsystems. Then the dynamics of logistic location i is described by a hybrid system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_i = f_i(x_1, \dots, x_n, u_i), (x_1, \dots, x_n, u_1, \dots, u_n) \in C_i, \\ x_i^+ = g_i(x_1, \dots, x_n, u_i), (x_1, \dots, x_n, u_1, \dots, u_n) \in D_i \end{cases}$$

with state x_i (e.g. queue of orders or stock level), external input u_i (e.g. customer orders or flow of raw material), continuous changes described by the function f_i , discontinuous changes described by the function g_i . The sets C_i , D_i define the type of the behaviour of the *i*th subsystem corresponding to the given states x_i and inputs u_i : continuous in case C_i or discontinuous in case D_i . Thus, this modelling approach includes two types of dynamics in one model and allows description of more general types of logistics networks.

We are concerned with stability of logistics networks, because this property guarantees persistence of the network to perturbations that occur, for example, in demand, cooperation between logistic partners or transportation. In particular, we are interested in input-to-state stability (ISS) introduced for continuous systems in [152] and extended to hybrid systems in [27]. This type of stability assures boundedness of the overall state $x = (x_1^T, \ldots, x_n^T)^T$ of the system under boundedness of the overall external input $u = (u_1^T, \ldots, u_n^T)^T$ for all times and state jumps:

$$|x(t,k)| \le \max\{\beta(|x_0|, t, k), \gamma(||u||_{(t,k)})\}.$$

Here x_0 is the initial state, t is the time, k is the number of the interval between the jumps, $||u||_{(t,k)}$ is the norm of the hybrid input. The function $\beta : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ increases in the first argument and tends to zero in the second and the third one. The function $\gamma : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is strictly increasing and $\gamma(0) = 0$.

In the stability analysis of the interconnection of hybrid subsystems we restrict us to the case where all subsystems has the ISS property, i.e.

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \max\{\beta_i(|x_i^0|, t, k), \max_{j, j \ne i} \gamma_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}), \gamma(||u_i||_{(t,k)})\}.$$

Functions $\gamma_{ij} : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ are strictly increasing, unbounded and $\gamma(0) = 0$. Furthermore, γ_{ij} describes the influence of the *j*th subsystem on the *i*th subsystem and thus it is also called gain function. Our aim is to use information about the interconnection structure of the network for checking whether the network is ISS. For continuous and discrete systems a well-established approach is to use the socalled small gain conditions [82], [54], [126], [50] and [86]. As hybrid systems combine both types of dynamics, this motivates us to adapt these small gain conditions to hybrid subsystems. The first

attempts were done for an interconnection of two hybrid systems in [96], [110]. In Chapter 2 we

extend application of the small gain condition to an interconnection of more than two subsystems. Moreover, we extend this condition to the case where some subsystems has the ISS property with summations instead of maximizations in the definition of ISS. To this end, we consider the gain matrix $\Gamma := (\gamma_{ij})_{n \times n}$ that describes the interconnection structure of the network. To guarantee ISS of the network we impose a sufficient condition, the mixed small gain condition in a matrix form, see Theorem 2.4.5:

 $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D} \not\geq \mathsf{id}$

where $\Gamma : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ is a matrix operator corresponding to the gain matrix Γ , id is the identity operator and \geq is the logical neglecting of \geq . The diagonal matrix operator $\mathcal{D} : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ has id in the *i*th element of the diagonal in case the *i*th subsystem has the ISS property in terms of maximizations and id + α in case the *i*th subsystem has the ISS property in terms of summations with some $\alpha : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that α is strictly increasing, unbounded and $\alpha(0) = 0$. Thus, the mixed small gain condition impose a condition on the cooperation between logistics locations, given by the matrix Γ , that guarantees stability of a logistics network.

In Theorem 2.4.13 we apply this small gain condition to construct an ISS-Lyapunov function for the interconnected hybrid system. This function provides a useful tool for establishing ISS of the hybrid system. As a corollary, we present the small gain conditions for particular classes of hybrid systems: for systems where only parts of the states are stable in Corollary 2.4.20, for impulsive systems in Theorem 2.4.26 and for comparison systems in Theorem 2.4.30.

In the case of a large size of a logistics network, the verification of the small gain condition needs large amount of computations due to the large size of the corresponding gain matrix Γ . With aim to reduce the size of Γ , in Chapter 3 we introduce an approach for structure preserving model reduction of logistics networks. In this approach we consider the matrix Γ as a model of logistics networks that describes the interconnection structure of the network. To reduce the size of the gain matrix, we introduce three rules based on certain types of interconnections in the networks, so-called motifs [103], that allow to pass from the matrix Γ of dimension n to the matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ of dimension l with l < n. These rules suppose aggregation of the gains of the subsystems that belong to one of the following motifs: parallel connection, sequential connection and almost disconnected subgraph. In Theorems 3.2.1, 3.2.5 and 3.2.9 we derive that, if the small gain condition holds for Γ obtained by an application of one of three aggregation rules, then the small gain condition holds also for Γ . Thus, we can establish ISS of logistics network of the size n by checking the small gain condition corresponding to the matrix Γ of dimension l < n, see Corollaries 3.2.2, 3.2.6 and 3.2.10. As the matrix Γ consists in general of nonlinear gains this approach can be applied to networks with linear dynamics as well as with nonlinear one. Furthermore, these aggregation rules preserve the main structure of a logistics network.

Description of a model of a logistics network as an interconnected continuous system considered in Section 1.2.2 is published in [41], [43] and [44]. A survey on the known modelling approaches for logistics networks from Chapter 1 is partially published in [141], [146]. The result on the mixed small gain condition from Chapter 2 for interconnected continuous systems is published in [49], [50]. The small gain results for hybrid and impulsive systems are published in [45], [46], [47] and [48]. Application of the aggregation rules, considered in Chapter 3, to reduce the size of the model of a logistics network is published in [143], [144]. A result on an investigation of topological properties of logistics networks is published in [142].

Chapter 1

Mathematical models of logistics networks

Logistics network, called also production network or supply chain, is a system that moves products from suppliers to customers [36]. Modern logistics networks vary in their structural and dynamical properties. They may consist of locations geographically distributed all over the world as well of machines arranged inside one production facility [33]. The main performance indicators of such networks are stability, minimization of costs and ability to satisfy customer orders. Feature characteristics and dynamics of a logistics network can be modelled either by the simulation models [140] or by the mathematical models. We are interested in the mathematical models as they allow deep investigation of network dynamics. In the literature there is a wide choice of modelling approaches that vary in their properties. To summarize these approaches, there were performed several reviews of the known models in the literature. In [17], [104] authors consider simulation, game-theoretic, deterministic and stochastic models that are mostly static. Models describing the decision process in logistics networks were investigated in [100] and models that deal with information sharing were reviewed in [78]. However, the aforementioned papers do not consider the dynamical behaviour of the network. The dynamical properties of logistics networks were studied in [135]. The authors stress there on the review of the typical mathematical approaches for the analysis of dynamical effects in logistics networks without providing a detailed overview of the known modelling approaches. In this chapter we are going to fill this gap. To this end, we go through the main modelling approaches known in the literature and identify their modelling concepts, application areas and features. At the end of the chapter we provide a comparison table that highlights the main properties of each modelling approach.

1.1 Notation

First, we introduce the notation that will be used throughout the thesis.

1.1.1 Logistics network

The main activities of a logistics network include production, inventory control, storing and processing. Thus, the network consists of different objects: suppliers, production facilities, distributors, retailers, customers, machines at a production facility. We call such objects *locations*. We denote by n the number of locations and we number all the locations by i = 1, ..., n. The decision, a location takes, on handling the orders relies on a certain *policy*. By x we understand the *state* of a location. Usually, it is the stock level (inventory level) of a location or a work content to be performed. The variable q denotes a *length of queue*, e.g., the queue of customer orders at a location or products to be processed by a machine. *The external input* denoted by u, describes usually the flow of customer orders or the flow of raw material from the external suppliers. The *output* is denoted by y. A typical output is consumption. *The customer demand* is described by the variable d. An example of a logistics network that illustrates our notation is shown in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1: General description of a logistics network.

The production rate of a production facility is given by a production function f and the maximal production rate is denoted by α . The number of a production step is denoted by k = 1, 2, ... and the product type is denoted by p = 1, 2, ... We define by c_{ij} the consumption rate of products of location j by location i and we denote by d_{ij} the delivery rate of products of location i to location j. For usual time we write t. For the time needed to rearrange a location for production of another type of products we write τ and call this time adaptation time.

Note that this is only a general description of logistics networks and its parameters. Later in Section 1.2, where we present different approaches for mathematical modelling of dynamics of logistics networks, some of these parameters disappear or new ones appear depending on the features of a specific modelling approach.

Material, information and monetary flows connect locations of a logistics network and create the structure of the network. The structure of a flow is frequently characterized as linear, convergent, divergent, or nonlinear, see Figure 1.2. Here, linear denotes a simple chain of locations passed one after the other, convergent describes flows originating from a large number of locations and ending in a few end locations, divergent describes the opposite structure in which a few sources feed a larger number of end locations, while nonlinear in this context simply denotes a more intricate structure which does not fit into the other categories.

Lack of information between the locations, complexity of the network structure, nonlinearity of dynamics and large size of the network can bring the network to instability, e.g. [154], [37], [107] and [39]. Instability of logistics network means, roughly speaking, unboundedness of the overall state.



Figure 1.2: Structure of the network

Instability results in increasing of costs, in increasing of the number of unsatisfied orders and finally in the loss of profit. For example, a traffic jam causes the later pick up of the products from the warehouse. Thus, the amount of stored products increases, that increases the costs due to storing. The later pick up by-turn causes later delivery of the goods to customers. This decreases the customer satisfaction and thus implies the decreasing of the customer demand and of the profits of the logistics network. Thus, stability of the networks is the property of their survivability. This motivates the study of the network structure and behaviour.

There are many different types of stability. In this thesis our aim is to study input-to-state stability of logistics networks. In Section 1.1.4 we give a precise definition of input-to-state stability and in Chapter 2 we provide conditions that guarantee input-to-state stability of logistics networks.

In the following subsections we recall the notions from matrix, graph and control theory. These notions we are going to use to present different modelling approaches of logistics networks in Section 1.2 and to derive stability conditions for logistics networks in Chapter 2.

1.1.2 Vectors and matrices

In the following, we set $\mathbb{R}_+ := [0, \infty)$ and denote the positive orthant by $\mathbb{R}^n_+ := [0, \infty)^n$. A vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ and a matrix $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}_+$ are called *nonnegative*. The transposition of a vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is denoted by v^T and the transposition of a matrix $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ is denoted by M^T . By $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ we denote the standard scalar product in \mathbb{R}^n .

On \mathbb{R}^n we use the partial order [54] induced by the positive orthant given by

$$x \ge y \iff x_i \ge y_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n, \\ x > y \iff x_i > y_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Furthermore, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ we write $x \ge y \iff \exists i \in \{1, \ldots, n\} : x_i < y_i$, i.e., the logical negation of \ge .

For a nonempty index set $I \subset \{1, \ldots, n\}$ we denote by |I| the number of elements of I. For a nonempty index set $J \subset \{1, \ldots, n\}$ let P_J denote the projection of \mathbb{R}^n_+ onto $\mathbb{R}^{|J|}_+$. Let R_I be the anti-projection $\mathbb{R}^{|I|}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$, defined by

$$x \mapsto \sum_{k=1}^{|I|} x_{i_k} e_{i_k}$$

where $\{e_{i_k}\}_{k=1,\dots,n}$ denotes the standard basis in \mathbb{R}^n and $I = \{i_1, \dots, i_{|I|}\}$. \mathbb{B} is the open unit ball in \mathbb{R}^n and $\overline{\mathbb{B}}$ is its closure. The set $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is *relatively closed in the set* $\chi \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, if $B = \overline{B} \cap \chi$. We denote by $|\cdot|$ some vector norm in \mathbb{R}^n . In particular, $|v|_{\max} = \max_i |v_i|$ means the maximum norm and $|v|_1 = \sum_{i=1}^n |v_i|$ the 1-norm. The spectral radius of a matrix M is denoted by $\rho(M)$. A matrix $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ is called *reducible*, if there exists a permutation matrix $P \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ such that

$$P^T M P = \begin{bmatrix} A & B \\ 0 & C \end{bmatrix}$$

where the matrices A and C are square. Otherwise, M is said to be *irreducible*. A matrix M is called *primitive*, if there exists a positive integer $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $M^k > 0$. Note that any primitive matrix is irreducible. The converse is false, in general. For the following connection between primitive and irreducible matrices we refer to [20, Theorem 2.1.7].

Lemma 1.1.1. For $M \ge 0$ the following are equivalent.

- (a) M is irreducible and $\rho(M)$ is greater in magnitude than any other eigenvalue.
- (b) M is primitive.

Another useful connection between irreducible and primitive matrices is the following, cf. [20, Corollary 2.2.28].

Lemma 1.1.2. An irreducible matrix is primitive, if its trace is positive.

1.1.3 Graphs

A useful tool to describe networks are graphs. Here, we introduce the notion of graphs from [14] and show how graphs can be described by matrices. A *directed graph with weights* consists of a finite *vertex set* V and an *edge set* E, where a *directed edge from vertex* i to vertex j is an ordered pair $(i, j) \in E \subset V \times V$. The weights can be represented by a $|V| \times |V|$ weighted adjacency matrix A, where $a_{ij} \ge 0$ denotes the weight of the directed edge from vertex i to vertex j. By convention $a_{ij} > 0$, if and only if $(i, j) \in E$. We will denote a directed graph with weights of this form by G = (V, E, A). Additionally, we define for each vertex i the set of *successors* by

$$S(i) = \{j : (i,j) \in E\}$$

and the set of predecessors by

$$P(i) = \{ j : (j,i) \in E \}.$$

A *path* from vertex i to j is a sequence of distinct vertices starting with i and ending with j such that there is a directed edge between consecutive vertices. A directed graph is said to be *strongly connected*, if for any ordered pair (i, j) of vertices, there is a path which leads from i to j. In terms of the weighted adjacency matrix this is equivalent to the fact that A is irreducible, [20].

1.1.4 Notions from control theory

To describe dynamics of a logistics network we need the notions from control theory [89].

We call a continuous function $\gamma : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ positive definite, if $\gamma(0) = 0$ and $\gamma(s) \neq 0$ for $s \neq 0$. A function $\gamma : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is said to be of class \mathcal{K} , if it is continuous, strictly increasing and $\gamma(0) = 0$. Function $\gamma \in \mathcal{K}$ is of class \mathcal{K}_{∞} , if, in addition, it is unbounded. Note that for any $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ its inverse function α^{-1} always exists and $\alpha^{-1} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$. A function $\beta : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is said to be of class \mathcal{KL} , if for each fixed t the function $\beta(\cdot, t)$ is of class \mathcal{K} and, for each fixed s, the function $t \mapsto \beta(s, t)$ is continuous, non-increasing and tends to zero for $t \to \infty$. A function $\beta : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is said to be of class \mathcal{KLL} , if for each fixed $t \ge 0$ the function $\beta(\cdot, \cdot, t) \in \mathcal{KL}$ and for each fixed $r \ge 0$, $\beta(\cdot, r, \cdot) \in \mathcal{KL}$. A function $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is affine, if there exist matrices $A_1, \ldots, A_n \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^1$ and a vector $b \in \mathbb{R}^m$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $f(x) = A_1x_1 + \cdots + A_nx_n + b$.

 M^n denotes the *n*-fold composition of a map $M : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ denoted by $M \circ \ldots \circ M$. We denote by id the identity map. We define the restriction of a function $v : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^m$ to the interval $[s_1, s_2]$ by

$$v_{[s_1, s_2]}(t) = \begin{cases} v(t), & \text{if } t \in [s_1, s_2], \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The essential supremum norm of a measurable function $\phi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is denoted by $\|\phi\|_{\infty} := ess \sup\{|\phi(s)|, s \in \mathbb{R}_+\}$. L_{∞} (or $L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$) is the set of measurable functions for which this norm is finite.

The tangent cone to the set $C \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ at $x \in C$, $T_C(x)$, is the set of all $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ for which there exist real numbers $\alpha_i \searrow 0$ and vectors $v_i \to v$ such that for $i = 1, 2, ..., x + \alpha_i v_i \in C$, see [63], [125] and [13].

A function f(x) is *locally Lipschitz continuous* on a domain (open and connected set) $D \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, if each point of D has a neighborhood D_0 such that f satisfies the Lipschitz condition

$$|f(x) - f(y)| \le L_0|x - y|$$

for all points x, y in D_0 with some Lipschitz constant L_0 than can depend on the point in D_0 . We denote the set of such functions by Lip_{loc} . Note that locally Lipschitz continuous functions are differentiable almost everywhere by the Rademacher's theorem. In the points, where such a function is not differentiable, we use the notion of Clarke's generalized gradient, see [34], [52]. The set

$$\partial f(x) = \operatorname{conv}\{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^n : \exists x_k \to x, \exists \nabla f(x_k) \text{ and } \nabla f(x_k) \to \zeta\}$$
(1.1)

is called *Clarke's generalized gradient of* f at $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Note that if f is differential at some point, then its Clarke generalized gradient coincides with the usual gradient at this point.

1.1.5 Dynamical systems and their stability

Here we briefly introduce four types of dynamical systems and the types of their stability.

Dynamical systems

We distinguish four main types of dynamical systems by the type of their behaviour:

• Continuous dynamical system given by an ordinary differential equation with an input [89]:

$$\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t), u(t)), \quad x(t_0) = x^0,$$
(1.2)

where t is the time, $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x}$ is the state, $u \in \mathbb{R}^{n_u}$ is the measurable locally essentially bounded input, $f : \mathbb{R}^{n_x+n_u} \to \mathbb{R}^{n_x}$ describes the continuous dynamics and $x(t_0)$ is the initial condition at time t_0 . We assume that f is continuous and for all $r \in \mathbb{R}_+$ it is locally Lipschitz continuous in x and uniformly in u for $|u| \leq r$.

• Discrete dynamical system given by a difference equation with an input [89]:

$$x(k+1) = g(x(k), u(k)), \quad x(0) = x^0, \quad k = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$
 (1.3)

where k is the discrete time, $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x}$ is the state, $u \in \mathbb{R}^{n_u}$ is the measurable locally essentially bounded input, $g : \mathbb{R}^{n_x+n_u} \to \mathbb{R}^{n_x}$ describes the discrete dynamics and x(0) is the initial condition. We assume that g is continuous.

• *Hybrid dynamical system* given as a combination of continuous and discrete dynamical systems [60], [162]:

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x}(t) &= f(x(t), u(t)), & \text{if } (x(t), u(t)) \in C, \\ x^+(t) &= g(x(t), u(t)), & \text{if } (x(t), u(t)) \in D, \end{aligned}$$
 (1.4)

where $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x}$ is the state, $x^+(t)$ is a state after its "immediate" change at time t ("jump"), $u \in \mathbb{R}^{n_u}$ is the measurable locally essentially bounded input, $f : \mathbb{R}^{n_x+n_u} \to \mathbb{R}^{n_x}$ describes the continuous dynamics at points $(x, u) \in C \subset \mathbb{R}^{n_x+n_u}$, $g : \mathbb{R}^{n_x+n_u} \to \mathbb{R}^{n_x}$ describes the discrete dynamics at points $(x, u) \in D \subset \mathbb{R}^{n_x+n_u}$ and x^0 is the initial condition. A point of the solution trajectory is denoted by x(t, k) where t is the time and k is the number of the interval between the jumps, see Section 2 for a detailed description of hybrid systems. Functions f and g are assumed to be continuous, and set C and D closed.

• Stochastic linear dynamical system given by a stochastic difference equation [19]:

$$x(k+1) = Ax(k) + Bu(k) + Ed(k), \quad x(0) = x^{0},$$
(1.5)

where k is the discrete time, $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x}$ is the state, $u \in \mathbb{R}^{n_u}$ is the measurable locally essentially bounded input, $d \in \mathbb{R}^{n_d}$ is the bounded random value, $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x \times n_x}$, $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x \times n_u}$ and $E \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x \times n_d}$, x(0) is the initial condition.

We consider also subclasses of continuous (1.2) and discrete system (1.3) without inputs, so-called *unforced dynamical systems*:

$$\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t)),$$
 (1.6)

and

$$x(k+1) = g(x(k)).$$
 (1.7)

Consider system (1.6) with $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Let S be n-1 dimensional surface of section, i.e. hypersurface where all trajectories starting on S flow throught it, not parallel to it. The map $P : S \to S$ is called *Poincaré map* [157], if is obtained by following trajectories from one intersection with S to the next. If $x_k \in S$ denotes the kth intersection, then the Poincaré map is defined by

$$x_{k+1} = P(x_k). (1.8)$$

Stability notions

We consider for continuous systems (1.2) or (1.6) the following types of stability [89], [152]:

Definition 1.1.3 (Stability of continuous dynamical systems). Consider a system of the form (1.6)

- A point x^* is a fixed (or equilibrium) point for f, if $f(x^*) = 0$;
- A fixed point x^* is stable, if for each $\epsilon > 0$ there is a $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $|x^0 x^*| < \delta$ the solution x(t) exists and satisfies $|x(t) - x^*| < \epsilon$, for all $t \ge 0$;
- A fixed point x^* is attractive, if there is a $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $|x^0 x^*| < \delta$ the solution x(t) of (1.6) exists and $\lim_{t \to \infty} x(t) = x^*$;
- A fixed point x^* is globally attractive if it is attractive for any $\delta > 0$;
- A fixed point x^* is asymptotically stable, if it is stable and attractive;
- A fixed point x^* is unstable, if it is not stable.

Consider a system of the form (1.2)*:*

• System (1.2) is called input-to-state stable (ISS), if there exist functions $\beta \in \mathcal{KL}$ and $\gamma \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ such that for all $x^0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$

$$|x(t)| \le \max\{\beta(|x^0|, t), \gamma(||u||_{\infty})\}, \quad t \ge 0.$$
(1.9)

Remark 1.1.4. *By an abuse of notation the abbreviation "ISS" will mean throughout the thesis "input-to-state stable" or "input-to-state stability" depending on the context.*

We consider for a discrete system of the form (1.7) the following types of stability [89], [114].

Definition 1.1.5 (Stability of discrete dynamical systems). *Consider a system of the form* (1.7):

- A point x^* is a fixed (or equilibrium) point for g, if $x^* = g(x^*)$;
- A fixed point x^{*} is stable, if for each ε > 0 there is a δ > 0 such that whenever |x⁰ x^{*}| < δ, the solution {x^k} of (1.7) exists and satisfies |x^k x^{*}| < ε, for all k ≥ 1;
- A point x^* is called a period two point, if $x^* = g^2(x^*)$;
- A fixed point x^* is attractive, if there is a $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $|x^0 x^*| < \delta$ the solution $\{x^k\}$ of (1.7) exists and $\lim_{k \to \infty} x^k = x^*$;
- A fixed point x^* is asymptotically stable, if it is stable and attractive;
- A fixed point x^* is unstable, if it is not stable.

Remark 1.1.6. *By stability of a dynamical system we will usually understand stability of its equilibrium points.*

In hybrid systems of the form (1.4) we are interested in input-to-state stability [96]:

Definition 1.1.7 (ISS of hybrid dynamical systems). System (1.4) is called ISS, if there exist functions $\beta \in \mathcal{KLL}$ and $\gamma \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ such that for all initial conditions $(x(0,0), u(0,0)) \in C \cup D$, bounded inputs $u \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$ and times $t \ge 0$, number of intervals between the jumps $k \ge 0$

$$|x(t,k)| \le \max\{\beta(|x(0)|, t, k), \gamma(||u||_{\infty})\}.$$
(1.10)

In the following section we will review the main known approaches for modelling the dynamics of logistics networks. Furthermore, we will show the main results concerning their stability and performance.

1.2 Review of the known modelling approaches

Here we review eleven modelling approaches for logistics networks found in the recent literature. For convenience, we group them by the type of dynamics they possess. In particular, we distinguish four groups of models corresponding to four types of dynamics: discrete, continuous, hybrid and stochastic one.

Investigations of stability properties of logistics networks conducted in Chapter 2 will be based on the model of logistics network as an interconnected hybrid system from Subsection 1.2.3.

1.2.1 Discrete deterministic systems

Discrete deterministic systems are used to model logistic networks where the considered time changes discretely.

Modelling of product lines as "bucket brigades"

A product line is a production system that consists of machines and workers. In [21] it was proposed to treat a product line as a so-called "bucket brigade", where each worker carries an item from machine to machine and then passes it to the next worker. This idea was further extended in [15], [16], [25], [8] and [7]. The main problem is to arrange the jobs between the workers, i.e. to assign the points of the passing of the items, to achieve certain performance aims like self-balancing or maximal throughput. We introduce this modelling approach relying on [7] and show conditions that guarantee self-balancing. We consider two workers denoted by A and B. Work content of a job to be performed on an item is denoted by w. When an item enters a product line w = 0 and then w changes continuously. At the end w = 1. Each worker works with his own speed. The speed for worker B is assumed to be 1 and the speed of worker A is assumed to be f_1 on the interval [0, W] of the job and f_2 on the interval [W, 1] such that $f_1 < 1 < f_2$.

The states at time t are positions of the workers along the product line: $x_A(t) \in [0, 1]$ for worker A and $x_B(t) \in [0, 1]$ for worker B. A new job is every time started by worker B. Worker A finishes the previous job at some point x^0 and then takes over the job from worker B. The portion of the job of worker B is

$$x_B(t) = t, \forall t \ge 0. \tag{1.11}$$

If worker A starts after the break point W, then the portion of a job of worker A is

$$x_A(t) = x^0 + f_2 t, (1.12)$$

and if he starts before the break point

$$x_A(t) = \begin{cases} x^0 + f_1 t & , t < t_W \\ W + f_2(t - t_W) & , t \ge t_W, \end{cases}$$
(1.13)

where $t_W = \frac{W-x^0}{f_1}$ is the time it takes worker A to get to W. Define \bar{t}_n as the amount of time that worker A spends to process job n and assume that the time is

Define t_n as the amount of time that worker A spends to process job n and assume that the time is reseted whenever a job is finished. Then the new starting point for worker A at a new job n + 1 is given by

$$x^{n+1} = x_B(\bar{t}_n) = \begin{cases} \frac{1-x^n}{f_2} &, \text{ for } x^n > W, \\ W\left(\frac{1}{f_1} - \frac{1}{f_2}\right) - \frac{x^n}{f_1} + \frac{1}{f_2} &, \text{ for } x^n \le W. \end{cases}$$
(1.14)

A piecewise linear map given by (1.14) is a Poincaré map as in (1.8).

One of the aims is to obtain a self-balanced or a self-organized product line. Self-balancing and selforganizing are defined using the notion of a fixed point. In particular, existence of a fixed point x_s for a two worker bucket brigade means that worker B works always from 0 to x_s and worker A from x_s to 1. For the map given in (1.14) a fixed point always exists, but may be either stable, periodic or unstable [7]. The corresponding product line corresponding to a stable fixed point is called *selfbalanced*, i.e. for every starting point of worker A they eventually end up working the same part of the product line. If there exists a period-two stable point, then the corresponding product line is called to be *self-organized* and handover of the product from the worker B to the worker A occurs alternatingly at two positions, i.e. at two fixed points.

The type of fixed point can be identified using a value L that is the time that worker A would need to get through the whole production line:

$$L := \frac{W}{f_1} + \frac{1 - W}{f_2}.$$
(1.15)

If L > 1, then worker B is *faster on average* than worker A.

In [7] conditions that establish the type of the fixed point were obtained. We formulate them in the following theorem.

Theorem 1.2.1. Depending on W, x_s and L the fixed point is

- globally stable, if $W \leq x_s$ and worker A is faster on average than worker B (L < 1)
- stable period-two point, if $W \leq x_s$ and worker B is faster on average than worker A ($L \geq 1$)
- unstable period-two point, if $W > x_s$ and worker A is faster on average than worker B (L < 1)
- unstable, if $W > x_s$ and B is faster on average than worker A $(L \ge 1)$

This modelling approach allows to describe a production line as a bucket brigade. We have considered two types of stable production lines: self-balanced and self-organized. Stability condition given in Theorem 1.2.1 depends on the workers speeds. Though the presented model is simplified by considering only two workers with constant speeds, it may be further modified and extended to achieve maximal throughput, by adding more workers, by implying another rules of job sharing like blocking or by introducing new properties for the workers like learning [8].

Decentralized supply chains

In decentralized (or autonomous) supply chains information is not shared between all locations and each supplier determines its order quantities based on the demand and inventory information of previous time periods, [116], [36], [37] and [118]. Due to this bounded information sharing the Bullwhip effect may occur. The main question is how to quantify this effect. Here we will show an approach to quantify this effect based on the model considered in [116].

Consider a supply chain that consists of n + 1 suppliers connected sequentially, see Figure 1.2a. The suppliers are denoted by indices i = 1, 2, ..., n + 1 starting from downstream and i = 0 corresponds to the final customer. The time is discrete and the time periods are denoted by t = 0, 1, 2, ... At the beginning of every time period t, supplier i checks his inventory level during the period and orders the needed quantity u_i at the end of the period. The inventory level of the *i*th supplier at the period t + 1, i.e., the difference between the placed and received orders, is described as follows

$$x_i(t+1) = x_i(t) + u_i(t) - u_{i-1}(t), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots$$
(1.16)

Goods ordered by supplier *i* arrive after a constant lead time τ_i . The in-stock inventory level of supplier *i* during the period t + 1, i.e., the difference between the received items and received orders, is given by

$$y_i(t+1) = y_i(t) + u_i(t-\tau_i) - u_{i-1}(t), i = 1, 2, \dots$$
(1.17)

The order quantity $u_i(t)$ of supplier *i* at the end of period *t* is calculated based on the information about its inventory levels x_i , y_i of all previous periods up to *t* and the order quantities u_{i-1} of all previous periods up to t-1. The next step is to focus on the ordering policy, which is based on the information above. Policies often used in practice are proper, linear and time-invariant (LTI). A policy is called *proper*, if the size of the orders received is constant over the time, the supplier inventory tends to a constant equilibrium value that is independent of the initial conditions and the orders placed tend to the value of orders received. Further, a policy is called *LTI*, if $u_i(t)$ is a time-dependent linear function of x_i , y_i and u_{i-1} . In order to give a simple description of a proper and LTI policy we introduce the unit shift operator *R* for the time series and let R_l denote its *l*-fold application, i.e.

$$R^{l}x_{i}(t) := x_{i}(t-l) \tag{1.18}$$

for all t and for all l = 0, 1, ... Then the general expression is

$$u_i(t) = \gamma_i + A_i(R)x_i(t) + B_i(R)y_i(t) + C_i(R)u_{i-1}(t-1), i = 1, 2, \dots$$
(1.19)

Here γ_i is a real number and A_i , B_i and C_i are polynomials with real coefficients

$$A_i(R) = a_0^i + a_1^i R + a_2^i R^2 + \dots, (1.20)$$

$$B_i(R) = b_0^i + b_1^i R + b_2^i R^2 + \dots, (1.21)$$

$$C_i(R) = c_0^i + c_1^i R + c_2^i R^2 + \dots$$
(1.22)

The polynomials A_i and B_i indicate the influence of inventory history on the ordering decisions and C_i the influence of orders received. The exact choice of these polynomials depends on the application needs. For such an ordering policy it follows from the definition of the properness that the nominal equilibrium exists such that order sizes, inventory levels and in-stock inventories stay constant, say x_i^{∞} , y_i^{∞} and u_i^{∞} .

A negative effect occurring in such networks is an instability given by the Bullwhip effect: increasing of fluctuation of orders in direction from retailers to suppliers due to the changes in the customer demand [59], [95], [30]. To quantify the Bullwhip effect we consider the error between the current states and their corresponding equilibrium. That is, we denote

$$\bar{u}_{i}(t) = u_{i}(t) - u^{\infty} = A_{i}(R)\bar{x}_{i}(t) + B_{i}(R)\bar{y}_{i}(t) + C_{i}(R)\bar{u}_{i-1}(t-1), i = 1, 2, \dots$$

$$\bar{x}_{i}(t) = x_{i}(t) - x^{\infty} = \bar{x}_{i}(t) + \bar{u}_{i}(t) - \bar{u}_{i-1}(t), i = 0, 2, \dots$$

$$\bar{y}_{i}(t) = y_{i}(t) - y^{\infty} = \bar{y}_{i}(t) + \bar{u}_{i}(t-\tau_{i}) - \bar{u}_{i-1}(t), 0 = 1, 2, \dots$$
(1.23)

and consider the ratio of the order sequences of the most upstream supplier and customer demand. This reflects the idea of the so-called *worst-case RMSE (root mean square errors) amplification factor* [116] that is given by

$$W_n = \sup_{\overline{u}_0(\cdot) \neq 0} \left[\frac{\left(\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \overline{u}_n^2(t)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\left(\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \overline{u}_0^2(t)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \right].$$
 (1.24)

This factor allows to state whether supplier n+1 experiences the Bullwhip effect or not. To be precise, in a supply chain, that is described within the error framework, supplier n + 1 is said to experience no Bullwhip effect, if $W_n \leq 1$, i.e. if the overall fluctuation of orders of the last supplier is less than or equal the overall fluctuation of the customer demand. In the case of proper LTI supply chains with n + 1 locations the sufficient condition for the occurrence of the Bullwhip effect is stated in the following theorem, see [116, Theorem 3].

Theorem 1.2.2. Supplier n + 1 in an LTI supply chain described by (1.23) experiences the Bullwhip effect if

$$W_n := \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{1 + B_i(1)\tau_i - C_i(1)}{A_i(1) + B_i(1)} > 0.$$
(1.25)

The following corollary establish the Bullwhip effect if the supply chain is *homogeneous*, i.e. all the locations are alike.

Corollary 1.2.3. When the supply chain is homogeneous, the Bullwhip effect exists if

$$\frac{1+B(1)\tau - C(1)}{A(1) + B(1)} > 0.$$
(1.26)

Furthermore, there are similar analytical conditions for other policies (e.g. advanced demand information) to predict whether the Bullwhip effect will occur or not, see [116], [117], [115].

Though here only the case of sequentially connected suppliers was considered, it is possible to extend the modelling approach on general network structures, as well as to cover delays in delivery or uncertainties [118]. Explicitly there is no production processes involved. By production process one can understand only lead times τ_i .

Modelling of re-entrant lines as queueing systems

Products considered in this modelling approach pass through several production steps to be finished [113]. Such networks have nonlinear structure as in Figure 1.2d and are called *re-entrant lines*. The topology of the routes is determined by the set mappings. The state of the system is given by the length of the queues at the machines. The main aim is to arrange the machine processing time for different product types to achieve the maximal production rate.

We consider n machines denoted by U_i , i = 1, ..., n, and p product flows denoted by P_k , k = 1, ..., p. There are a finite fixed number of routes for each product. During the production cycle only one item of product type can be processed at a machine. A product flow P_k can be processed on n_k machines denoted by $1, ..., n_k$ and has s_k sequential production steps. The mapping $s_k(l) : \{1, ..., n_k\} \mapsto \{1, ..., s_k\}$ defines the set of numbers of the production steps which can be performed by the machine l. The family of all mappings from $\{1, ..., n_k\}$ into the set of all subsets $\{1, ..., s_k\}$ is denoted by $M_{n_k}^{s_k}$.

For two mappings $a, b \in M_{n_k}^{s_k}$ by $h = a \cup b$ we denote such a mapping from $M_{n_k}^{s_k}$ that for any $l \in \{1, ..., n_k\}$ it holds that $h(l) = a(l) \cup b(l)$. A mapping $s \in M_{n_k}^{s_k}$ is a *product-stream* P_k if for any $l \in \{1, ..., n_k\}$ it holds that $s_k(l) \neq \emptyset$ and $\bigcup_{l=1}^{n_k} s_k(l) = \{1, 2, ..., s_k\}$.

By Q_{il}^{kj} we denote the queue of the items of the product P_k after being processed at the machine U_i and that are waiting to be processed by the machine U_l , where j is the production step of the product P_k . The length of the queue Q_{il}^{kj} at time t is $q_{il}^{kj}(t)$. The state of the machine U_l described by products P_k at stage j at time t is given by

$$q_l^{kj}(t) = \sum_{i \in in_k(l)} q_{il}^{kj}(t),$$
(1.27)

where $in_k(l)$ is the set of machines from which the products P_k arrive to machine U_l . Let τ_{il}^{kj} be the time that machine U_i needs to perform a production step j of a product k produced for machine U_l , n_{il}^{kj} be the number of items of product P_k on production step j produced by the machine U_l for the machine U_l during the processing time τ_{il}^{kj} , m_{kj} be the batch size required for the production step j + 1 of P_k , a_{il}^{kj} be the ratio of the time needed for machine U_i for working for machine U_l over product P_k on production step j. a_{il}^{kj} , n_{il}^{kj} satisfy the following natural conditions: $\sum_{k,j,l} a_{il}^{kj} \leq 1$, $a_{il}^{kj} \geq 0$ for all i, j > 0, i > 0, l, $\sum_{k,l} a_{0l}^{k0} \leq 1$ and $a_{0l}^{k0} \geq 0$ for all k, l. Denote also $N_i^{kj} = \sum_{l \in out_k(i)} n_{il}^{kj}$ where $out_k(i)$ is the set of machines to which the products P_k arrive from machine U_i .

The dynamics of the machine U_l is described by the change of its queue length due to the arriving of the new items and shipping of the processed items to the next machines:

$$q_{l}^{kj}(t) = S\left\{ \left[\sum_{i \in in_{k}(l)} \frac{n_{il}^{kj}}{m_{kj}} \left[\frac{a_{il}^{kj}(t-t_{0})}{\tau_{il}^{kj}} \right] \right] - \sum_{i \in out_{k}(l)} \left[\frac{a_{li}^{kj+1}(t-t_{0})}{\tau_{li}^{kj+1}} \right] + q_{l}^{kj}(t_{0}) \right\}$$
(1.28)

where $S{x} = \frac{|x|+x}{2}$. The Stinson-Smith Condition [155]

$$\sum_{i \in in_k(l)} \frac{n_{il}^{kj} a_{il}^{kj}}{\tau_{il}^{kj} m_{kj}} - \sum_{i \in out_k(l)} \frac{a_{li}^{kj+1}}{\tau_{li}^{kj+1}} = 0$$
(1.29)

imposed on the dynamics of the machine U_l minimizes its idle time. Moreover, this condition guarantees boundedness of its queue q_l^{kj} .

Such a model is used to set an optimization (or quasi-optimization problem) [74] that finds n_{il}^{kj} , a_{il}^{kj} under which a production rate is maximal (or quasi-maximal). The quasi-optimization problem is formulated as a linear programming problem using the Stinson-Smith Condition (1.29). Let *n* be the total number of machines, ν be a number of product items considered in the optimization problem

in [113], \hat{a}_{il}^{kj} , \hat{n}_{il}^{kj} be the solution of the optimization problem, \tilde{a}_{il}^{kj} , \tilde{n}_{il}^{kj} be the solution of the quasioptimization problem, $\hat{q}_{il}^{kj}(t)$, $\hat{q}_{il}^{kj}(T)$ be the states at time T for optimal and quasi-optimal solutions, and μ_k be the cost of one item per product p_k . Though the Stinson-Smith Condition guarantees the boundedness of the queues, it allows to obtain only the quasi-maximal production rate. The difference between production rate of optimal solution $\sum_{i=k}^{\nu} \mu_k \cdot \hat{q}_{n+1}^{ks_k}(T)$ and production rate of quasi-optimal solution $\sum_{k=1}^{\nu} \mu_k \cdot \hat{q}_{n+1}^{ks_k}(T)$ is estimated in the following theorem, see [113, Theorem 3.1].

Theorem 1.2.4. For $\sum_{k=1}^{\nu} \mu_k \cdot \hat{q}_{n+1}^{ks_k}(T)$ and $\sum_{k=1}^{\nu} \mu_k \cdot \tilde{q}_{n+1}^{ks_k}(T)$ the inequality

$$0 \le \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} \mu_k \cdot \hat{q}_{n+1}^{ks_k}(T) - \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} \mu_k \cdot \tilde{q}_{n+1}^{ks_k}(T) \le \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} \mu_k \sum_{k \in in_k(n+1)} (1 + \delta(\widetilde{n}_{kn+1}^{ks_k}, n_{ks_k}) \cdot \frac{n_{in+1}^{ks_k}}{n_{ks_k}})$$

holds, where

$$\delta\left(\widetilde{n}_{in+1}^{ks_k}, n_{ks_k}\right) = 1, \text{ if } \widetilde{n}_{in+1}^{ks_k} \neq n_{ks_k},$$

$$\delta\left(\widetilde{n}_{in+1}^{ks_k}, n_{ks_k}\right) = 0, \text{ if } \widetilde{n}_{in+1}^{ks_k} = n_{ks_k}.$$

This modelling approach describes re-entrant lines where the products pass through several production steps. Furthermore, there may be more than one route for a product. A machine is able to assign the processing time and the number of items of each product to be be processed in order to achieve certain performance goals. The Stinson-Smith Condition (1.29) guarantees boundedness of the queue at the machines. However, this condition restricts the choice of possible decisions of a machine to get the global optimal performance. Thus, only quasi-optimal solutions can be achieved under this condition.

1.2.2 Continuous deterministic systems

Here we consider modelling approaches that deal with continuous material flows in the network. Such a network can be described by ordinary or partial differential equations.

Ordinary differential equation

In this framework we model the whole network by modelling the dynamics of each single location by an ordinary differential equation with inputs as in (1.2) and by describing the dynamics of the whole network as a system of ordinary differential equations [42], [41], [43] and [44]. Such equations allow to study stability properties of the networks using known Lyapunov methods and recently established small gain conditions.

The dynamics of the *i*th locations, i = 1, ..., n, looks as follows

$$\dot{x}_i = \tilde{f}_i(x_1, \dots, x_n, u_i), \quad x_i(0) = x_i^0$$
(1.30)

where $x_i(0)$ is an initial state and the functions \tilde{f}_i describe the changes at state x_i of location i and need not to be linear, [141], [42]. For example, the state x_i is the number of unsatisfied orders at location i, $f_i(x_i(t)) = \alpha_i (1 - e^{-x_i(t)})$ is its actual production rate, where α_i is the maximal production rate [42]. If the state x_i is large, then the production rate f_i tends to α_i and if the state is small, then f_i tends to zero. This means, if there are many orders, the actual production rate is close to the maximum production rate and if there are no orders nothing will be produced. The state of a location i influences the states of the other locations $j \neq i$. The state of a location i is also subject to an external input u_i . This input might be caused by the new orders from the customers of the logistics network. This allows to model the dependence and interconnections between the locations more precise

$$\dot{x}_i = u_i + \sum_{j,j \neq i} c_{ji} f_j(x_j(t)) - f_i(x_i(t)),$$
(1.31)

where $0 \le c_{ji} \le 1$ is the share of orders of location j at location i, $\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{ji} = 1$.

The state of the whole logistics network is obtained by combining the states of all locations in one vector, i.e. $x = (x_1^T, \dots, x_n^T)^T$. The dynamics of the logistics network is given by

$$\dot{x} = \tilde{f}(x, u) = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{f}_1(x_1, \dots, x_n, u_1) \\ \dots \\ \tilde{f}_n(x_1, \dots, x_n, u_n) \end{pmatrix}, \quad x(0) = x^0.$$
(1.32)

A well established notion to describe stability of interconnected nonlinear dynamical systems with inputs is the notion of ISS. In particular, ISS of (1.32) defined by (1.9) occurs when the state x(t) is bounded by some function of the initial value x(0) and of the overall input $u = (u_1^T, \ldots, u_n^T)^T$ over the time.

For the individual location i described by (1.31) ISS is defined by

$$|x_{i}(t)| \leq \max\{\beta_{i}(|x_{i}^{0}|, t), \max_{j}\{\gamma_{ij}(||x_{j[0,t]}||_{\infty})\}, \gamma_{i}(||u_{i}||_{\infty})\},$$
(1.33)

where $\gamma_{ij} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ are called *gains* from other locations *j* [54].

The notion of ISS is one possibility of defining stability. Here the external influences are addressed explicitly by γ_i . A further advantage of the ISS notion is that there are stability criteria for interconnected systems based on the gains γ_{ij} [54], [42]. To illustrate this criteria, all the gains are collected in a matrix $\Gamma := (\gamma_{ij})_{n \times n}$. This matrix describes interconnection structure of the network. The operator $\Gamma : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ is defined by

$$\Gamma(s) := \begin{pmatrix} \max\{\gamma_{1,2}(s_2), \dots, \gamma_{1,n}(s_n)\} \\ \vdots \\ \max\{\gamma_{n1}(s_1), \dots, \gamma_{n,n-1}(s_{n-1})\} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.34)

Inequality $\Gamma(s) \geq s$ means that for every *s* there exists at least one component of the vector $\Gamma(s)$ such that $(\Gamma(s))_i < s_i$. This inequality is called the small gain condition. A *r*-cycle in the matrix Γ is a sequence $\gamma_{i_0,i_1}, \gamma_{i_1,i_2}, \ldots, \gamma_{i_{r-1}i_r}$ of size *r*, where $i_0 = i_r$. The cycle of size *r* in Γ is a *contraction* if

$$\gamma_{i_0,i_1} \circ \gamma_{i_1,i_2} \circ \dots, \circ \gamma_{i_{r-1},i_r} < \mathrm{id}. \tag{1.35}$$

In [126, Corollary 3.3.5] the following *small gain theorem* was proved that guarantees ISS of the interconnected system (1.32).

Theorem 1.2.5. Consider system (1.30) and suppose that each subsystem is ISS so that condition (1.33) holds. If $\Gamma(s) \geq s$ for all $s \neq 0$, or equivalently, if every cycle in Γ is a contraction, then system (1.32) is ISS from u to x.

Thus, this stability condition depends on the interconnection structure of the network given by matrix Γ . This modelling approach allows for a modularity principle. That is, the ISS concept allows to establish stability of the network from stability of single locations. Moreover, there are no restrictions on the interconnection structure.

From the practical point of view, this framework can cope with nonlinear dynamics in every location of the logistics network. Further, this approach provides a stability criteria to decide whether the interconnection of stable locations leads to a stable logistics network. The criterion takes the topology of the logistics network into account. This modelling approach can be further extended to capture delays in delivery [43]. Input-to-state stability and the small gain condition are discussed in more detail in Chapter 2.

Damped oscillator models

A modelling approach inspired by physics of interconnected oscillators [158] has been investigated in [69], [70], [105] and [151]. Here we model logistics networks that adapt their production speeds. Due to the fact that adaptation needs some time, instability effects like the Bullwhip effect occur.

The model uses an idea of a physical transport problem, where the flows of products are considered. The model is given by balance equations for the flows of products and by the adaptation of the production speeds. There are n logistics locations denoted by $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. Location i delivers d_{ji} products of kind i to other locations and consumes c_{ki} products of kind k per production cycle, i.e. for production of one unit. The production speed $f_i(t)$ of a location i is the number of production cycles per time unit (day, week,...). $x_i(t)$ denotes the number of products of kind i available in the logistics network (inventory). The function $y_i(t)$ represents an external flow like consumption, losses and import of resources

$$y_i(t) = c_{i,n+1} f_{n+1}(t) - d_{i0} f_0(t).$$
(1.36)

Here f_{n+1} reflects the customers demand while f_0 reflects the inflow of resources. It is assumed that c_{ij} and d_{ij} are normalized, such that $0 \le c_{ij}, d_{ij} \le 1$ and

$$d_{i0} = 1 - \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij} \ge 0, \quad c_{i,n+1} = 1 - \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{ij} \ge 0.$$
 (1.37)

The inventory change of product i is given by the difference of supply and demand

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = f_i^{in}(t) - f_i^{out}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij} f_j(t) - \sum_{j=1}^n c_{ij} f_j(t) + y_i(t),$$
(1.38)

where the first term represents the supply and the second term denotes the demand. Variations of the consumption rate $y_i(t)$ enforce an adaptation of production speeds. This is based on information about the current inventory of all locations *i*, the change of inventory $x_i(t)$ and the current production speed $f_i(t)$. The adaptations are not instantaneous and require an adaptation time τ_i for adjustments. In the following we state an adaption for the case of sequential logistics networks. Let x_i^0 denote a desired inventory level, $f_j^0(x_i, \frac{dx_i}{dt})$ a desired rate, then the delivery rate is adapted to minimize changes in inventory $\frac{dx_i}{dt}$ according to

$$\frac{df_j}{dt} = \frac{1}{\tau_i} \left[\frac{x_i^0 - x_i(t)}{T_i} - \beta_i \frac{dx_i}{dt} + \epsilon_i [f_j^0 - f_i(t)] \right].$$
(1.39)

The analysis of the Bullwhip effect is performed by linearizing the model described in (1.38), (1.39) around the equilibrium point $(x_i, \frac{dx_i}{dt}) = (x_i, 0)$ [89]. The size of the Bullwhip effect depends on the network topology and the adaptation of production rates. Instability condition for the case of a sequential supply chain, see Figure 1.2a, and feedback (1.39) was shown in [69]:

Theorem 1.2.6. Variations in the consumption rate are magnified under the instability condition:

$$\tau_i > \epsilon_i T_i (\beta_i + \epsilon_i/2). \tag{1.40}$$

This condition implies that the Bullwhip effect occurs, if the adaptation time τ_i is too large, if there is no adaptation to some desired production speed (corresponding to $\epsilon_i = 0$), or if the production management reacts too strong to deviations of the actual stock level x_i from the desired one x_i^0 (corresponding to small value of T_i).

In the damped oscillator model the dynamics of a logistics network is represented by the flow of products and by the adaptation of the production rates. The model can be extended to cover transport delays [151] and to a macroeconomic model with different economic sectors [69]. This approach contains qualitative models for the analysis of the Bullwhip effect, that may occur in a supply chain.

Multilevel network model

We consider a multilevel network consisted of logistics network, information network and financial network [108], [107] and [106]. Logistics locations that compose this supply chain compete with each other. The commodity is homogeneous. Manufactures produce goods and sell them to retailers. Retailers deliver then goods to consumers at demand markets. The main aim is to achieve stable behaviour of the material flows between locations and of the prices for the products.

We use the following notation for the logistics locations and delivery sizes: *i* is the number of a producer (manufacturer), $i = 1, ..., n_p$, *j* is the number of retailer, $j = 1, ..., n_r$, *l* is the number of a consumer, $l = 1, ..., n_c$, y_{ij}^1 is a nonnegative size of delivery between producer *i* and retailer *j*, y_{jl}^2 is a nonnegative size of delivery between retailer *j* and consumer l, $Y^1 = (y_{ij}^1)_{i=1,...,n_p;j=1,...,n_r} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_p \times n_r}_+$ is the overall delivery between producers and retailers, $Y^2 = (y_{jl}^2)_{j=1,...,n_r;l=1,...,n_c} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_r \times n_c}_+$ is the overall delivery between retailers and consumers, y_i is the overall amount of produced goods by manufacturer *i*, $y = (y_1, ..., y_i, ..., y_{n_p}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_p}_+$ is the overall amount of produced goods.

The logistics network consists of 3 levels of nodes: manufactures, retailers and consumers. The nodes are connected by edges describing material flows between manufacturers and retailers (y_{ij}^1) , and retailers and consumers (y_{jl}^2) .

To describe the financial network we use the following notation: π_{1ij} is the product price of manufacturer *i* associated with retailer *j*, $\pi_{1i} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_p}_+$ is the price of manufacturer *i* for the product, $\pi_1 = (\pi_{11}, \pi_{12}, ..., \pi_{1n_p}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_p}_+$ are the prices of all manufacturers; π_{2j} is the price of retailer *j*, $\pi_2 = (\pi_{21}, \pi_{22}, ..., \pi_{2n_r}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_r}_+$ are the prices of all retailers; π_{3l} is the true price for the product as perceived by consumer $l, \pi_3 = (\pi_{31}, \pi_{32}, ..., \pi_{3n_c}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_c}_+$.

Then the financial network consists of the nodes representing the same logistics locations but where the edges denote the prices for the products.

The information network consists also of the same logistics locations but is now bidirectional and shows delivery and price information over the time in order to adjust delivery size and prices for obtaining equilibrium, i.e. constant delivery sizes and prices.

Dynamics of the price π_{3k} is given as follows

$$\dot{\pi}_{3k} = \begin{cases} d_l(\pi_3) - \sum_{j=1}^{n_r} y_{jl}^2, & \text{if } \pi_{3l} > 0, \\ \max\{0, d_l(\pi_3) - \sum_{j=1}^{n_r} y_{jl}^2\}, & \text{if } \pi_{3l} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.41)

where d_l is a demand function that depends on the price π_{3l} . Thus, the change in the price is the difference between the demand and the available amount of goods at the consumers. The second equation in (1.41) guarantees that the price does not become negative.

Dynamics of the price π_{2l} is given by

$$\dot{\pi}_{2j} = \begin{cases} \sum_{l=1}^{n_c} y_{jl}^2 - \sum_{i=1}^{n_p} y_{ij}^1, & \text{if } \pi_{2j} > 0, \\ \max\{0, \sum_{l=1}^{n_c} y_{jl}^2 - \sum_{i=1}^{n_p} y_{ij}^1\}, & \text{if } \pi_{2j} = 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.42)

The change in price is now the difference between the available amount of goods at the manufacturers and at the retailers.

Dynamics of the delivery size y_{jl}^2 is described in the following way

$$\dot{y}_{jl}^{1} = \begin{cases} \pi_{3l} - \theta_{jl}(Y^{2}) - \pi_{2j}, & \text{if } y_{jl}^{2} > 0, \\ \max\{0, \pi_{3l} - \theta_{jl}(Y^{2}) - \pi_{2j}\}, & \text{if } y_{jl}^{2} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.43)

where $\theta_{jl}(Y^2)$ are the transportation costs. The change in the delivery size is then the difference between the price the consumers are ready to pay and the transportation costs together with the price of a retailer. The second equation in (1.43) guarantees that the delivery size is not negative.

Consider production cost function $\eta_i = \eta_i(Y^1)$ and transportation cost function $\theta_{ij} = \theta_{ij}(y_{ij}^1)$. The overall cost of a manufacturer is the sum of production costs and transportation costs. The price for the product of the manufacturer is the marginal costs of production and transportation: $\frac{\partial \eta_i(Y^1)}{\partial y_{ij}^1}$ +

 $\frac{\partial \theta_{ij}(y_{ij}^1)}{\partial y_{ij}^1}$. The costs of the retailer for handling are denoted by $\theta_j = \theta_j(\sum_{i=1}^{n_p} y_{ij}^1) = \theta_j(Y^1)$.

Dynamics of the material flows between the manufacturers and the retailers is given by the difference between the price of retailer and the marginal costs of the retailer and the manufacturer:

$$\dot{y}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \pi_{2j} - \frac{\partial \theta_j(Y^1)}{\partial y_{ij}^1} - \frac{\partial \eta_i(Y^1)}{\partial y_{ij}^1} - \frac{\partial \theta_{ij}(y_{ij}^1)}{\partial y_{ij}^1}, & \text{if } y_{jl}^1 > 0\\ \max\{0, \pi_{2j} - \frac{\partial \theta_j(Y^1)}{\partial y_{ij}^1} - \frac{\partial \eta_i(Y^1)}{\partial y_{ij}^1} - \frac{\partial \theta_{ij}(y_{ij}^1)}{\partial y_{ij}^1}, & \text{if } y_{jl}^1 = 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.44)

To describe the overall dynamics of the network given in (1.41)-(1.44) we take $X = (Y^1, Y^2, \pi_2, \pi_3) \in K \equiv \mathbb{R}^{n_p n_r + n_r n_c + n_r + n_c}_+, F(X) \equiv (F_{ij}, F_{jl}, F_j, F_l)$, where $F_{ij} \equiv \frac{\partial \eta_i(Y^1)}{\partial y_{ij}} + \frac{\partial \theta_{ij}(y_{ij}^1)}{\partial y_{ij}^1} + \frac{\partial \theta_j(Y^1)}{\partial y_{ij}^1} - \pi_{2j};$ $F_{jl} \equiv \pi_{2j} + \theta_{jl}(Y^2) - \pi_{3l}; F_j \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{n_p} y_{ij}^1 - \sum_{l=1}^{n_c} y_{jl}^2;$ and $F_l \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{n_r} y_{jl}^2 - d_l(\pi_3)$. Then we can represent the dynamics as the projected dynamical system (PDS) [109]

$$\dot{X} = \prod_{K} (X, -F(X)), X(0) = X_0$$
(1.45)

where \prod_K is a projection operator of -F(X) onto K at X and $X_0 = (Y^{1^0}, Y^{2^0}, \pi_2^0, \pi_3^0)$ is an initial condition. Note that this dynamical system has the discontinuous right-hand side as we guarantee in (1.41)-(1.44) that all the variables are nonnegative. Under assumption that functions η_i are additive and have bounded second-order derivative, functions θ_{ij} , θ_j have bounded second-order derivative and θ_{jl} , θ_l have bounded first-order derivative there exists a unique solution of (1.45) for any $X_0 \in K$. Dynamical system (1.45) allows to study stability of the given logistics network. The following theorem establishes condition for stability of the system (1.45), see [108, Theorem 4].

Theorem 1.2.7. Suppose that the production cost functions η_i are additive, internal production cost function η_i^1 , transportation cost functions θ_{ij} , θ_j are convex, θ_{jk} are monotone increasing and demand functions d_l are monotone decreasing of the demand market prices, then the dynamical system (1.45) underlying the supply chain is stable.

The given modelling approach allows to study three different levels of operation of a logistics network: logistical, financial and information. An approach was introduced for three types of locations but can be extended for an arbitrary number of location types and to cover uncertainties like uncertaint customer demand [55]. The behaviour of the logistics networks can be described as a projected dynamical system. The discontinuity of the right-hand side of (1.45) does not allow to apply classical tools for the stability analysis.

Modelling with partial differential equations

Here we investigate the dynamics of the material flows between locations using partial differential equations [58] and the conservation law of material flow [6], [64], [65], [71] and [112]. This modelling approach is usually used to pose optimization problems to minimize the queue length or to maximize the outflow of goods.

In the model introduced in [65] a logistics network is represented as a finite connected graph (V, E)[68]. Each $i \in V$ corresponds to a logistic location and f_i is a material flow on it. Locations are connected to each other at vertices $j \in E$. Each location consist of a processor that has fixed constant processing time τ_i , size(length) l_i and maximal capacity α_i . The location is modelled by a finite interval $[a_i, b_i]$, where $x \in [a_i, b_i]$ is the processing stage of a material at location i. Its queue q_i is located at $x = a_i$. The density of material $\rho_i(x, t)$ for location i at time t and stage $x \in [a_i, b_i]$ satisfies the advection equation (conservation law) with initial conditions $\rho_{i,0}(x)$, see [112]:

$$\partial_t \rho_i + \partial_x f_i(\rho_i) = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{1.46}$$

$$f_i(\rho_i) := \min\left\{\frac{l_i}{\tau_i}\rho_i, \alpha_i\right\}, \qquad (1.47)$$

$$\rho_i(x,0) = \rho_{i,0}(x) \in [a_i, b_i].$$
(1.48)

The governing equation for the corresponding queue $q_i(t)$ depends on the connections of the vertex. In the simplest possible case with one incoming and one outgoing link the queue q_i buffers possible demands for the processor i

$$\partial_t q_i(t) = f_{i-1}(\rho_{i-1}(b_{i-1},t)) - f_i(\rho_i(a_i,t)), \quad t > 0, \tag{1.49}$$

$$q_i(0) = q_{i,0}. (1.50)$$

The boundary condition for the outgoing location *i* at $x = a_i$:

$$f_i(\rho_i(a_i, t)) = \begin{cases} \min\{f_{i-1}(\rho_{i-1}(b_{i-1}, t)), \alpha_i\} &, \quad q_i(t) = 0, \\ \alpha_i &, \quad q_i(t) > 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.51)

To define the solution for (1.46)-(1.51), according to [64], we give first the notions of a solution for a single node without coupling, i.e. for (1.46)-(1.48), and of a solution for the dynamics on an edge (1.49)-(1.51).

Consider the Cauchy problem:

$$\partial_t \rho(x,t) + \partial_x f(\rho) = 0, \quad \rho(x,0) = \rho(x). \tag{1.52}$$

Definition 1.2.8. A locally bounded and measurable function $\rho(x, t)$ on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}_+$ is called an admissible weak solution to (1.52), if for any non-decreasing function $h(\rho)$ and any smooth non-negative function ϕ with compact support in $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}_+$,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (I(\rho)\phi_t + F(\rho)\phi_x)dxdt + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} I(\rho_0)\phi(x,0)dx \ge 0,$$

where $I(\rho) = \int^{\rho} h(\xi) d\xi$ and $F(\rho) = \int^{\rho} h(\xi) df(\xi)$.

Compact support of a function is the set of points where the function is not zero.

Definition 1.2.9. Let functions $\rho_1(x,t)$, $\rho_2(x,t)$ in $L^1([a,b] \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ be given such that $\rho_j(\cdot,t)$ has bounded variation. Let $q(t) := q_2(t) \ge 0$ be a an absolutely continuous function on [0,T] for Tsufficiently large and let $f_j(\rho_j) := \min\{\mu_j, \rho_j\}$. Then we call (ρ_1, ρ_2, q) an admissible solution at the vertex for all times $0 \le t \le T$, if and only if

$$\frac{d}{dt}q(t) = f_1(\rho_1(b-,t)) - f_2(\rho_2(a+,t)) \text{ for almost all } t$$

$$f_2(\rho_2(a+,t)) = \begin{cases} \mu_2, & q(t) > 0, \\ \min\{\mu_2, f_1(\rho_1(b-,t))\}, & q(t) = 0. \end{cases}$$

 $L^1([a,b] \times \mathbb{R}_+)$ is the space of functions $\rho : [a,b] \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\int_{[a,b] \times \mathbb{R}_+} |\rho(s)| < \infty, a+$ is the right limit of a and b- is the left limit of b. Function ρ_j has bounded variation on [a,b] if the total variation over all partitions $P = \{x_0, \ldots, x_{n_P}\}$ of [a,b] given by $\sup_P \sum_{k=1}^{n_P-1} |\rho_j(x_{k+1}) - \rho_j(x_k)|$ is bounded. Solution of the whole network is then defined as follows.

Definition 1.2.10. Let T > 0, values $q_{i,0} \ge 0, i = 2, ..., n$ and functions $\rho_{i,0} : [a_i, b_i] \to \mathbb{R}$ in L^1 and with bounded variation for all i = 1, ..., n be given. The supply chain problem then reads with $f_i = \min\{\mu_i, \rho_i\}$ and $\forall i = 1, ..., n \quad \forall (x, t) \in (a_j, b_j) \times (0, T), \forall i = 2, ..., n$

$$\partial_t \rho_i + \partial_x f_i(\rho_i) = 0, \rho_i(x, 0) = \rho_{i,0}(x),$$

$$\partial_t q_i(t) = f_{i-1}(\rho_{i-1}(b-, t)) - f_i(\rho_i(a+, t)).$$

We call a family $\rho_i : [a_i, b_i] \times [0, T]$ of L^1 functions with bounded variation and functions q_j , absolutely continuous, an admissible solution to the network problem, if for each vertex, $(\rho_j, q_j)_j$ is an admissible solution at the node in the sense of Definition 1.2.9, and if for all i = 2, ..., n, $q_i(0) = q_{i,0}$ and if for all i, ρ_i is an admissible weak solution for the processor in the sense of Definition 1.2.8.

Condition for the existence of solution for a network with linear structure, see Figure 1.2a, is given in the following theorem, see [64, Theorem 3.13].

Theorem 1.2.11. *Consider a network of n processors and assume:*

(A1) the processors are consecutively labelled, such that processor i - 1 is connected at $x = b_{i-1}$ to processor i; (A2) $l_i/\tau_i = 1$ for all i;

(A3) $\rho_{i,0}(x) \leq \alpha_i$ for almost all $x \in [a_i, b_i]$ and all i.

Consider the problem (1.47) and (1.52).

Assume that the initial data $(\rho_{1,0})(x), \ldots, \rho_{n,0}(x)$ are the step functions. Then the problem (1.47), (1.52) has a weak admissible solution constructed by admissible network solutions in the sense of Definition 1.2.10.

More general interconnections are considered in [65].

Optimization problems considered in this model include minimization of the queue length or maximization of outflow of the goods by controlling the production velocity or choosing the route for the flow [6]. In [40] the Bullwhip effect was studied.

This modelling approach considers dynamics of logistics networks as a continuous flow of goods between and inside locations. The model covers different properties of logistic locations like processing time, queue length and capacity. It is possible to consider different optimization problems [98]. Extension of the model on multiple products is considered in [9]. The use of numerical methods for solving optimization problems with PDEs causes long processing time, [65]. But if some restrictions on the model are introduced, then it is possible to find numerically quasi-optimal solutions.

1.2.3 Hybrid deterministic systems

Shipping of finished products, switching of production rate cause discontinuous changes at the stock level of locations or in the behaviour of production facilities. Here we will show how such discontinuous (hybrid) effects can be described by switched or more generally by hybrid dynamical systems [162].

Modelling by interconnected hybrid dynamical systems

The modelling and analysis framework using hybrid dynamical systems is similar to continuous dynamical systems in (1.32). Again the network is represented as an interconnection of several subsystems that describe logistics locations. However, the dynamics of a subsystem is more general now and is allowed to be additionally discontinuous (discrete) at some time instants. These discontinuities arise when there is an immediate change (jump) in the state of a location. This permits, for instance, a more detailed description of transportation processes. In particular, if the state represents the stock level, then modelling of discrete shipments of material is possible. Moreover, according to the state and the demand, a distinction of the kind of shipping can be drawn, e.g. shipping by a truck, a ship or an airplane.

To model such a hybrid behaviour we use the notion of hybrid dynamical systems from (1.4). We use the set $M_{C_i} \subset \mathbb{R}^{\sum_i N_i + \sum_i M_i}$ to define condition, when the state $x_i \in \chi_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{N_i}_+$, respectively the stock level of location *i*, changes continuously. Here χ_i describes the values that the state x_i can take. We denote by $u_i \in U_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{M_i}$ the input of the *i*th location, where U_i describes the values that the input can take. Then the dynamics of location *i* is given by

$$\dot{x}_i = \tilde{f}_i(x_1, \dots, x_n, u_i), \quad (x, u) \in M_{C_i},$$
(1.53)

where $x := (x_1^T, \dots, x_n^T)^T$, $u := (u_1^T, \dots, u_n^T)^T$. Here again as in continuous systems in (1.31) and in [42], [43] and [44], we can choose, for example, function

$$\widetilde{f}_i(x_1,\ldots,x_n,u_i) := u_i + \sum_{j,j\neq i} c_{ji} f_j(x_j(t)) - f_i(x_i(t)),$$

where $f_i(x_i(t)) := \alpha_i (1 - e^{-x_i(t)})$ and α_i describes the maximal production rate. The discontinuous changes in the state occur, if $(x, u) \in M_{D_i} \subset \mathbb{R}^{\sum_i N_i + \sum_i M_i}$. And the jumps in the state follow the equation

$$x_i^+ = \widetilde{g}_i(x_1, \dots, x_n, u_i), \quad (x, u) \in M_{D_i}.$$
 (1.54)

Function \tilde{g}_i describes the discrete changes at location *i*. For example, think of a truck that arrives to location *i*, and delivers or takes material from it. In this case the time needed to load or upload the truck can be neglected with respect to the time that the location needs to produce one unit of material or the truck needs to transport material to another location. Furthermore, the change in the state depends usually on the state of the location and the truck's capacity. For example, if the capacity of the truck arriving to location *i* is denoted by *b* and if the truck picks up the ready-made material from location *i*, then $\tilde{g}_i(x_1, \ldots, x_n, u_i) = x_i - \min\{b, x_i\}$ and

$$x_i^+ = x_i - \min\{b, x_i\}$$

If the truck delivers material to location j, then $\widetilde{g}_j(x_1, \ldots, x_n, u_j) = x_j + \min\{b, x_i\}$ and

$$x_j^+ = x_j + \min\{b, x_i\}.$$

As we will see in Section 2.1, we can describe the overall behaviour of such logistics network as one large hybrid system (1.4)

$$\dot{x} = f(x, u), \quad (x, u) \in M_C, x^+ = \tilde{g}(x, u), \quad (x, u) \in M_D,$$
(1.55)

with $\chi := \chi_1 \times \ldots \times \chi_n$, $U := U_1 \times \ldots \times U_n$, $M_C := \cap M_{C_i}$, $M_D := \bigcup M_{D_i}$, $f := (f_1^T, \ldots, f_n^T)^T$ and $g := (\tilde{g}_1^T, \ldots, \tilde{g}_n^T)^T$, where

$$\widetilde{g}_i(x,u) := \begin{cases} g_i(x,u_i), & \text{if } (x,u) \in M_{D_i}, \\ x_i, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

The properties of such a description of an interconnection of hybrid systems we will discuss in Chapter 2.

The perturbation in external inputs like fluctuation of customer demand may lead to instability of such network. Thus, the concept of input-to-state stability introduced in (1.10) needs to be applied to analyse stability of such networks. In this analysis we assume that each individual location *i* can be autonomously controlled to achieve input-to-state stability of its dynamics, i.e. according to (1.10):

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \max\{\beta_i(|x_i^0|,t,k), \max_{j,j \ne i} \gamma_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}), \gamma(||u_i||_{(t,k)})\}$$

holds for all times $t \ge 0$, number of intervals between the jumps $k \ge 0$, inputs from other subsystems x_i and external inputs u_i .

However, this property does not in general guarantee that the interconnection of these ISS subsystems will be ISS, see Example (2.4.16). This may occur due to non-effective cooperation between the logistic locations. To check, whether the network is nevertheless ISS, we can use similar approach as in interconnected continuous systems in Section 1.2.2. We consider the gain matrix $\Gamma := (\gamma_{ij})_{n \times n}$. This matrix describes the interconnection structure of the network. And we consider the corresponding matrix operator $\Gamma : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$. As corollary of Theorem 2.4.5 in Chapter 2, it can be shown that the following small gain theorem guarantees ISS of the interconnected hybrid system (1.55):

Theorem 1.2.12. Consider interconnected system (1.54). Assume that $M_{D_i} = M_D$, i = 1, ..., n and that the set $\{f(x, u) : u \in U \cap \epsilon \overline{\mathbb{B}}\}$ is convex for each $x \in \chi, \epsilon > 0$. If all subsystems in (1.53) are *ISS* and $\Gamma(s) \geq s$ for all $s, s \neq 0$, then the system (1.55) is *ISS*.

Due to the combination of discrete and continuous dynamics, this modelling approach has more capabilities in precise description of logistics networks than those based only on continuous or discrete dynamical systems introduced in the previous sections. For example, the possibility that the discontinuous changes can be taken into account enables to model additional characteristics like transportation processes. However, the nature of hybrid systems implies more intricated analysis of their dynamics. In Chapter 2 we will discuss more precisely hybrid systems, their interconnections and show how stability of them can be established using the small gain condition. Furthermore, we will show how the Lyapunov technique, that is being effectively exploited in studying stability of continuous systems, can be applied to establish ISS of hybrid systems.

Switched system

We consider manufacturing networks where the machines switch between processing different types of products. Such a switching is modelled using logical-differential equations [136], [137] or billiards [149], [120], [119]. The main problem is to schedule the switching to achieve stable behaviour.

We illustrate this modelling approach by means of logical-differential equations [136]. There are P part-types denoted by $1, \ldots, P$ and n machines denoted by the set $M = \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Parts of type p are processed at the machines $\mu_{p,1}, \ldots, \mu_{p,n_p}$ where $\mu_{p,i} \in M$. The parts may visit the machine more then once and then $\mu_{p,i} = \mu_{p,j}$. Raw parts of type p arrive to the system at the machine $\mu_{p,1}$ at a constant rate $u_p > 0$. Parts of type p to be processed at the *i*th machine are waiting in the buffer $b_{p,i}$. From this buffer the products are processed at a given constant rate $\alpha_{p,i} > 0$.

The level (state) of the buffer $b_{p,i}$ at time t is denoted by $x_{p,i}(t)$. Part of the type p needs a transportation time $\tau_{p,i} \ge 0$ to get from the machine i to the machine i + 1. The buffer of the machine l is then given by $B_l := \{b_{p,i} : \mu_{p,i} = l\}$. To switch from the processing of the part of one type to the part of another type the machine l needs a set-up time $\delta_l^0 > 0$.

The dynamics of the system we describe using logical-differential equations. The state of the machine l is described by a symbolic variable $q_l(t)$ that is given as follows

$$q_l(t) := \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if the machine } l \text{ does not work at time } t, \\ b_{p,i}, & \text{if the machine } l \text{ works with the buffer } b_{p,i} \text{ at time } t. \end{cases}$$
(1.56)

The amount of parts of the type p fully processed at time t is denoted by $y_p(t)$. The change of the state of the buffer $b_{p,1}$ is described as follows

$$\dot{x}_{p,1}(t) := \begin{cases} u_p - \alpha_{\mu_{p,1}}, & \text{if } q_{\mu_{p,1}}(t) = b_{p,1}, \\ u_p, & \text{if } q_{\mu_{p,1}}(t) \neq b_{p,1}. \end{cases}$$
(1.57)

The change of the state of the buffer $b_{p,i}$, $i = 2, ..., n_p$ is given by

$$\dot{x}_{p,i}(t) := \begin{cases} \alpha_{\mu_{p,i-1}} - \alpha_{\mu_{p,i}}, & \text{if } q_{\mu_{p,i}}(t) = b_{p,1} \text{ and } q_{\mu_{p,i-1}}(t - \tau_{p,i-1}) = b_{p,i-1}, \\ -\alpha_{\mu_{p,i}}, & \text{if } q_{\mu_{p,i}}(t) = b_{p,1} \text{ and } q_{\mu_{p,i-1}}(t - \tau_{p,i-1}) \neq b_{p,i-1}, \\ \alpha_{\mu_{p,i-1}}, & \text{if } q_{\mu_{p,i}}(t) \neq b_{p,1} \text{ and } q_{\mu_{p,i-1}}(t - \tau_{p,i-1}) = b_{p,i-1}, \\ 0, & \text{if } q_{\mu_{p,i}}(t) \neq b_{p,1} \text{ and } q_{\mu_{p,i-1}}(t - \tau_{p,i-1}) \neq b_{p,i-1}. \end{cases}$$
(1.58)

The change in the overall amount of parts of type p (cumulative output) processed by the machine $\mu_{p,i}$ is given as follows

$$\dot{y}_{p,i}(t) := \begin{cases} \alpha_{\mu_{p,i}}, & \text{if } q_{\mu_{p,1}}(t) = b_{p,1}, \\ 0, & \text{if } q_{\mu_{p,1}}(t) \neq b_{p,1}. \end{cases}$$
(1.59)

The rule for machine l for switching from processing parts from buffer $b \in B_l$ to buffer $b' \in B_l$ is given by the set $\mathcal{T}_l(b \to b')$ and functions $F_l : ([q_l(\cdot), x_b(\cdot)]|_0^t) \to [\delta_l^0, \infty)$. Then the feedback policy

is given by

if
$$(q_l(t) = b)$$
 and $[q_l(\cdot), x_b(\cdot)]|_0^t \in \mathcal{T}_l(b \to b')$ then
$$(1.60)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \delta_l(t) := F_l([q_l(\cdot), x_b(\cdot)]|_0^t); \\ q_l(\hat{t}) := 0 \quad \forall \hat{t} \in (t, t + \delta_l(t)]; \\ \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.61)

$$\begin{pmatrix} q_l(t) + \delta_l(t) + 0 \end{pmatrix} := b'$$
 (101)

The state of the manufacturing system at time t is then described by vectors $q(t) = [q_1(t), \ldots, q_n(t)]$, $x(t) = \{x_{p,i}(t)\}$ and $y(t) = \{y_{p,i}(t)\}$.

This model is used for the calculating of stable or optimal scheduling policies by choosing appropriate arrival rates u_p and set-up times $\delta_l \geq \delta_l^0$.

Definition 1.2.13. The closed-loop system (1.56)-(1.60) is said to be stable if for any solution [q(t), x(t)] to the system with initial condition $x(0) = x_0$, y(0) = 0, $q(t) = 0 \forall t < 0$, the vector function x(t) is bounded on $[0, \infty)$ by a constant $L(x_0) > 0$.

Definition 1.2.14. The closed-loop system (1.56)-(1.60) is said to be regular with the production levels d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_P and the scheduling period T if it is stable and the following condition holds: For any solution [q(t), x(t)] to the system with initial conditions $x(0) = x_0$, y(0) = 0, q(t) = 0 $\forall t < 0$, the output y(t) satisfies:

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} (y_{p,i}((j+1)T) - y_{p,i}(jT)) = d_p, \forall p, \forall i.$$

Definition 1.2.15. Assume that d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_P are given. The minimal time T_0 for which there exist constants u_1, \ldots, u_P and a feedback policy of the form (1.60) such that the closed-loop system is regular with the production levels d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_P and the scheduling period T_0 , is called the minimal scheduling period of the system with the production levels d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_P and the scheduling period T_0 .

The following theorem provides conditions for the regularity of system (1.56)-(1.60) and an estimate for the minimal scheduling period, see [137, Theorem 3.1].

Theorem 1.2.16. Consider the flexible manufacturing system defined by its production paths $\mu_{p,1}, \ldots, \mu_{p,n_p}$ of the part-types, machine rates $\alpha_{p,i}$, minimal machine set-up times δ_l^0 , and transportation delays $\tau_{p,i}$. Let d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_P be given. Then, the following statements hold: (1) The minimal scheduling period T_0 of this system with the production levels d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_P is defined by

$$T_0 = \max_{l=1,\dots,n} \left[k_l \delta_l^0 + \sum_{b(p,i) \in B_l} \frac{d_p}{\alpha_{p,i}} \right],$$

where k_l is the number of buffers in B_l .

(2) For any $T \ge T_0$, the closed-loop system with the part arrival rates $u_p = \frac{d_p}{T}$ is regular with the production levels d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_P and the scheduling period T if: the feedback policy is defined by:

$$if q_l(t) = b(b, i) \text{ and } \left(x_{p,i}(t) = 0 \text{ or } t - \theta_l[q_l(\cdot)|_0^t] = \frac{d_p}{\alpha_{p,i}} \right),$$

$$then \left(\begin{array}{c} \delta_l(t) := \delta_l^n + \frac{d_p}{\alpha_{p,i}} - t + \theta_l[q_l(\cdot)|_0^t] \\ q_l(\hat{t}) := 0 \quad \forall \hat{t} \in (t, t + \delta_l(t)] \\ q_l(t + \delta_l(t) + 0) := \mathbf{next}[b(p, i)] \end{array} \right),$$

where
$$\theta_l[q_l(\cdot)|_0^t](t) := \inf\{t_0 \le t : q_l(s) = q_l(t) \quad \forall s \in (t_0, t]\};\ \delta_l^n := \frac{T - \sum_{b(p,i) \in B_l} \frac{d_p}{\alpha_{p,i}}}{k_i};$$

and cycling switching order is given by: $b_1 \mapsto b_2 \dots b_{k_1} \dots b_1$.

Here **next**[*b*] is the buffer that is the next to *b* in the cycling switching order.

This modelling approach allows to describe manufacturing networks that possess switching between processing of different types of products. Multiple processing of the product at the same machine is possible. The model allows to calculate processing policy of the machine to obtain stable or optimal behaviour. Queues and time delays are covered by the model. Queues are modelled by buffers and time delays by transportation times. The hybrid nature of the model does not allow to apply methods from continuous systems during their analysis. Moreover, chaotic effects ('strange' billiards) may occur due to the switching [119].

1.2.4 Stochastic models

Here we model logistics networks that experience random effects due to the fluctuation of customer demand or the changes in the manufacturing processes using the theory of stochastic systems [77], [12] and [26].

Modelling as a stochastic dynamical system

Stochastic dynamical systems describe behaviour of logistics networks driven by an unknown customer demand [94], [161], [56] and [23]. Usually, such models are used to consider optimization problems under certain assumptions on the unknown demand, e.g. maximum possible value. In [94] the network is modelled as a stochastic discrete-time controlled dynamical system [19]:

$$x(t+1) = \tilde{f}(x(t), u(t), d(t)),$$
(1.62)

where $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x}$ denotes the state of the system, $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_u}$ the control input and $d(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_d}$ the uncertain disturbances in customer demand at time t.

The linear map $\tilde{f} : \mathbb{R}^{n_x+n_u+n_d} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{n_x}$ depends on the structure of the network. The structure is described by a directed and connected graph G = (V, E), where $V := \{v_1, \ldots, v_{n_V}\}$ denotes the set of vertices and represents the logistics locations. $E := \{e_1, \ldots, e_{n_s}\} \subseteq V \times V$ denotes the arcs and represents the material flows and additional arcs. $R := \{r_1, \ldots, r_{n_r}\} \subseteq V \times V$ represents the informational flows of orders. If there exists an arc (material flow) from node v to node w in E, then there exists an arc (information flow) from w to v in R.

In order to obtain a first-order difference equation (1.62), the authors introduce additional artificial nodes between two nodes in such way that the transportation time between any nodes(real and artificial) is exactly one time unit, see [94]. Thus an arc $e_i \in E$ is replaced by a path(chain) of arcs $E_i := \{e_{i1}, \ldots, e_{i\tau_{e_i}}\}$ and the set of additional nodes is defined by $V_i = \{\sigma_{i1}, \ldots, \sigma_{i\tau_{e_i}}\}$, where $\tau_{e_i} \in \{1, 2, \ldots, \}$ is the transportation time of arc e_i . In the same way arcs of the information flows are replaced by appropriate paths. The new vertex set is \widetilde{V} , the new arc set for material flow is \widetilde{E} and the new set for the information flow is \widetilde{R} .

The state $x^{(v)}(t)$ of location v is its inventory level at time t. Its input is $u^{(v)}(t) = [u_E^{(v)}(t), u_R^{(v)}(t)]^T \in \mathbb{R}^{\check{\delta}^{(v)} + \check{\delta}^{\prime}^{(v)}}$, where $\check{\delta}^{(v)}$ is the number of all incoming material flow arcs and $\check{\delta}^{\prime}^{(v)}$ is the number of all
incoming information flow arcs. The input corresponds to the flow on the incoming arcs. Its output is $y^{(v)}(t) = [y_E^{(v)}(t), y_R^{(v)}(t)]^T \in \mathbb{R}^{\hat{\delta}^{(v)} + \hat{\delta'}^{(v)}}$ and corresponds to the flow on the outgoing arcs at time t. The dynamics is described then by the map

$$x^{(v)}(t+1) = x^{(v)}(t) + \epsilon^{\check{\delta}^{(v)}} \cdot u_E^{(v)}(t) - \epsilon^{\hat{\delta}^{(v)}} \cdot z_E^{(v)}(t), \qquad (1.63)$$

$$y_R^{(v)}(t) = z_R^{(v)}(t),$$
 (1.64)

$$y_E^{(v)}(t) = z_E^{(v)}(t),$$
 (1.65)

where $\epsilon^k \in \mathbb{R}^k$ denotes a row vector of ones. The values $z_E^{(v)}(t)$ are the goods that node v decides to ship to its customers and $z_R^{(v)}(t)$ are the orders that node v decides to place to each of its suppliers. Thus, the dynamics of the network defined in (1.63) is determined by the change of inventory level due to arriving of material and due to shipping of goods. The values z_E and z_R are control variables for the system.

The nodes $v_C \in V$ with no outgoing material flow arc are called *consumers* and form set V_C . They generate the uncertain demand $d^{(v_C)}$ and thus are given by

$$y_R^{(v_C)}(t) = d^{(v_C)}(t).$$
(1.66)

The nodes $v_M \in V$ with no incoming material flows act as sources of infinite supply capacity and form set V_M . They transform incoming orders into outgoing goods:

$$y_S^{(v_M)} = u_R^{(v_M)}(t). (1.67)$$

The dynamics of the whole system is derived by connecting the corresponding inputs $u^{(v)}$ and the outputs $y^{(v)}$. Thus, they are eliminated. Let the nodes $v_i \in V_z := \tilde{V} \setminus (V_C \cup V_M), w_j \in V_x := V \setminus (V_C \cup V_M)$ and $w'_k \in V_C$ be indexed such that $1 \le i \le |V_z|, 1 \le j \le |V_x|$ and $1 \le k \le |V_C|$. Defining $x(t) := [x^{(w_1)}, \ldots, x^{(w_{|V_x|})}]^T$ as the state vector, $u(t) := [z_1(t), \ldots, z_{|V_z|}(t)]^T$ with $z_i(t) := [(z_S^{(v_i)})^T [z_R^{(v_i)}(t)]]$ as the input vector, and $d(t) := [[d^{(w'_1)}(t)]^T \ldots [d^{(w'_{|V_C|})}(t)]^T]^T$ as the disturbance vector gives a first-order difference equation of the form (1.62). As the equations (1.63) are linear, the dynamics of the entire system can be written as (1.5)

$$x(t+1) = Ax(t) + Bu(t) + Ed(t).$$
(1.68)

The model allows to find the optimal control u(t) for the network that guarantees the minimum of costs and the maximum of demand satisfaction. We consider a discrete optimization problem with the horizon $S \in \mathbb{N}$ that looks for the optimal input sequence $(u^{(s)})_{s=0}^S$ and is described on the step $s \in \mathbb{N}$ as

$$J^{*(s)}(x^{(s)}) = \min_{u^{(s)}} J^{(s)}(x^{(s)}, u^{(s)})$$
(1.69)

such that for all $d^{(s)} \in \mathcal{D}$ the following holds

$$Fx^{(s)} + Gu^{(s)} \le g,$$
 (1.70)

$$Ax^{(s)} + Bu^{(s)} \in \mathcal{X}^{(s)},\tag{1.71}$$

where the goal function J^* is given by

$$J^{(s)}(x^{(s)}, u^{(s)}) := \max_{d^{(s)} \in \mathcal{D}} \{ |Wx^{(s)}|_1 + |Ru^{(s)}|_1 + J^{*(s)}(x^{(s+1)})(Ax^{(s)} + Bu^{(s)} + Ed^{(s)}) \}.$$
(1.72)

This goal function minimizes the costs given at the step s by $Wx^{(s)}, W \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x \times n_x}$ for the state, $Ru^{(s)}, R \in \mathbb{R}^{n_u \times n_u}$ for the input and maximizes the satisfaction of the customer demand given by $Ed^{(s)}$. The disturbance of customer demand is bounded and given on $\mathcal{D} := \{d : \Lambda d \leq \gamma\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n_d}$, where $\Lambda \in \mathbb{R}^{n_\gamma \times n_d}, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{n_\gamma}, n_\gamma \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. Inequality (1.70) describes the constraint on the state and the input, where $F \in \mathbb{R}^{n_g \times n_x}, G \in \mathbb{R}^{n_g \times n_u}, n_g \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. \mathcal{X} is the set of the feasible states given by $\mathcal{X}^{(s)} := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x} : \forall d \in \mathcal{D} \exists u \in \mathbb{R}^{n_u} \text{ with } Fx + Gu \leq g \text{ and } Ax + Bu + Ev \in \mathcal{X}^{(s+1)}\}$. The initial state vector is given by $x^{(0)} = x(t_0) := x(0)$. The boundary condition is given by $J^{*S}(x^S) = 0$ and $\mathcal{X}^{(S)} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n_x} : Fx \leq g\}$. The finite time S-step optimal control $u^* : \mathbb{R}^{n_x} \to \mathbb{R}^{n_d}$ is given by the first component $u^{(0)}$ for a fixed horizon S and the infinite-time optimal control law is its limit for $S \to \infty$.

Such discrete optimization problems are usually solved using the dynamic programming [18]. Furthermore, in [19, Theorem 3] it was proved that each dynamic programming step can be solved by a multi-parametric linear program.

Theorem 1.2.17. The solution u^* with parametric uncertainties in the *B* matrix only, is a piecewise affine function of $x(0) \in \chi_0$, where χ_0 is the set of initial states for which a solution to (1.69)-(1.71) exists. It can be found by solving a multi-parametric linear program.

This approach takes into account an uncertainty in a customer demand. The model deals with transportation times by adding "delay nodes". Such a transformation allows to consider only networks with linear dynamics.

Multiclass queueing networks and fluid approximations

Multiclass queueing networks are a well-established modelling approach to capture stochastic events that influence the discrete material flow of a supply chain [36], [145], [148]. The main problem is to arrange the production rates and policy to achieve the bounded queue length [147]. Here only a brief description of a multiclass queueing network is given, for details see [38].

The network consists of n locations that process P different types of products. The dynamics of the network can be described by the following stochastic processes. The arrival process $u_p(t)$ describes the number of external arrivals of type p products in the time period [0, t]. The production process $x_p(t)$ reflects the number of finished products of type p during the first t time units. For convenience we assume that each type of product is produced exclusively at one location. The mapping $s : \{1, \ldots, P\} \rightarrow \{1, \ldots, j\}$ determines which type is produced at which location and generates the constituency matrix C, where $c_{jp} = 1$ if s(p) = j and 0 otherwise.

After being processed, products either change their type according to a given probability or leave the network. The routing process $d_p^l(n)$ denotes the number of type l products among the first n products that become products of type p. As each location can produce various product types, a policy is needed that determines in which order the products are processed. Typical examples of such service disciplines are first-in-first-out (FIFO), priority or processor sharing. The allocation process $\tau_p(t)$ denotes the total amount of time that location s(p) has devoted on producing type p products. The initial amount of type p products is $q_p(0)$ and the number of type p products at time t is given by the flow-balance equation

$$q_p(t) = q_p(0) + u_p(t) + \sum_{l=1}^{P} d_p^l(x_l(\tau_l(t))) - x_p(\tau_p(t)).$$
(1.73)

To obtain a complete description of the network dynamics further conditions on q and τ that depend on the service discipline have to be taken into account, see e.g. [31] and [32]. The main question in such model is whether the network is stable. A queueing (service) discipline of a multiclass network is *stable*, if the underlying Markov process describing the network dynamics is positive Harris recurrent [38]. When there is no ambiguity in the underlying queueing discipline, we say that a queueing network is stable, if the queueing discipline under discussion is stable. Roughly speaking (without explaining of the Harris recurrence), a queueing network is said to be stable, if the total number of products in the network remains bounded over all time. This can also be interpreted that the long-run input rate of the network equals the long-run output rate. An approach to analyse the stability of multiclass queueing networks is to rescale the stochastic processes and to take limits [38]. The so-called fluid limit model is obtained by replacing the stochastic processes by their rates, i.e.

$$\frac{1}{t}\alpha_p(t) \to \rho_p,
\frac{1}{t}x_p(t) \to \mu_p,
\frac{1}{t}u_p^l(t) \to \gamma_{lk}.$$
(1.74)

and by imposing additional specific conditions on the network parameters and queueing discipline, see [38] and [39]. The flow-balance equation in the continuous deterministic fluid model takes the form

$$q_p(t) = q_p(0) + \rho_k(t) + \sum_{l=1}^{P} \gamma_{lp} \mu_l(\tau_l(t)) - \mu_p \tau_p(t).$$
(1.75)

Again there are additional conditions on q and τ that are specific to the service discipline, see e.g. [31], [32]. A fluid limit model is *stable*, if for all $p \in \{1, ..., P\}$ there is a time $\tau > 0$ such that for any $q_p(\cdot)$ with $\sum_{n} q_p(0) = 1$ it holds that $q_p(\tau + \cdot) \equiv 0$ [38].

In [39, Theorem 1.1] it was shown the following relation between stability of fluid and corresponding multiclass queueing networks.

Theorem 1.2.18. A queueing discipline is stable, if the corresponding fluid model is stable.

In [39] several results on stability of fluid networks were proved. In particular, the following theorem establish stability of fluid networks with different disciplines, see [39, Theorems 4.3 and 4.4]

Theorem 1.2.19. The fluid model corresponding to the First-Buffer-First- Served(FBFS) or Last-Buffer-First-Served(LBFS) discipline is stable.

This modelling approach is suitable, if the supply chain has highly reentrant flows. Further, there is huge variety of different service disciplines, which can be explicitly modelled in this framework. So simulations of different scenarios allow the choice of a policy, that is suitable to the requirements. Moreover, the strength of this approach is that analysis of the influence of stochastic uncertainties (e.g. production times, transportations etc.) on the stability is possible by purely deterministic criteria. In [147] the robustness of such networks is investigated using the notion of the stability radii, i.e. the size of the smallest changes of the network parameters that destabilize the network.

1.3 Comparison of the modelling approaches

In the previous subsections we have reviewed eleven approaches for modelling of logistics networks. For short overview of the these applicabilities, we have collected the main properties of all the models in Table 1.1. These properties are classified in this comparison table according to ability to cover different logistics properties of the network, ability to describe production and transportation processes,

type of behaviour the network possesses, type of equations that describe their dynamics, type of the analysis and abilities to conduct planning and control. According to Table 1.1, all the approaches vary in their characteristics, advantages and disadvantages. Thus, the choice of the model that describes the dynamics of certain logistics network depends on the type of behaviour it possesses, its properties and application needs.

In the following chapter we will study an approach that proposes to model logistics networks as interconnected hybrid system (1.55) as we are interested in logistics networks that combine both continuous and discontinuous dynamics of material flows. In particular, we will show how input-to-state stability of a hybrid system can be established using the small gain condition and Lyapunov methods.

0											
Modelling approach	"Bucket brigade"	Decentralized supply chain	Re-entrant/queueing system	Ordinary differential equation	Damped oscillator model	Multilevel network	Partial differential equation	Hybrid system	Switched system	Stochastic system	Queueing/fluid network
Logistical properties											
Micro level	Х		X	X	X			Х	X	X	X
Macro level		x		x	x	X	X	X		X	X
Continuous material flow	X			x	x	X	х	X	X	X	X
Discrete material flow		x	X				х	X		X	
Production process	X		X	x	x	X	X	X	X	X	X
Transportation process		x	x	x		x	X	X	X	x	x
Warehouse		x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
Re-entrant	<u> </u>	x	x	x	x		x	x	x	x	x
Network		x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
Production process											
Different and heating anter	X	X	X	X			X	X	X		X
Different production rates	X		X	X	X	X	X		X		X
Different product types			X						X		X
Transportation process											
Routing disciplines			X	X			Х	Х	X	X	Х
Restricted capacity				X			Х	Х			
Transportation time		X		X			Х	Х	X	X	
Behaviour											
Discrete		x	x					X		x	
Continuous				x	x		x	x			x
Hybrid	x					x		X	x		
Linear	x	x	x	x				X	x	x	x
Nonlinear				x	x	x	x	X			x
Deterministic	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x		x
Stochastic		x								x	x
Type of equation	1			I	1	I					
Type of equation		**						**		**	
Ordinary differential equation	X	X	X					X		X	
Dortial differential equation				X	X	X		X			
						X	X				
Hybrid	-					X		X	X	X	
Queue			X								X
I Fluid					X						X
Analysis											
Stability	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Input-to-state stability				X				X			
Bullwhip effect		Х			X		Х				
Robustness	Х	Х		X	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	X
Planning and control											
Stabilizing control				x				x	x		
Optimal control			x	x			х	x	x		x
Planning	X	x	X	x	x	X	X	X	X	X	X
u 0					1				1		

Table 1.1: Classification of the modelling approaches

Chapter 2

Stability of interconnected hybrid systems

Though a hybrid system of the form (1.55) appears to be a natural way to describe logistics networks, its analysis is rather sophisticated due to the complex interconnection topology and hybrid effects (Zeno solution, dwell time) occurring there.

The first notion on hybrid systems was probably given in [163] where a system with some continuous and some discontinuous states was investigated. The change (transition) in the discrete state occurs, when the continuous state reaches a predefined transition set. In [1], [156] authors considered hybrid systems, where again some states are continuous and some discontinuous. But there the dynamics of discontinuous state was described by the difference equation. In the last decades most of the authors consider hybrid systems where each state can have both continuous and discontinuous dynamics, see e.g. [62], [162], [131], [102], [160], [133], [67] and [35].

Starting from [99], many results were obtained in the stability analysis of hybrid systems, see for example [73], [101], [122]. ISS was first introduced for hybrid systems in [27]. However, ISS of interconnected systems was first studied for continuous and discrete systems, see [82], [81], [91], [3], [29], [79], [54], [52] and [126]. The first result of the small gain type was proved for continuous systems in [82] for a feedback interconnection of two ISS systems. The Lyapunov version of this result is given in [81]. The small gain condition in [81] states that the composition of the gains from the subsystems should be less than identity. The second small gain condition in [82] is similar, but it involves the composition of the gains and of further functions of the form (id $+ \alpha_i$). This difference is due to the use of different definitions of ISS in both papers. Both definitions are equivalent but the gains enter as a maximum in the first definition, and a sum of the gains is taken in the second one. These results were generalized for an interconnection of $n \ge 2$ systems in [54], [52], [126], [85] and [86]. In [54] and [52] it was pointed out that the difference between the small gain conditions remains, i.e., if the gains of different inputs enter as a maximum of gains in the ISS definition or a sum of them is taken in the definition.

ISS in terms of trajectories for interconnection of two interconnected hybrid systems was firstly studied using the small gain condition in [96]. In [110] a stability condition of a small gain type was used for a construction of an ISS-Lyapunov function of a feedback connection of two hybrid systems. An interconnection of an arbitrary number of sampled-data systems that are a special class of hybrid systems was considered in [86]. The small gain condition was given there in terms of vector Lyapunov functions.

In this chapter we show how stability analysis of the system (1.55) can be conducted. In particular, we give a precise definition of the hybrid system, show how its interconnection can be described and introduce a more general definition of input-to-state stability for hybrid systems than in (1.10). Such formulation of ISS, that we will call mixed ISS, allows to consider more general types of intercon-

nections, where a part of the subsystems is ISS in terms of maximizations and the rest is ISS in terms of summations. Then we extend the small gain conditions for continuous systems to be applied to interconnections of an arbitrary finite number of hybrid ISS systems in terms of mixed formulation of ISS. The obtained mixed small gain condition is based on information about the interconnection property of the network and as we will see guarantees ISS of an interconnected hybrid system. Furthermore, we show how a Lyapunov technique can be applied to establish ISS of hybrid systems. At the end of this chapter we apply this small gain condition to establish input-to-state stability of certain subclasses of hybrid systems.

2.1 Interconnected hybrid systems

As mentioned in the previous chapter, hybrid systems combine both continuous and discontinuous types of behaviour. The continuous dynamics of the system is usually described by ordinary differential equations and the discontinuous dynamics by an immediate change ("jump") in the state.

Consider a system that is an interconnection of n hybrid subsystems with states $x_i \in \chi_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{N_i}$ of the subsystems and external inputs $u_i \in U_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{M_i}$, i = 1, ..., n. The dynamics of the *i*th subsystem is given by

$$\dot{x}_i = f_i(x_1, \dots, x_n, u_1, \dots, u_n), \quad (x_1, \dots, x_n, u_1, \dots, u_n) \in C_i, x_i^+ = g_i(x_1, \dots, x_n, u_1, \dots, u_n), \quad (x_1, \dots, x_n, u_1, \dots, u_n) \in D_i,$$

$$(2.1)$$

where $f_i : C_i \to \mathbb{R}^{N_i}, g_i : D_i \to \chi_i$ and C_i, D_i are subsets of $\chi_1 \times \ldots \times \chi_n \times U_1 \times \ldots \times U_n$. We will consider further a particular case with $f_i(x_1, \ldots, x_n, u_1, \ldots, u_n) = f_i(x_1, \ldots, x_n, u_i), g_i(x_1, \ldots, x_n, u_1, \ldots, u_n) = g_i(x_1, \ldots, x_n, u_i)$, i.e. the case where the *i*th input u_i influences only the *i*th the subsystem.

Each hybrid subsystem is described by $(f_i, g_i, C_i, D_i, \chi_i, U_i)$. The function f_i describes the continuous dynamics defined on the set C_i , the function g_i describes the instantaneous jumps defined on the set D_i . If $(x_1, \ldots, x_n, u_1, \ldots, u_n) \in C_i$, then system (2.1) "flows" continuously and the dynamics is given by the function f_i . If $(x_1, \ldots, x_n, u_1, \ldots, u_n) \in D_i$, then the system jumps instantaneously according to the function g_i . In points in $C_i \cap D_i$ the system may either jump or flow, the letter only if the flowing keeps $(x_1, \ldots, x_n, u_1, \ldots, u_n) \in C_i$. This yields the non-uniqueness of solutions. In Proposition 2.1.1 we recall the condition that guarantees the existence of solutions of a hybrid system and in Proposition 2.1.2 we recall the uniqueness condition. However, first we need to define the notion of the solution of the hybrid system.

Define $\chi := \chi_1 \times \ldots \times \chi_n$, $U := U_1 \times \ldots \times U_n$. Solutions of the hybrid systems are usually defined on hybrid time domains. Hybrid time domains are defined as follows, cf. [131], [60], [110]. A subset $\mathbb{R}_+ \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\})$ is called *hybrid time domain* denoted by *dom*, if it is given as a union of finitely or infinitely many intervals $[t_k, t_{k+1}] \times \{k\}$, where the numbers $0 = t_0, t_1, \ldots$ form a finite or infinite, nondecreasing sequence of real numbers. The "last" interval is allowed to be of the form $[t_K, T) \times \{K\}$ with T finite or $T = +\infty$. Roughly speaking, the hybrid time domain contains two types of information: the whole time and the time of the state jumps.

One of the reasons to introduce the hybrid time domains was the ability to study the robustness of solutions of hybrid systems by comparing the neighbour trajectories. Without taking into account the jump times of solution trajectories, the measured pointwise distance between trajectories that are "graphically close" may be arbitrarily large at the points where one solution jumps and the neighbour one does not. This yields that these trajectories do not converge in terms of pointwise distance [125], [60]. Thus, the analysis of solution properties like the robustness becomes rather sophisticated. On

the other hand, the hybrid time domain concept allows to study the convergence of "graphically close" trajectories using the notion of graphical convergence, e.g., [125], [60] and [63].

The *hybrid signal* is a function defined on the hybrid time domain. For the *i*th subsystem the *hybrid input*

$$v_i := (x_1^T, \dots, x_{i-1}^T, x_{i+1}^T, \dots, x_n^T, u_i^T)^T,$$
(2.2)

consists of the hybrid signals u_i : dom $u_i \to U_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{M_i}$, x_j : dom $x_j \to \chi_j$, $j \neq i$ such that $u_i(\cdot, k), x_j(\cdot, k)$ are Lebesgue measurable and locally essentially bounded for each k. We call x_j the *internal input* for the subsystem i and u_i is called the *external input*. For a signal u_i : dom $u_i \to U_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{M_i}$ we define its restriction to the interval $[(t_1, j_1), (t_2, j_2)] \in \text{dom } u_i$ by

$$u_{i[(t_1,j_1),(t_2,j_2)]}(t,k) = \begin{cases} u_i(t,k), & \text{if } (t_1,j_1) \le (t,k) \le (t_2,j_2), \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where for the elements of the hybrid time domain we define that $(s, l) \le (t, k)$ means $s + l \le t + k$. For convenience, we denote $u_{i(t,k)} := u_{i[(0,0),(t,k)]}$.

The hybrid arc of the subsystem *i* is such a hybrid signal $x_i : \text{dom } x_i \to \chi_i$ that $x_i(\cdot, k)$ is locally absolutely continuous for each *k*. Define $x := (x_1^T, \ldots, x_n^T)^T \in \chi \subset \mathbb{R}^N$, $u := (u_1^T, \ldots, u_n^T)^T \in U \subset \mathbb{R}^M$, $N := \sum N_i$, $M := \sum M_i$. A hybrid arc and a hybrid input is a solution pair (x_i, v_i) of the *i*th hybrid subsystem (2.1), if

(i) dom $x_i = \text{dom } u_i = \text{dom } x_j, j \neq i \text{ and } (x(0,0), u(0,0)) \in C_i \cup D_i,$

(ii) for all $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ and almost all $(t, k) \in \text{dom } x_i$, for $(x(t, k), u(t, k)) \in C_i$, it holds

$$\dot{x}_i(t,k) = f_i(x_1(t,k), \dots, x_n(t,k), u_i(t,k)),$$
(2.3)

(iii) for all $(t, k) \in \text{dom } x_i$ such that $(t, k+1) \in \text{dom } x_i$, for $(x(t, k), u(t, k)) \in D_i$ it holds

$$x_i(t,k+1) = g_i(x_1(t,k), \dots, x_n(t,k), u_i(t,k)).$$
(2.4)

The variable t denotes the time and k is the number of the interval between the jumps.

In the hybrid time domain concept one needs to find a solution x_i first and then to determine the hybrid time domain for it [131]. Hybrid time domains allow also for a description of the so-called Zeno solutions that are solutions with infinitely many jumps in a finite amount of time, i.e. with $t < \infty$ and $k \to \infty$, see [164], [60] and [131].

A solution pair of a hybrid system is *maximal*, if it cannot be extended. It is *complete*, if its hybrid time domain is unbounded. In particular, a complete solution may have the bounded time and the unbounded number of jumps (in case of Zeno solutions), or the unbounded time and the bounded number of jumps, or both unbounded. Let $S_u(x^0)$ be the set of all maximal solution pairs (x, u) to (2.5) with $x(0,0) = x^0$.

For the existence of solutions we assume that the following basic regularity conditions [28], [63] hold throughout the thesis:

Assumption (Basic regularity condition).

(i) χ_i is open, U_i is closed, and $C_i, D_i \subset \chi \times U$ are relatively closed in $\chi \times U$; (ii) f_i, g_i are continuous.

Their sufficiency for the existence of solutions of a hybrid system of the form (2.1) without internal and external inputs was proved in [63, Proposition 2.4]:

Proposition 2.1.1 (Existence of solutions). Assume basic regularity conditions (i)-(ii) hold. If $x_i^0 \in D_i$ or the following condition holds:

(VC) $x_i^0 \in C_i$ and for some neighborhood W_i of x_i^0 , for all $x_i' \in W_i \cap C_i$, $T_{C_i}(x_i') \cap f_i(x_i') \neq \emptyset$, then there exists a solution x_i to (2.1) with $x_i(0,0) = x_i^0$ and dom $x_i \neq (0,0)$.

If (VC) holds for all $x_i^0 \in C_i \setminus D_i$, then for any maximal solution x_i at least one of the following statements is true:

1) x_i is complete;

2) x_i eventually leaves every compact subset of χ_i : for any compact $K \subset \chi_i$, there exists $(T, J) \in dom x_i$ such that for all $(t, j) \in dom x_i$ with $(T, J) < (t, j), x_i(t, j) \notin K$;

3) for some $(T, J) \in dom x_i$, $(T, J) \neq (0, 0)$, we have $x_i(T, J) \notin C_i \cup D_i$.

Case 3) above does not occur if additionally

(VD) for all $x_i^0 \in D_i$, $g_i(x_i^0) \in C_i \cup D_i$.

According to definition of tangent cone in Section 1.1.4, condition $T_{C_i}(x'_i) \cap f_i(x'_i) \neq \emptyset$ means that the vector $f_i(x'_i)$ points towards the set C_i . This guarantees that we can construct a solution belonging to the set C_i .

The following proposition guarantees the uniqueness of a solution of a hybrid system of the form (2.1) without internal and external inputs and follows from [62, Proposition S5] as a particular case.

Proposition 2.1.2 (Uniqueness of solution). Uniqueness of solutions holds for a hybrid system (f_i, g_i, C_i, D_i) if and only if the following conditions hold:

1) For each initial point $x_i^0 \in C_i \subset \chi_i$ there exists a unique maximal solution z_i to the differential equation $\dot{z}_i(t) = f_i(z_i(t))$ satisfying $z_i(0) = x_i^0$ and $z_i(t) \in C_i$; 2) For each initial point $x_i^0 \in C_i \cap D_i$, there are no nontrivial solutions to $\dot{z}_i(t) = f_i(z_i(t))$ satisfying $z_i(0) = x_i^0$ and $z_i(t) \in C_i$.

For further discussions on existence and uniqueness of solutions and their continuous dependence on initial conditions for hybrid systems we refer to [63], [62] and [97].

Let us now turn to interconnections of hybrid subsystems. We consider interconnections of the form (2.1) as one large hybrid system

$$\dot{x} = f(x, u), \quad (x, u) \in C, x^+ = g(x, u), \quad (x, u) \in D,$$
(2.5)

with the state x and the input u defined above. It seems to be natural to define $C := \cap C_i$, $D := \bigcup D_i$, since a jump of any subsystem means a jump for the overall state x, and to define the function $f : C \to \mathbb{R}^N$ by $f := (f_1^T, \ldots, f_n^T)^T$ and function $g : D \to \chi$ as $g := (\tilde{g}_1^T, \ldots, \tilde{g}_n^T)^T$, where

$$\widetilde{g}_i(x,u) := \begin{cases} g_i(x,u_i), & \text{if } (x,u) \in D_i, \\ x_i, & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

Note that, in general, we lose some solutions of individual systems by interconnection. Furthermore, the solutions of (2.5) may have different hybrid time domains than the solutions of the individual systems (2.1), see [130]. The above choice of C and D was also used in [130] considering interconnections of two hybrid systems. However, this choice has certain drawbacks, see Remark 2.4.7, see also Remark 4.3 in [130]. The supremum norm of the hybrid signal u defined on $[(0,0), (t,j)] \in \text{dom } u$ is defined by

$$\|u\|_{(t,k)} := \max \left\{ \underset{\substack{(s,l) \in \operatorname{dom} u \setminus \Phi(u), \\ (s,l) \leq (t,k)}}{\operatorname{ess sup}} |u(s,l)|, \underset{\substack{(s,l) \in \Phi(u), \\ (s,l) \leq (t,k)}}{\operatorname{sup}} |u(s,l)| \right\}$$

where $\Phi(u)$ is the set of all $(s, l) \in \text{dom } u$ such that $(s, l+1) \in \text{dom } u$. If $t + k \to \infty$, then $||u||_{(t,k)}$ is denoted by $||u||_{\infty}$. This norm takes the maximum between the essential supremum of an input function between the jumps and the supremum of a function over the jumps. One of the most typical examples of the hybrid system is the bouncing ball.

Example 2.1.3. [Bouncing ball with air resistance] Consider a ball with unit mass that falls and bounces from the floor. We assume that the floor and the ball are elastic, i.e., there is no loss of energy of the ball during the bounce. However, there is an air resistance given by the coefficient $\nu \in (0, 1)$. The dynamics of the ball can be described then as a hybrid system (2.5):

$$\dot{x} = \begin{pmatrix} x_2 \\ -\gamma - \nu x_2 \end{pmatrix} =: f(x, u), \quad (x, u) \in C,$$
(2.7)

$$x^{+} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ -x_2 \end{pmatrix} =: g(x, u), \quad (x, u) \in D,$$
(2.8)

where x_1 denotes the vertical position and x_2 the velocity of the ball, $C := \{(x, u) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times U : x_1 \ge 0\}$ and $D := \{(x, u) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times U : x_1 = 0, x_2 \le 0\}$, γ is the gravitation force.

For a given initial condition $x_1(t_0) = x_1(0) = h > 0$ and $x_2(t_0) = x_2(0) = 0$ the solution can be written in terms of the hybrid time domain as follows. The hybrid arc until the first jump (continuous flow between t_0 and t_1) is given by

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(t,0) &= -\frac{\gamma}{\nu}e^{-\nu t} - \frac{\gamma}{\nu}t + h + \frac{\gamma}{\nu}, \\ x_2(t,0) &= -\frac{\gamma}{\nu}(e^{-\nu t} - 1), \end{aligned}$$

where t_1 the time of the first touch with the ground and is a solution of $x_1(t,0) = 0$, i.e., $-\frac{\gamma}{\nu}e^{-\nu t_1} - \frac{\gamma}{\nu}t_1 + h + \frac{\gamma}{\nu} = 0$. The states after the jump are

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_1^+(t_1,1) &=& 0, \\ x_2^+(t_1,1) &=& \frac{\gamma}{\nu}(e^{-\nu t_1}-1). \end{array}$$

The further states after the jump at t_j are $x_1^+(t_j, j) = 0$ and $x_2^+(t_j, j) = -x_2(t_j, j-1), j = 1, 2, ...$ The arcs (between t_j and t_{j+1}) are given as solutions of the system of differential equations (2.7) with initial conditions $x_1(t_j, j) = 0$ and $x_2(t_j, j) = -x_2(t_j, j-1)$.

The trajectory of the ball released from the height $x_1^0 = 3$, with the initial velocity $x_2^0 = 0$, the coefficient of air resistance $\nu = 0.1$, gravity acceleration $\gamma = 9.81$ is shown in Figure 2.1. The time domain of a solution is illustrated in Figure 2.2.

Remark 2.1.4. Hybrid systems are closely related to impulsive systems [67], switched [150] and sampled-data systems [86]. In impulsive systems discontinuous jumps in the state occur only at given time sequences. In switched systems a trajectory of the state is continuous but the right-hand side of a differential equation describing its dynamics changes discontinuously. In sampled-data systems the right-hand side of a differential equation changes at time instances calculated according to the systems evolution. Impulsive, switched and sampled-data systems we can introduce a variable that describes the time and the set D that describes the jump times, see Remark 2.4.21. To describe switched systems or sample-date systems as hybrid systems, a variable that determines the type of continuous dynamics can be introduced [61]. However, systems of all these types are studied usually separately to stress on their main features.

For an explicit discussion on hybrid systems, their solutions, stability, control and applications we recommend tutorials [62], [162] and [35], and the references therein.



Figure 2.1: Trajectory of the bouncing ball.



Figure 2.2: Time domain of the bouncing ball.

2.2 Stability notions

Here we introduce different stability notions for hybrid systems and show the relations between them. Furthermore, we give a more general formulation of input-to-state stability than those used in (1.10).

2.2.1 Input-to-state stability (ISS)

Consider a system of the form (2.5) with bounded inputs u. As these inputs are, in general, not equal to zero we are interested in a stability notion that takes into account the values of u. Input-to-state stability is a natural way to define such type of stability [27]:

Definition 2.2.1 (ISS). The system (2.5) is input-to-state stable (ISS), if there exist $\beta \in \mathcal{KLL}$, $\gamma \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ such that for all initial values x^0 all solution pairs $(x, u) \in S_u(x^0)$ satisfy

$$|x(t,k)| \le \max\{\beta(|x^0|, t, k), \gamma(||u||_{(t,k)})\}, \forall (t,k) \in dom \, x.$$
(2.9)

Function γ is called ISS nonlinear gain.

In particular, the properties of β and γ imply that an ISS system possesses a stable behaviour, where, in general, the state at the beginning is bounded by the function β depending on the initial condition x^0 , and then by the function γ depending on the maximal value of the input u. The term "gain" here originally comes from electric networks, where an influence of a circuit on an increase of a signal is studied.

Remark 2.2.2. *Note that the ISS property can be equivalently defined replacing the maximizations in* (2.9) *by the sums:*

$$|x(t,k)| \le \bar{\beta}(|x^0|, t, k) + \bar{\gamma}(||u||_{(t,k)}),$$
(2.10)

where the comparison functions $\bar{\beta} \in \mathcal{KLL}$ and $\bar{\gamma} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ may be different. The consideration of this equivalent formulation may yield more sharp estimations of stability that implies, for example, more sharp stability conditions for interconnections of hybrid systems, see Example 2.3.5. More general formulations of ISS, in terms of the so-called monotone aggregation functions (MAFs), were considered in [126] for continuous systems.

We also consider the following stability notions from [28]:

Definition 2.2.3 (0-input pre-stability). *The system* (2.5) *is* 0-input pre-stable, *if for each* $\epsilon > 0$ *there exists a* $\delta > 0$ *such that each solution pair* $(x, 0) \in S_u(x^0)$ *with* $|x^0| \leq \delta$ *satisfies* $|x(t, k)| \leq \epsilon$ *for all* $(t, k) \in dom x$.

Definition 2.2.4 (pre-GS). The system (2.5) is globally pre-stable (pre-GS), if there exist $\sigma, \hat{\gamma} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ such that for all initial values x^0 all solution pairs $(x, u) \in S_u(x^0)$ satisfy

$$|x(t,k)| \le \max\{\sigma(|x^0|), \hat{\gamma}(||u||_{(t,k)})\}, \forall (t,k) \in dom \, x.$$
(2.11)

The prefix "pre-" in the definitions above indicates that the maximal solutions of the system (2.5) are not necessarily complete [131].

Remark 2.2.5. Note that pre-GS follows from ISS by taking $\sigma(|x^0|) := \beta(|x^0|, 0, 0)$ and 0-input pre-stability follows from pre-GS by considering $u \equiv 0$.

Definition 2.2.6 (AG). The system (2.5) has the asymptotic gain property (AG), if there exists $\tilde{\gamma} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ such that for all initial values x^0 all solution pairs $(x, u) \in S_u(x^0)$ are bounded and, if complete satisfy

$$\limsup_{(t,k)\in dom\,x,t+k\to\infty} |x(t,k)| \le \widetilde{\gamma}(||u||_{\infty}).$$
(2.12)

Note that in the definition of the AG property we take into account that the time t or the number of the intervals between the jumps k may be bounded, however the sum of them is not in the case of complete solutions.

In [28, Theorem 3.1] the following relation between ISS and AG with 0-input pre-stability was proved.

Theorem 2.2.7. Assume that the set $\{f(x, u) : u \in U \cap \overline{\epsilon B}\}$ is convex $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ and for any $x \in \chi$. Then system (2.1) is ISS if and only if it has the asymptotic gain property and it is 0-input pre-stable.

We now intend to formulate ISS conditions for the subsystems of (2.1), where some conditions are in the sum formulation as in (2.10) while other are given in the maximum form as in (2.9). Consider the index set $I := \{1, ..., n\}$ partitioned into two subsets I_{Σ} , I_{max} such that $I_{\text{max}} = I \setminus I_{\Sigma}$.

The *i*th subsystem (2.1) is ISS, if there exist β_i of class \mathcal{KLL} , γ_{ij} , $\gamma_i \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ such that for all initial values x_i^0 each solution pair $(x_i, v_i) \in S_{v_i}(x_i^0)$ with v_i from (2.2) satisfies:

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \beta_i(|x_i^0|, t, k) + \sum_{j=1, j \ne i}^n \gamma_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}) + \gamma_i(||u||_{(t,k)}), \forall (t,k) \in \operatorname{dom} x_i,$$
(2.13)

 $i \in I_{\Sigma}$, and

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \max\{\beta_i(|x_i^0|, t, k), \max_{j, j \ne i} \gamma_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}), \gamma_i(||u||_{(t,k)})\}, \forall (t,k) \in \operatorname{dom} x_i,$$
(2.14)

 $i \in I_{\max}$.

Remark 2.2.8. Note that, without loss of generality, we can assume that $I_{\Sigma} = \{1, \ldots, p\}$ and $I_{\max} = \{p+1, \ldots, n\}$ where $p := |I_{\Sigma}|$. This can be always achieved by a permutation of the subsystems in (2.1).

Similarly, the *i*th system of the form (2.1) is pre-GS, if there exist $\sigma_i, \hat{\gamma}_{ij} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}, \hat{\gamma}_i \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ such that for all initial values x_i^0 each solution pair $(x_i, v_i) \in S_{v_i}(x_i^0)$ satisfies

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \sigma_i(|x_i^0|) + \sum_{j=1, j \ne i}^n \hat{\gamma}_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}) + \hat{\gamma}_i(||u||_{(t,k)}), \forall (t,k) \in \operatorname{dom} x_i,$$
(2.15)

 $i \in I_{\Sigma}$, and

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \max\{\sigma_i(|x_i^0|), \max_{j,j\neq i} \hat{\gamma}_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}), \hat{\gamma}_i(||u||_{(t,k)})\}, \forall (t,k) \in \operatorname{dom} x_i,$$
(2.16)

 $i \in I_{\max}$.

And the *i*th system of the form (2.1) has the AG property, if there exist $\tilde{\gamma}_{ij} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$, $\tilde{\gamma}_i \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ such that for all initial values x_i^0 each solution pair $(x_i, v_i) \in S_{v_i}(x_i^0)$ is bounded and, if complete satisfies

$$\lim_{(t,k)\in\operatorname{dom} x_i,t+k\to\infty} |x_i(t,k)| \le \sum_{j,j\neq i} \widetilde{\gamma}_{ij}(||x_j||_\infty) + \widetilde{\gamma}_i(||u||_\infty),$$
(2.17)

 $i \in I_{\Sigma}$, and

$$\lim_{(t,k)\in\operatorname{dom} x,t+k\to\infty} \sup |x_i(t,k)| \le \max\{\max_{j,j\neq i} \widetilde{\gamma}_{ij}(\|x_j\|_\infty), \widetilde{\gamma}_i(\|u\|_\infty)\},\tag{2.18}$$

 $i \in I_{\max}$.

Remark 2.2.9. Note that using

$$\max_{i=1,\dots,n} \{x_i\} \le \sum_{i=1}^n x_i \le n \max_{i=1,\dots,n} \{x_i\}$$
(2.19)

we can always pass to ISS-formulations with maximums or summations only, but with different gains in general.

2.2.2 ISS in terms of Lyapunov functions

Another notion useful for stability investigations of nonlinear systems is the notion of an ISS-Lyapunov function. In this section we give a definition of this function and recall the result showing that the existence of an ISS-Lyapunov function guarantees that the system is ISS. Thus we can use ISS-Lyapunov functions to check ISS of a hybrid system.

We consider locally Lipschitz continuous functions $V : \chi \to \mathbb{R}_+$ that are differentiable almost everywhere by the Rademacher's theorem. In points where such a function is not differentiable we use the notion of Clarke's generalized gradient from Section 1.1.4.

Definition 2.2.10 (ISS-Lyapunov function). A locally Lipschitz continuous function $V : \chi \rightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$ is an ISS-Lyapunov function for the system (2.5), if

1) there exist functions $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that:

$$\psi_1(|x|) \le V(x) \le \psi_2(|x|) \text{ for any } x \in \chi;$$
(2.20)

2) there exist a function $\gamma \in \mathcal{K}$, and continuous, positive definite functions α , λ with $\lambda(s) < s$ for all s > 0 such that:

$$V(x) \ge \gamma(|u|) \Rightarrow \forall \zeta \in \partial V(x) : \langle \zeta, f(x, u) \rangle \le -\alpha(V(x)), (x, u) \in C,$$
(2.21)

$$V(x) \ge \gamma(|u|) \Rightarrow V(g(x, u)) \le \lambda(V(x)), \quad (x, u) \in D.$$
(2.22)

Function γ is called ISS-Lyapunov gain corresponding to the input u.

If V is differentiable at x, then (2.21) can be written as

$$V(x) \ge \gamma(|u|) \Rightarrow \nabla V(x) \cdot f(x, u) \le -\alpha(V(x)), (x, u) \in C.$$

Note that this definition is different from the definitions of an ISS-Lyapunov function used in [28], [46] and [110]. The equivalence between their existence for (2.5) is shown in Propositions 2.2.16 and 2.2.19. We will use such a formulation to show one of the main stability results in Section 2.4.

Remark 2.2.11. Relations between the existence of a smooth ISS-Lyapunov function and the ISS property for hybrid systems were discussed in [28]: In particular, Proposition 2.7 in [28] shows that if a hybrid system has an ISS-Lyapunov function, then it is ISS. Example 3.4 in [28] shows that the converse is in general not true. In Theorem 3.1 [28] it was proved that if the system (2.5) is ISS with f such that the set $\{f(x, u) : u \in U \cap \overline{\epsilon B}\}$ is convex $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ and for any $x \in \chi$, then it has an ISS-Lyapunov function.

It turns out that the smoothness of an ISS-Lyapunov function is not necessary to guarantee the ISS property of the system (2.5) as the following proposition shows.

Proposition 2.2.12. *If the system* (2.5) *has a locally Lipschitz continuous ISS-Lyapunov function, then it is ISS.*

Proof. The proof of Proposition 2.7 in [28] stated with $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ works without change, if α is continuous and positive definite. As well, this proof can be extended to the nonsmooth V using the Clarke's generalized derivative. The assertion of the proposition follows then from this extension and Proposition 2.2.16.

Remark 2.2.13. If the set C has a nonempty interior, then it is enough to consider the classical derivative of V at the points of differentiability in (2.21). But for the set C with an empty interior it is not enough, in general, to use the classical derivative of V, see the following example.

Example 2.2.14. Consider the hybrid system:

$$\dot{x}_1 = x_1, \\ \dot{x}_2 = 0$$

for $x \in C = \mathbb{R} \times \{0\}$, i.e., line $x_2 = 0$, and

$$\begin{aligned}
 x_1^+ &= 0, \\
 x_2^+ &= 0
 \end{aligned}$$

for $x \in D = \mathbb{R}^2$.

The solution of this system corresponding to $x(0,0) = (x_1^0,0)^T$ is given by

$$x_1(t,0) = x_1^0 e^t, x_2(t,0) = 0.$$

As $x_1(t, 0)$ is unbounded, the system is not ISS.

Consider now locally Lipschitz continuous function $V(x) = |x_1| + |x_2|$. Function V satisfies (2.20) and (2.22). If we require for an ISS-Lyapunov function that its classical derivative has to satisfy (2.21) at the points of differentiability only, then function V will satisfy this condition as the set C is of zero measure. Thus we will obtain a contradiction to our previous conclusion that the system is not ISS.

Remark 2.2.15. Note that conditions (2.21) and (2.22) on an ISS-Lyapunov function require that the continuous and discontinuous dynamics of a hybrid system has to be always stable. This requirement implies some kind of conservativeness. Think of a hybrid system, where the continuous dynamics is stable and the discontinuous dynamics is unstable, i.e. the jumps increase the magnitude of the state of the system. Assume also that continuous dynamics stabilizes the system, i.e. the jumps occur so rarely, that during the time between the jumps the magnitude of the state decreases greater than it increases during the next jump. In this case, though the system is stable, we cannot apply Proposition 2.2.12 to establish this due to the violation of condition (2.22). The same is in the reverse case, when the discontinuous dynamics is stable and the continuous dynamics is unstable, but the jumps occur so often that the system is nevertheless stable. To the best of our knowledge, there are no general approaches on ISS-Lyapunov functions that can be applied to show input-to-state stability in such case. However, we are sure that the development of methods that allow establishing of stability of such systems is of a great application importance. A possible starting point in this research may be an extension of the known stability results obtained for a certain class of hybrid systems and for a certain type of stability. In Section 2.4.4 we will discuss impulsive systems that are a subclass of a hybrid system. In particular, we will recall the dwell-time condition introduced for such a system. This condition restricts the time intervals between the jumps to guarantee input-to-state stability of an impulsive system where the flow or the jumps may be unstable. Other stability results, known in the literature, are obtained in the studying of asymptotic stability of hybrid systems. They are based on the LaSalle's invariance principle [132] and the nested Matrosov theorems [134].

Equivalent definitions of an ISS-Lyapunov function

Here we present alternative definitions of an ISS-Lyapunov function used in [28], [46], [110]. We show that the existence of ISS-Lyapunov functions in terms of these definitions is equivalent to the existence of an ISS-Lyapunov function in terms of Definition 2.2.10. Consider a function $W : \chi \rightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$, $W \in Lip_{loc}$ that satisfies the following properties for the system of the form (2.5): 1) There exist functions $\bar{\psi}_1, \bar{\psi}_2 \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that:

$$\bar{\psi}_1(|x|) \le W(x) \le \bar{\psi}_2(|x|) \text{ for any } x \in \chi.$$
(2.23)

2) There exist a function $\bar{\gamma} \in \mathcal{K}$, a continuous, positive definite function $\bar{\alpha}_1$ and a function $\bar{\alpha}_2 \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that:

$$|x| \ge \bar{\gamma}(|u|) \Rightarrow \forall \zeta \in \partial W(x) \colon \langle \zeta, f(x,u) \rangle \le -\bar{\alpha}_1(|x|), (x,u) \in C, \tag{2.24}$$

$$|x| \ge \bar{\gamma}(|u|) \Rightarrow W(g(x,u)) - W(x) \le -\bar{\alpha}_2(|x|), (x,u) \in D.$$
(2.25)

In [28] the conditions (2.23)-(2.25) with $\bar{\alpha}_1 \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ were used to define an ISS-Lyapunov function for a system of the form (2.5) and it was shown that existence of such a (smooth) function W implies that a system of the form (2.5) is ISS.

Proposition 2.2.16. A system of the form (2.5) has an ISS-Lyapunov function V satisfying (2.20)-(2.22) if and only if there exists $W \in Lip_{loc}$ satisfying (2.23)-(2.25).

For the proof we need two auxiliary lemmas. The following lemma is an extension of [83, Lemma 2.8] on the case with external inputs.

Lemma 2.2.17. Consider a system of the form (2.5) and assume that function $V \in Lip_{loc}$ satisfies (2.23), (2.25) with continuous, positive definite function $\bar{\alpha}_2$. Then there exists a smooth \mathcal{K}_{∞} function ρ such that with $W = \rho \circ V$ it holds that

$$|x| \ge \bar{\gamma}(|u|) \Rightarrow W(g(x,u)) - W(x) \le -\alpha(|x|), \quad \forall (x,u) \in \chi \times U,$$
(2.26)

for some $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$.

Proof. Assume that $|x| \geq \bar{\gamma}(|u|)$. Then, applying [83, Lemma 2.8] we obtain a smooth function $\rho \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ and a function $W = \rho \circ V$ that satisfies (2.26).

Lemma 2.2.18. For any \mathcal{K}_{∞} -function α , there is a \mathcal{K}_{∞} -function $\hat{\alpha}$ such that the following holds:

- $\hat{\alpha}(s) \leq \alpha(s), \forall s \geq 0$ and
- $id \hat{\alpha} \in \mathcal{K}$.

See [84, Lemma B.1] for the proof. *Proof of Proposition 2.2.16* " \Rightarrow " Let V satisfy (2.20)-(2.22). Define

$$\bar{\gamma}(|u|) := \psi_1^{-1} \circ \gamma(|u|).$$
 (2.27)

Let $|x| \ge \overline{\gamma}(|u|)$. Then from (2.20), (2.27) it follows $V(x) \ge \gamma(|u|)$. Applying (2.22) it follows that for all $(x, u) \in D$

$$V(g(x,u)) \le \lambda(V(x)) = V(x) - \widetilde{\alpha}(x) \Rightarrow V(g(x,u)) - V(x) \le -\widehat{\alpha}(|x|),$$
(2.28)

with $\hat{\alpha}(r) := \min_{\substack{|s|=r}} \tilde{\alpha}(s)$ that is a continuous, positive definite function, where $\tilde{\alpha}(s) := V(s) - \lambda(V(s))$. From (2.28) and Lemma 2.2.17 there exist $\rho, \bar{\alpha}_2 \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$, where ρ is smooth, such that $W := \rho \circ V$ satisfies (2.25) with $\bar{\gamma}(|u|)$ defined in (2.27).

As V(x) satisfies (2.21), then W satisfies (2.24) with $\bar{\alpha}_1 := \tilde{\rho} \cdot \alpha$ that is a continuous, positive definite function, where $\tilde{\rho} \in \partial \rho(y)$, y = V(x).

Thus, function W satisfies (2.23)-(2.25) with $\bar{\psi}_1 := \rho \circ \psi_1$, $\bar{\psi}_2 := \rho \circ \psi_2$, $\bar{\gamma}(|u|) := \psi_1^{-1} \circ \gamma(|u|)$ and $\bar{\alpha}_1 := \tilde{\rho} \cdot \alpha$.

" \Leftarrow " Assume now that the function W satisfies (2.23)-(2.25) and define V := W, $\psi_1 := \overline{\psi}_1$ and $\psi_2 := \overline{\psi}_2$. Then condition (2.20) is satisfied. Let

$$\gamma(|u|) := \bar{\psi}_2 \circ \bar{\gamma}(|u|). \tag{2.29}$$

Consider $V(x) \ge \gamma(|u|)$. Then from (2.29) and (2.23) it follows $|x| \ge \overline{\gamma}(|u|)$. From (2.23) and (2.24) it holds for all $(x, u) \in C$

$$\forall \zeta \in \partial W(x) : \langle \zeta, f(x, u) \rangle \le -\bar{\alpha}_1(|x|) \le -\bar{\alpha}_1 \circ \bar{\psi}_2^{-1}(W(x)).$$

Thus V satisfies (2.21) with $\alpha := \bar{\alpha}_1 \circ \bar{\psi}_2^{-1}$.

From Lemma 2.2.18 for any $\bar{\alpha}_2 \circ \bar{\psi}_2^{-1} \in \mathcal{K}_\infty$ there exists $\tilde{\alpha} \in \mathcal{K}_\infty$ such that $\tilde{\alpha} \leq \bar{\alpha}_2 \circ \bar{\psi}_2^{-1}$ and id $-\tilde{\alpha} \in \mathcal{K}$. Applying (2.23) and (2.25) we obtain

$$W(g(x,u)) \leq W(x) - \bar{\alpha}_2(|x|) \leq W(x) - \bar{\alpha}_2 \circ \bar{\psi}_2^{-1}(W(x))$$

$$\leq W(x) - \tilde{\alpha}(W(x)) = (\mathrm{id} - \tilde{\alpha})(W(x)) = \lambda(W(x)),$$

where $\lambda := id - \tilde{\alpha}$. Hence, function V satisfies (2.20)-(2.22). The next proposition shows another way to introduce an ISS-Lyapunov function, used in [46], [110]. **Proposition 2.2.19.** System of the form (2.5) has an ISS-Lyapunov function V satisfying (2.20)-(2.22) if and only if there exists $\tilde{V} \in Lip_{loc}$ satisfying (2.20)-(2.21) and

$$\widetilde{V}(g(x,u)) \le \max\{\widetilde{\lambda}(\widetilde{V}(x)), \widetilde{\gamma}(|u|)\}, (x,u) \in D,$$
(2.30)

with $\widetilde{\gamma} \in \mathcal{K}$ and a continuous, positive definite $\widetilde{\lambda}, \widetilde{\lambda} < id$.

Proof. " \Leftarrow " We can always majorize a continuous, positive definite function $\tilde{\lambda} < \text{id from (2.30)}$ by a function $\rho \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that $\tilde{\lambda}(r) < \rho(r) < r$, for example, taking $\rho(r) := \frac{1}{2}(\max_{[0,r]} \tilde{\lambda} + \text{id})(r)$, $r \ge 0$. Then for $(x, u) \in D$ from (2.30) we have

$$\widetilde{V}(g(x,u)) \le \max\{\widetilde{\lambda}(\widetilde{V}(x)), \widetilde{\gamma}(|u|)\} \le \max\{\rho(\widetilde{V}(x)), \widetilde{\gamma}(|u|)\}.$$
(2.31)

Define $\gamma := \rho^{-1} \circ \widetilde{\gamma} > \widetilde{\gamma}$ and $V := \widetilde{V}$. If $V(x) \ge \gamma(|u|)$, then $\rho(V(x)) \ge \widetilde{\gamma}(|u|)$ and using (2.31)

$$V(g(x,u)) = \widetilde{V}(g(x,u)) \le \max\{\rho(\widetilde{V}(x)), \widetilde{\gamma}(|u|)\} = \rho(\widetilde{V}(x)) = \rho(V(x)).$$

Thus, function V satisfies the condition (2.22) with $\lambda := \rho < id$.

" \Rightarrow " From (2.22) for $(x, u) \in D$, if $V(x) > \gamma(|u|)$, then $V(g(x, u)) \leq \lambda(V(x))$. Consider now $(x, u) \in D$ such that $V(x) \leq \gamma(|u|)$ and define the set

$$\mathcal{A}(|u|) := \{(x, u) \in D : V(x) \le \gamma(|u|)\}.$$

Let us take now

$$\hat{\gamma}(|u|) := \max_{(x,u) \in \mathcal{A}(|u|)} V(g(x,u)).$$

Then $V(g(x, u)) \leq \hat{\gamma}(|u|)$ for $(x, u) \in \mathcal{A}(|u|)$. Note that $\hat{\gamma}(0) = 0$ as $V(x) \geq 0 = \gamma(0)$.

Furthermore, as the function V is nonnegative and $V \in Lip_{loc}$ and the function g is continuous, function $\hat{\gamma} \in Lip_{loc}$ is nonnegative. We can always majorize such function $\hat{\gamma}$ by a function $\check{\gamma} \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $\hat{\gamma} \leq \check{\gamma}$.

Thus, for $(x, u) \in D$ we have obtained that $V(g(x, u)) \leq \max\{\check{\gamma}(|u|), \lambda(V(x))\}$ and condition (2.30) is satisfied with $\widetilde{V} := V$ and $\widetilde{\gamma} := \max\{\check{\gamma}, \gamma\}$.

Now, to establish ISS of the hybrid system (1.55) we can use Proposition 2.2.12, i.e. we need to find an ISS-Lyapunov function for the system (1.55). Note that the logistics network consists, in general of many locations. Therefore, the procedure of the looking for an ISS-Lyapunov function may be very sophisticated. In Section 2.4.2 we will show how this procedure can be facilitated by applying the small gain condition. To this end we need a description of an ISS-Lyapunov function for individual location, i.e. for subsystem (2.1).

ISS-Lyapunov functions for hybrid subsystems

Consider a system of the form (2.5) as an interconnection of n hybrid systems with several inputs. By an appropriate choice of $\gamma_{ij}, \gamma_i \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$, that depends on the used norms, $\gamma(|v_i|)$ can be written as a sum or a maximum over $\gamma_{ij}(|x_j|), j \neq i$ and $\gamma_i(|u_i|)$. If we assume that each subsystem i has a locally Lipschitz continuous ISS-Lyapunov function V_i , then $\gamma_{ij}(|x_j|)$ can be estimated from above and below by $\tilde{\gamma}_{ij}(V_j(x_j))$ and $\bar{\gamma}_{ij}(V_j(x_j))$ with an appropriate choice of $\tilde{\gamma}_{ij}, \bar{\gamma}_{ij} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$. This follows from (2.20). Thus we obtain the following formulation of the ISS-Lyapunov function V_i for systems of the form (2.1):

1) There exist functions $\psi_{i1}, \psi_{i2} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that:

$$\psi_{i1}(|x_i|) \le V_i(x_i) \le \psi_{i2}(|x_i|) \text{ for any } x_i \in \chi_i.$$
 (2.32)

2) There exist $\gamma_{ij}, \gamma_i \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ and continuous, positive definite functions α_i, λ_i , with $\lambda_i(s) < s$ for all s > 0 such that for all $(x, u) \in C_i$

$$V_i(x_i) \ge \sum_{j,j \neq i} \gamma_{ij}(V_j(x_j)) + \gamma_i(|u|) \Rightarrow \forall \zeta_i \in \partial V_i(x_i) \colon \langle \zeta_i, f_i(x, u_i) \rangle \le -\alpha_i(V_i(x_i)),$$
(2.33)

 $i \in I_{\Sigma}$,

$$V_i(x_i) \ge \max\{\max_{j,j\neq i}\{\gamma_{ij}(V_j(x_j))\}, \gamma_i(|u|)\} \Rightarrow \forall \zeta_i \in \partial V_i(x_i) : \langle \zeta_i, f_i(x, u_i) \rangle \le -\alpha_i(V_i(x_i)),$$
(2.34)

 $i \in I_{\max}$, and for all $(x, u) \in D_i$

V

$$V_i(x_i) \ge \sum_{j,j \ne i} \gamma_{ij}(V_j(x_j)) + \gamma_i(|u|) \Rightarrow V_i(g_i(x, u_i)) \le \lambda_i(V_i(x_i)),$$
(2.35)

$$i \in I_{\Sigma}$$
,

$$V_{i}(x_{i}) \ge \max\{\max_{j,j\neq i}\{\gamma_{ij}(V_{j}(x_{j}))\}, \gamma_{i}(|u|)\} \Rightarrow V_{i}(g_{i}(x,u_{i})) \le \lambda_{i}(V_{i}(x_{i})),$$
(2.36)

 $i \in I_{\max}$.

Note that γ_{ij} in (2.33)-(2.36) are equal. This can be always achieved by taking maximums of separately obtained γ_{ij} 's for the continuous and discrete dynamics.

Remark 2.2.20. Function V_i can be defined equivalently by replacing (2.36) with

$$V_i(g_i(x, u)) \le \max\{\lambda_i(V_i(x_i)), \gamma_{ij}(V_j(x_j)), \gamma_i(|u|)\},$$
(2.37)

for some continuous and positive definite $\lambda_i < id$ using Proposition 2.2.19. Certainly, these changes can lead to different Lyapunov gains.

An ISS-Lyapunov function provides a useful tool for checking ISS of a hybrid system as it does not require knowledge about the solution of the system. Note, however, that an interconnection of hybrid systems can be unstable, i.e., not ISS, even if each of its subsystems is ISS. In the following section we introduce conditions that guarantee stability for interconnections of ISS hybrid systems.

2.3 Gains

To establish ISS of an interconnected hybrid system of the form (2.5) we are going to extend an approach used for checking stability of interconnected continuous and discrete systems in [54], [52] and [86] to hybrid systems. This approach utilizes information about the interconnection structure of the network.

We assume that all subsystems that compose interconnection of the form (2.5) are ISS. We assume also that ISS estimates (2.13), (2.14) or at least ISS-Lyapunov estimates (2.33)- (2.36) are known for each subsystem. Function γ_{ij} occurring in these estimates describes the influence of *j*th subsystem on the *i*th one. We will call this function *gain*. We collect all the gains in a matrix $\Gamma = (\gamma_{ij})_{n \times n}$, with the convention $\gamma_{ii} \equiv 0$, i = 1, ..., n. Then this matrix describes the mutual influence between the subsystems of the interconnected hybrid system. We will call this matrix *gain matrix* and it will be the basis of our stability analysis. In particular, we will impose the so-called mixed small gain condition on the corresponding matrix operator that guarantees stability of an interconnected hybrid system. In this section we will introduce this small gain condition and discuss its properties. Then we will

In this section we will introduce this small gain condition and discuss its properties. Then we will show how this condition can be applied to check stability of an interconnection.

2.3.1 Gain operator

We define the gain operator $\Gamma : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ by

$$\Gamma(s) := (\Gamma_1(s), \dots, \Gamma_n(s))^T, \ s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+,$$
(2.38)

where the functions $\Gamma_i : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ are given by $\Gamma_i(s) := \gamma_{i1}(s_1) + \cdots + \gamma_{in}(s_n)$ for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ and $\Gamma_i(s) := \max\{\gamma_{i1}(s_1), \ldots, \gamma_{in}(s_n)\}$ for $i \in I_{\max}$. In particular, if $I_{\Sigma} = \{1, \ldots, p\}$ and $I_{\max} = \{p+1, \ldots, n\}$ we have

$$\Gamma(s) = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{12}(s_2) + \dots + \gamma_{1n}(s_n) \\ \vdots \\ \gamma_{k1}(s_1) + \dots + \gamma_{kn}(s_n) \\ \max\{\gamma_{p+1,1}(s_1), \dots, \gamma_{p+1,n}(s_n)\} \\ \vdots \\ \max\{\gamma_{n1}(s_1), \dots, \gamma_{n,n-1}(s_{n-1})\} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.39)

2.3.2 Mixed small gain condition

The small gain condition that we are going to use to establish stability of an interconnected hybrid system of the form (2.5) originates from the corresponding small gain conditions for interconnections of purely continuous systems, i.e. in case $D = \emptyset$, or interconnections of purely discrete systems, i.e. in case $C = \emptyset$. In [54] stability conditions of interconnected continuous systems are provided in terms of small gain conditions, where the cases $I_{\Sigma} = I = \{1, ..., n\}$, respectively $I_{\text{max}} = I$ are considered. In [126], [52] more general formulations of ISS are considered.

First, we recall the small gain conditions for the cases $I_{\Sigma} = I$, resp. $I_{\max} = I$, which imply ISS of an interconnected continuous system, [54]. If $I_{\Sigma} = I$, we need to assume that there exists an operator $\mathcal{D} := \text{diag}_n(\text{id} + \alpha), \alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that

$$\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(s) \geq s, \,\forall s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ \setminus \{0\},$$
(2.40)

and if $I_{\text{max}} = I$, then the small gain condition

$$\Gamma(s) \geq s, \,\forall s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ \setminus \{0\} \tag{2.41}$$

is sufficient. The equivalence between the so-called cycle condition and the condition (2.41) was shown in [126, Lemma 2.3.14]:

Lemma 2.3.1. Let the matrix Γ be given. Then the small gain condition (2.41) is equivalent to the cycle condition:

$$\gamma_{k_1k_2} \circ \gamma_{k_2k_3} \circ \dots \circ \gamma_{k_{r-1}k_r} < id, \tag{2.42}$$

for all $(k_1, ..., k_r) \in \{1, ..., n\}^r$ with $k_1 = k_r$.

Since the matrix Γ describes the interconnection structure of a network, these conditions impose some restriction on interconnection properties. We will see that this restriction guarantees stability of the network. The intuitive meaning of (2.42) is that a signal going through the network is not amplified. See also [54] for further interpretations of the small gain conditions (2.40) and (2.41).

In the case that both I_{Σ} and I_{max} are not empty we can use (2.19) to pass to the situation with $I_{\Sigma} = \emptyset$ or $I_{\text{max}} = \emptyset$. But this can lead to more conservative gains. To avoid this conservativeness we are going to derive a new small gain condition for the case $I_{\Sigma} \neq I \neq I_{\text{max}}$. As we will see, there are two essentially equivalent approaches to do this. We can use the weak triangle inequality

$$a+b \le \max\{(\mathrm{id}+\eta) \circ a, (\mathrm{id}+\eta^{-1}) \circ b\}, \qquad (2.43)$$

which is valid for all functions $a, b, \eta \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ to pass to a pure maximum formulation of ISS. However, this method involves the right choice of a large number of weights in the weak triangular inequality which can be a nontrivial problem. Alternatively, tailor-made small gain conditions can be derived. The expressions in (2.40), (2.41) prompt us to consider the following small gain condition. For a given $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ let the diagonal operator $\mathcal{D} : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ be defined by

$$\mathcal{D}(s) := (\mathcal{D}_1(s_1), \dots, \mathcal{D}_n(s_n))^T, \quad s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+,$$
(2.44)

where $\mathcal{D}_i(s_i) := (\mathrm{id} + \alpha)(s_i)$ for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ and $\mathcal{D}_i(s_i) := s_i$ for $i \in I_{\max}$. The small gain condition on the operator Γ corresponding to a partition $I = I_{\Sigma} \cup I_{\max}$ is then

$$\exists \alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} : \Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(s) \not\geq s, \forall s \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+} \setminus \{0\}.$$
(2.45)

We will abbreviate this condition as $\Gamma \circ D \not\geq id$ and will call it *mixed small gain condition*. The following lemmas that describe the properties of $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ were proved in [126].

Lemma 2.3.2. Let $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$. Then there exists a function $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that $(id + \alpha)^{-1} = id - \widetilde{\alpha}$.

Lemma 2.3.3. For any $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}$, there exist functions $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathcal{K}$ such that

$$id + \alpha = (id + \alpha_1) \circ (id + \alpha_2).$$

Moreover, if $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$, then also α_i , i = 1, 2 can be chosen to be of class \mathcal{K}_{∞} .

The componentwise application of the last lemma implies the following property of the operator \mathcal{D} .

Lemma 2.3.4. Let \mathcal{D} be defined as in (2.44) for some $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$. Then there exist $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$, such that for \mathcal{D}_i defined as in (2.44) with corresponding α_i

$$\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}_1 \circ \mathcal{D}_2.$$

In the following example we highlight the advantage of the new small gain condition (2.45). In order not to cloud the issue we keep the example as simple as possible.

Example 2.3.5. We consider an interconnection of n = 3 continuous systems, i.e. $D = \emptyset$, given by

$$\dot{x}_{1} = -x_{1} + \gamma_{13}(|x_{3}|) + \gamma_{1}(|u|)$$

$$\dot{x}_{2} = -x_{2} + \max\{\gamma_{21}(|x_{1}|), \gamma_{23}(|x_{3}|)\}$$

$$\dot{x}_{3} = -x_{3} + \max\{\gamma_{32}(|x_{2}|), \gamma_{3}(|u|)\}$$
(2.46)

where γ_{ij} and γ_i are the given \mathcal{K}_{∞} functions. Using the variation of constants method and the weak triangle inequality (2.43) we see that the trajectories can be estimated by:

$$\begin{aligned} |x_{1}(t,0)| &\leq \beta_{1}(|x_{1}(0)|,t,0) + \gamma_{13}(||x_{3}||_{(t,0)}) + \gamma_{1}(||u||_{\infty}), \\ |x_{2}(t,0)| &\leq \max\{\beta_{2}(|x_{2}(0)|,t,0), (id+\eta) \circ \gamma_{21}(||x_{1}||_{(t,0)}), (id+\eta) \circ \gamma_{23}(||x_{3}||_{(t,0)})\}, \\ |x_{3}(t,0)| &\leq \max\{\beta_{3}(|x_{3}(0)|,t,0), (id+\eta) \circ \gamma_{32}(||x_{2}||_{(t,0)}), (id+\eta) \circ \gamma_{3}(||u||_{\infty})\}, \end{aligned}$$
(2.47)

where β_i are appropriate \mathcal{KLL} functions and $\eta \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ is arbitrary. This estimation can be rather sharp by choosing an appropriate η in the weak triangle inequality (2.43). This shows that each subsystem is ISS. In this case we have

$$\Gamma = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0 & 0 & \gamma_{13} \\ (id + \eta) \circ \gamma_{21} & 0 & (id + \eta) \circ \gamma_{23} \\ 0 & (id + \eta) \circ \gamma_{32} & 0 \end{array} \right).$$

Then the small gain condition (2.45) requires that there exists an $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{13}(s_3) \\ \max\{(id+\eta) \circ \gamma_{21} \circ (id+\alpha)(s_1), (id+\eta) \circ \gamma_{23}(s_3)\} \\ (id+\eta) \circ \gamma_{32}(s_2) \end{pmatrix} \not\geq \begin{pmatrix} s_1 \\ s_2 \\ s_3 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.48)

for all $s \in \mathbb{R}^3_+ \setminus \{0\}$.

If (2.48) holds, then considering $s^T(r) := (\gamma_{13} \circ (id + \eta) \circ \gamma_{32}(r), r, (id + \eta) \circ \gamma_{32}(r))^T$, r > 0 we obtain that the following two inequalities are satisfied

$$(id + \alpha) \circ \gamma_{13} \circ (id + \eta) \circ \gamma_{32} \circ (id + \eta) \circ \gamma_{21}(r) < r, \tag{2.49}$$

$$(id + \eta) \circ \gamma_{23} \circ (id + \eta) \circ \gamma_{32}(r) < r.$$
 (2.50)

It can be shown by a contradiction that (2.49) and (2.50) imply (2.48).

Thus, (2.48) *is equivalent to* (2.49) *and* (2.50).

Assume that the gains are linear and are given by $\gamma_{13}(r) := \gamma_{21}(r) := \gamma_{23}(r) := \gamma_{32}(r) = 0.9 r$, $r \ge 0$. Choosing $\alpha(r) = \eta(r) = 1/10 r$ we see that the inequalities (2.49) and (2.50) are satisfied. Thus, by Theorem 2.4.5 we can conclude that the system (2.46) is ISS. In this simple example we also see that a transformation to the pure maximum case would have been equally simple. A two times application of the weak triangle inequality for the first row with $\eta = \alpha$ would have led to the pure maximization case. In this case the small gain condition may be expressed as a cycle condition (2.42), which just yields the conditions (2.49) and (2.50).

We would like to note that the application of the small gain condition from [54] will not help us to prove stability for this example, as can be seen from the following example.

Example 2.3.6. In order to apply the results from [45] we could (e.g., by using (2.19)) obtain estimates of the form

$$\begin{aligned} |x_1(t,0)| &\leq \beta_1(|x_1(0)|,t,0) + \gamma_{13}(||x_3||_{(t,0)}) + \gamma_1(||u||_{\infty}), \\ |x_2(t,0)| &\leq \beta_2(|x_2(0)|,t,0) + \gamma_{21}(||x_1||_{(t,0)}) + \gamma_{23}(||x_3||_{(t,0)}), \\ |x_3(t,0)| &\leq \beta_3(|x_3(0)|,t,0) + \gamma_{32}(||x_2||_{(t,0)}) + \gamma_3(||u||_{\infty}). \end{aligned}$$

With the gains from the previous example the corresponding gain matrix is

$$\Gamma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0.9 \\ 0.9 & 0 & 0.9 \\ 0 & 0.9 & 0 \end{pmatrix} ,$$

and in the summation case with linear gains the small gain condition is $\rho(\Gamma) < 1$, [54]. In our example $\rho(\Gamma) > 1.19$, so that using this criterion we cannot conclude ISS of the interconnection.

The previous examples motivate the use of the refined small gain condition for the case of different ISS characterizations of subsystems.

In particular, it will be shown that a mixed (or pure sum) ISS condition can always be reformulated as a maximum condition in such a way that the small gain property is preserved.

The following lemma recalls a fact, that was already noted in [126, Lemma 2.2.12].

Lemma 2.3.7. For any $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ the small gain condition $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma \not\geq id$ is equivalent to $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D} \not\geq id$.

Proof. Note that \mathcal{D} is a homeomorphism with inverse

$$v \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}^{-1}(v) := \left(\mathcal{D}_{1}^{-1}(v_{1}), \dots, \mathcal{D}_{n}^{-1}(v_{n})\right)^{T}.$$

By monotonicity of \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{D}^{-1} we have $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma(v) \not\geq v$ if and only if $\Gamma(v) \not\geq \mathcal{D}^{-1}(v)$. For any $w \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ define $v = \mathcal{D}(w)$. Then $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(w) \not\geq w$. This proves the equivalence.

For convenience let us introduce $\mu: \mathbb{R}^n_+ \times \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ defined by

$$\mu(w,v) := (\mu_1(w_1, v_1), \dots, \mu_n(w_n, v_n))^T, w \in \mathbb{R}^n_+, v \in \mathbb{R}^n_+,$$
(2.51)

where $\mu_i : \mathbb{R}^2_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is such that $\mu_i(w_i, v_i) := w_i + v_i$ for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ and $\mu_i(w_i, v_i) := \max\{w_i, v_i\}$ for $i \in I_{\max}$. The following counterpart of Lemma 13 in [54] provides the main technical step in the proof of main results.

Lemma 2.3.8. Assume that there exists an $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that the operator Γ as defined in (2.38) satisfies $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D} \not\geq id$ for a diagonal operator \mathcal{D} as defined in (2.44). Then there exists a $\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that for all $w, v \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}$,

$$w \le \mu(\Gamma(w), v) \tag{2.52}$$

implies $|w| \leq \phi(|v|)$.

Proof. Without loss of generality we assume $I_{\Sigma} = \{1, \ldots, p\}$ and $I_{\max} = I \setminus I_{\Sigma}$, see Remark 2.2.8, and hence Γ is as in (2.39). Fix any $v \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$. Note that for v = 0 there is nothing to show, as then $w \neq 0$ yields an immediate contradiction to the small gain condition. So assume $v \neq 0$.

We first show, that for those $w \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ satisfying (2.52) at least some components of w have to be bounded. To this end let $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ be defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(s) := \left(s_1 + \alpha^{-1}(s_1), \dots, s_p + \alpha^{-1}(s_p), s_{p+1}, \dots, s_n\right)^T$$

for $s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ and let $s^* := \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(v)$. Assume there exists $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n)^T$ satisfying (2.52) and such that $w_i > s_i^*, i = 1, \ldots, n$. In particular, for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ we have

$$s_i^* < w_i \le \gamma_{i1}(w_1) + \ldots + \gamma_{in}(w_n) + v_i$$
 (2.53)

and hence from the definition of s^* it follows that

$$s_i^* = v_i + \alpha^{-1}(v_i) < \gamma_{i1}(w_1) + \ldots + \gamma_{in}(w_n) + v_i.$$

And so $v_i < \alpha(\gamma_{i1}(w_1) + \ldots + \gamma_{in}(w_n))$. From (2.53) it follows

$$w_i \leq \gamma_{i1}(w_1) + \ldots + \gamma_{in}(w_n) + v_i < (id + \alpha) \circ (\gamma_{i1}(w_1) + \ldots + \gamma_{in}(w_n)).$$
(2.54)

Similarly, by the construction of w and the definition of s^* we have for $i \in I_{\max}$

$$v_i = s_i^* < w_i \le \max\{\gamma_{i1}(w_1), \dots, \gamma_{in}(w_n), v_i\},$$
(2.55)

and hence

$$w_i \le \max\{\gamma_{i1}(w_1), \dots, \gamma_{in}(w_n)\}.$$
 (2.56)

From (2.54), (2.56) we get $w \leq \mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma(w)$. By Lemma 2.3.7 this contradicts the assumption $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D} \geq id$. Hence some components of w are bounded by the respective components of $s^1 := s^*$. Iteratively we will prove that all components of w are bounded.

Fix a *w* satisfying (2.52). Then $w \neq s^1$ and so there exists an index set $I_1 \subset I$, possibly depending on *w*, such that $w_i > s_i^1$, $i \in I_1$ and $w_i \leq s_i^1$, for $i \in I_1^c = I \setminus I_1$. Note that by the first step I_1^c is nonempty. We now renumber the coordinates so that

$$w_i > s_i^1$$
 and $w_i \le \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ij}(w_j) + v_i, \ i = 1, \dots, p_1,$ (2.57)

$$w_i > s_i^1$$
 and $w_i \le \max\{\max_j \gamma_{ij}(w_j), v_i\}, i = p_1 + 1, \dots, n_1,$ (2.58)

$$w_i \le s_i^1 \text{ and } w_i \le \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ij}(w_j) + v_i, \ i = n_1 + 1, \dots, n_1 + p_2,$$
 (2.59)

$$w_i \le s_i^1 \text{ and } w_i \le \max\{\max_j \gamma_{ij}(w_j), v_i\}, i = n_1 + p_2 + 1, \dots, n,$$
 (2.60)

where $n_1 = |I_1|$, $p_1 + p_2 = p$. Using (2.59), (2.60) in (2.57), (2.58) we get

$$w_i \le \sum_{j=1}^{n_1} \gamma_{ij}(w_j) + \sum_{j=n_1+1}^n \gamma_{ij}(s_j^1) + v_i, \ i = 1, \dots, p_1,$$
(2.61)

$$w_i \le \max\{\max_{j=1,\dots,n_1} \gamma_{ij}(w_j), \max_{j=n_1+1,\dots,n_j} \gamma_{ij}(s_j^1), v_i\}, i = p_1 + 1, \dots, n_1.$$
(2.62)

Define $v^1 \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1}_+$ by

$$v_i^1 := \sum_{j=n_1+1}^n \gamma_{ij}(s_j^1) + v_i, \qquad i = 1, \dots, p_1,$$

$$v_i^1 := \max\{\max_{j=n_1+1,\dots,n} \gamma_{ij}(s_j^1), v_i\}, \quad i = p_1 + 1, \dots, n_1.$$

Now (2.61), (2.62) take the form:

$$w_i \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n_1} \gamma_{ij}(w_j) + v_i^1, \qquad i = 1, \dots, p_1,$$
 (2.63)

$$w_i \le \max\{\max_{j=1,\dots,n_1} \gamma_{ij}(w_j), v_i^1\}, \quad i = p_1 + 1,\dots,n_1.$$
 (2.64)

Let us represent $\Gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{I_1I_1} & \Gamma_{I_1I_1^c} \\ \Gamma_{I_1^cI_1} & \Gamma_{I_1^cI_1^c} \end{pmatrix}$ and define the maps $\Gamma_{I_1I_1} : \mathbb{R}^{n_1}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^{n_1}_+, \Gamma_{I_1I_1^c} : \mathbb{R}^{n-n_1}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^{n_1}_+, \Gamma_{I_1I_1^c} : \mathbb{R}^{n-n_1}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^{n-n_1}_+$ $\Gamma_{I_1^cI_1} : \mathbb{R}^{n_1}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^{n-n_1}_+$ and $\Gamma_{I_1^cI_1^c} : \mathbb{R}^{n-n_1}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^{n-n_1}_+$ analogous to Γ . Let

$$\mathcal{D}_{I_1}(s) := ((id + \alpha)(s_1), \dots, (id + \alpha)(s_{p_1}), s_{p_1+1}, \dots, s_{n_1})^T$$

From $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(s) \geq s$ for all $s \neq 0, s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ it follows by considering $s = (z^T, 0)^T$ that $\Gamma_{I_1I_1} \circ \mathcal{D}_{I_1}(z) \geq z$ for all $z \neq 0, z \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1}_+$. Using the same approach as for $w \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ it can be proved that some components of $w^1 = (w_1, \ldots, w_{n_1})^T$ are bounded by the respective components of $s^2 := \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{I_1}(v^1)$.

We proceed inductively, defining

$$I_{j+1} \subsetneqq I_j, \quad I_{j+1} := \{ i \in I_j : w_i > s_i^{j+1} \},$$
(2.65)

with $I_{j+1}^c := I \setminus I_{j+1}$ and

$$s^{j+1} := \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{I_j} \circ (\mu^j (\Gamma_{I_j I_j^c}(s_{I_j^c}^j), v_{I_j})),$$
(2.66)

where $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{I_j}$ is defined analogously to $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$. The map $\Gamma_{I_j I_j^c} : \mathbb{R}^{n-n_j}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^{n_j}_+$ acts analogously to Γ on vectors of the corresponding dimension, $s_{I_j^c}^j = (s_i^j)_{i \in I_j^c}$ is the restriction defined Section 1.1.4 and μ^j is appropriately defined similar to the definition of μ .

The nesting (2.65), (2.66) will end after at most n-1 steps: there exists a maximal $l \le n$, such that

$$I \supsetneq I_1 \supsetneq \dots \supsetneq I_l \neq \emptyset$$

and all components of w_{I_l} are bounded by the corresponding

$$s_{\varsigma} := \max\{s^*, R_{I_1}(s^2), \dots, R_{I_l}(s^{l+1})\} \\ := \begin{pmatrix} \max\{(s^*)_1, (R_{I_1}(s^2))_1, \dots, (R_{I_l}(s^{l+1}))_1\} \\ \vdots \\ \max\{(s^*)_n, (R_{I_1}(s^2))_n, \dots, (R_{I_l}(s^{l+1}))_n\} \end{pmatrix}$$

where R_{I_j} denotes the anti-projection $\mathbb{R}^{|I_j|}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ defined in Section 1.1.2. By the definition of μ for all $v \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ it holds

$$0 \le v \le \mu(\Gamma, \mathrm{id})(v) := \mu(\Gamma(v), v).$$

Applying $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ we have

$$0 \le v \le \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(v) \le \widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \circ (\mu(\Gamma, \mathrm{id}))(v) \le \dots \le [\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \circ \mu(\Gamma, \mathrm{id})]^n(v).$$
(2.67)

From (2.66) and (2.67) for w satisfying (2.52) we have $w \leq s_{\varsigma} \leq [\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \circ \mu(\Gamma, \mathrm{id})]^n(v)$. The term on the right-hand side does not depend on any particular choice of nesting of the index sets. Hence every w satisfying (2.52) also satisfies

$$w \leq \left[\tilde{\mathcal{D}} \circ \mu(\Gamma, \mathrm{id})\right]^n (|v|_{\max}, \dots, |v|_{\max})^T$$

and taking the maximum-norm on both sides yields $|w|_{\max} \le \phi(|v|_{\max})$ for some function ϕ of class \mathcal{K}_{∞} . For example, ϕ can be chosen as

$$\phi(r) := \max\{([\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \circ \mu(\Gamma, \mathrm{id})]^n(r, \ldots, r))_1, \ldots, ([\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \circ \mu(\Gamma, \mathrm{id})]^n(r, \ldots, r))_n\}.$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.

Remark 2.3.9. Note that if we use inequality $w \leq \Gamma(w) + v$ instead of $w \leq \mu(\Gamma(w), v)$ in Lemma 2.3.8, then the assertion of lemma does not holds in general, see [126, Example 2.5.3].

Ω -path

We also introduce the important notion of Ω -paths [52]. This concept is useful for the construction of Lyapunov functions and will also be instrumental in obtaining a better understanding of the relation between small gain conditions (2.41) and (2.40).

Definition 2.3.10 (Ω -path). A continuous path $\sigma \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}^{n}$ is called an Ω -path with respect to Γ , if

- (i) for each i, the function σ_i^{-1} is locally Lipschitz continuous on $(0,\infty)$;
- (ii) for every compact set $K \subset (0, \infty)$ there are finite constants $0 < K_1 < K_2$ such that for all points of differentiability of σ_i^{-1} and i = 1, ..., n we have

$$0 < K_1 \le (\sigma_i^{-1})'(r) \le K_2, \quad \forall r \in K;$$
 (2.68)

(iii) for all r > 0 it holds that

$$\Gamma(\sigma(r)) < \sigma(r). \tag{2.69}$$

By Theorem 2.3.11 the existence of an Ω -path σ follows from the small gain condition (2.41) provided that an irreducibility condition is satisfied. To define this notion we consider the directed graph $G(\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$ corresponding to Γ with nodes $\mathcal{V} = \{1, \ldots, n\}$. A pair $(i, j) \in \mathcal{V} \times \mathcal{V}$ is an edge in the graph if $\gamma_{ij} \neq 0$. Then, Γ is called irreducible, if the graph is strongly connected, see, e.g., the appendix in [54] for further discussions on this topic.

We note that if Γ is reducible, then it may be brought into upper block triangular form by a permutation of the indices

$$\Gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \Upsilon_{11} & \Upsilon_{12} & \dots & \Upsilon_{1d} \\ 0 & \Upsilon_{22} & \dots & \Upsilon_{2d} \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & \Upsilon_{dd} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.70)

where each block $\Upsilon_{jj} \in (\mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\})^{d_j \times d_j}$, j = 1, ..., d, is either irreducible or 0. Sufficient conditions for the existence of Ω -paths were proved in [52], [128] for a more general gain operator Γ . We specify these conditions for our case with mixed operator Γ in the following theorem:

Theorem 2.3.11. Let $\Gamma \in (\mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\})^{n \times n}$ be a gain matrix and $\Gamma : \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+} \to \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}$ be the corresponding matrix operator defined as in (2.45). Assume that one of the following assumptions is satisfied (*i*) Γ is linear and the spectral radius of Γ is less than one; (*ii*) Γ is irreducible and $\Gamma \not\geq id$; (*iii*) $I_{\max} = I$;

(iv) alternatively assume that Γ is bounded, i.e., $\Gamma \in ((\mathcal{K} \setminus \mathcal{K}_{\infty}) \cup \{0\})^{n \times n}$, and satisfies $\Gamma \ge 0$. Then there exists an Ω -path σ with respect to Γ . This path can be chosen piecewise linear.

For the proof see [52, Theorem 5.2]. Note that the construction of an Ω -path is not explicit there. Using the following lemma from [87] we can construct explicitly an Ω -path for the case of (iii) in Theorem 2.3.11 with a weaker property (2.69), i.e., such that an Ω -path satisfies:

$$\Gamma(\sigma(r)) \le \sigma(r) \text{ for all } r > 0. \tag{2.71}$$

Lemma 2.3.12. Let $I = I_{\text{max}}$. If Γ satisfies (2.41), then for all $s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ it holds that $\Gamma(s) \leq Q(s) := (Q_1(s), \ldots, Q_n(s))^T$ where

$$Q_i(s) := \max\{s_i, (\Gamma(s))_i, \dots, (\Gamma^{n-1}(s))_i\}.$$
(2.72)

For the proof see [87, Proposition 2.4]. For the construction we need the following lemma that shows how a \mathcal{K}_{∞} -function can be approximated by a smooth function.

Lemma 2.3.13. Consider a function $\theta \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ and a bounded and continuous function $\delta : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ with $\delta(0) = 0$ and $\delta(r) > 0$ for r > 0. Then there exists a function $\tilde{\theta} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ which is smooth on \mathbb{R}_+ and satisfies $|\theta(r) - \tilde{\theta}(r)| \leq \delta(\theta(r))$ for all $r \geq 0$ and $\frac{d}{dr}\tilde{\theta}(r) > 0$ for all r > 0.

For the proof see [66, Lemma B.2.1].

Proposition 2.3.14. Let $\Gamma \in (\mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\})^{n \times n}$ be a gain matrix. Assume that $I_{\max} = I$ and Γ satisfies (2.41). Then there exists an Ω -path σ with respect to Γ satisfying (i), (ii) in Definition 2.3.10 and (2.71). This path can be chosen piecewise linear.

Proof. Consider the map $Q : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ defined by $Q(x) := (Q_1(x), \ldots, Q_n(x))^T$ with Q_i from (2.72). From Lemma 2.3.12 the inequality $\Gamma(Q(x)) \leq Q(x)$ holds for all $x \geq 0$. Fix any positive vector a > 0 and consider $\sigma(t) := Q(at) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$. Obviously, $\Gamma(\sigma(t)) \leq \sigma(t)$ and by the definition of Q it follows that $\sigma_i \in \mathcal{K}_\infty$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Hence, σ satisfies the condition (2.71). As we can always estimate functions γ_{ij} by a smooth function applying Lemma 2.3.13 and as function σ is obtained through the composition of these functions, the condition (i) for an Ω -path in Definition 2.3.10 is satisfied. Furthermore, as σ is strictly increasing and locally Lipschitz continuous on $(0, \infty)$. Thus $(\sigma^{-1})'$ is positive and bounded on some set K and condition (ii) in Definition 2.3.10 is also satisfied. Piecewise linearity of σ follows from [127, Proposition 5.2].

Remark 2.3.15. Note that it will be enough for a construction of an ISS-Lyapunov function for an interconnected hybrid system to have an Ω -path that satisfies (2.71) instead of (2.69), see Theorem 2.4.11.

The following is an immediate corollary to Theorem 8.11 in [52], where the result is only implicitly contained.

Corollary 2.3.16. Assume that Γ defined as in (2.38) is irreducible. Then Γ satisfies the small gain condition if and only if there exists an Ω -path σ for $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma$.

Proof. The implication that the small gain condition guarantees the existence of an Ω -path is shown in [52]. For the converse direction assume that an Ω -path exists for $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma$ and that for a certain $s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+, s \neq 0$ we have $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma(s) \geq s$. By continuity and unboundedness of σ we may choose a $\tau > 0$ such that $\sigma(\tau) \geq s$ and $\sigma(\tau) \neq s$. Then $s \leq \mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma(s) \leq \mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma(\sigma(\tau)) < \sigma(\tau)$. This contradiction proves the statement.

2.3.3 From summation to maximization

Now, we use the previous considerations to show that an alternative approach is possible for the treatment of the mixed ISS formulation, which consists of the transforming of this formulation in a complete maximum formulation. Using the weak triangle inequality (2.43) iteratively, the conditions in (2.13) may be transformed into conditions of the form (2.14) with

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \beta_i(|x_i^0|, t, k) + \sum_{j, j \ne i} \gamma_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}) + \gamma_i(||u_i||_{(t,k)})$$
(2.73)

$$\leq \max\{\tilde{\beta}_{i}(|x_{i}^{0}|, t, k), \max_{j, j \neq i}\{\tilde{\gamma}_{ij}(\|x_{j}\|_{(t,k)})\}, \tilde{\gamma}_{i}(\|u_{i}\|_{(t,k)})\}$$

$$(2.74)$$

for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$. To get a general formulation we let j_1, \ldots, j_{p_i} denote the indices j for which $\gamma_{ij} \neq 0$. Choose auxiliary functions $\eta_{i0}, \ldots, \eta_{ip_i} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ and define $\chi_{i0} := (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i0})$ and $\chi_{il} = (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i0}^{-1}) \circ \ldots \circ (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i(l-1)}^{-1}) \circ (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{il}), l = 1, \ldots, p_i$, and $\chi_{i(p_i+1)} = (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i0}^{-1}) \circ \cdots \circ (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{ip_i}^{-1})$. Choose a permutation $\pi_i : \{0, 1, \ldots, p_i + 1\} \rightarrow \{0, 1, \ldots, p_i + 1\}$ and define

$$\beta_i := \chi_{i\pi_i(0)} \circ \beta_i, \quad \tilde{\gamma}_{ij_l} := \chi_{i\pi_i(l)} \circ \gamma_{ij_l}, \quad l = 1, \dots, p_i, \quad \tilde{\gamma}_i := \chi_{i\pi_i(p_i+1)} \circ \gamma_i, \quad (2.75)$$

and of course $\tilde{\gamma}_{ij} \equiv 0, j \notin \{j_1, \dots, j_{p_1}\}$. In this manner the inequalities (2.74) are valid and a maximum ISS formulation is obtained. Performing this for every $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ we obtain an operator $\tilde{\Gamma} : \mathbb{R}_n^+ \to \mathbb{R}_n^+$ defined by

$$\left(\tilde{\Gamma}_1(s),\ldots,\tilde{\Gamma}_n(s)\right)^T$$
, (2.76)

where the functions $\tilde{\Gamma}_i : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ are given by $\tilde{\Gamma}_i(s) := \max\{\tilde{\gamma}_{i1}(s_1), \ldots, \tilde{\gamma}_{in}(s_n)\}$ for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ and $\tilde{\Gamma}_i(s) := \max\{\gamma_{i1}(s_1), \ldots, \gamma_{in}(s_n)\}$ for $i \in I_{\max}$. Here, the $\tilde{\gamma}_{ij}$'s are given by (2.75), whereas the γ_{ij} 's are the original gains.

As it turns out, the permutation is not really necessary and it is sufficient to peel off the summands one after the other. We will now show that given a gain operator Γ with a mixed or pure sum formulation, which satisfies the small gain condition $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma \succeq id$, it is always possible to switch to a maximum formulation, which also satisfies the corresponding small gain condition $\tilde{\Gamma} \succeq id$. In the following statement p_i is to be understood as defined just after (2.74).

Proposition 2.3.17. Consider a gain operator Γ of the form (2.38). Then the following two statements are equivalent:

- (i) the small gain condition (2.45) is satisfied,
- (ii) for each $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ there exist $\eta_{i,0}, \ldots, \eta_{i,(p_i+1)} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$, such that the corresponding small gain operator $\tilde{\Gamma}$ satisfies the small gain condition (2.41).

Remark 2.3.18. We note that in the case that a system of the form (2.1) satisfies the mixed ISS condition (2.45) with operator Γ , then the construction in (2.73) shows that the ISS condition is also satisfied in the maximum sense with the operator $\tilde{\Gamma}$. On the other hand, the construction in the proof does not guarantee that, if the ISS condition is satisfied with gains from the operator $\tilde{\Gamma}$, i.e. in the maximum formulation, then it will also be satisfied for the original Γ the in mixed formulation. To the best of our knowledge, there is no sharp estimations, analogous to weak triangle inequality (2.43), that allow to majorize maximizations by summations and to obtain equivalence between small gain conditions corresponding to mixed and summation cases.

Proof. " \Rightarrow ": We will show the statement under the condition that Γ is irreducible. In the reducible case we may assume that Γ is in upper block triangular form (2.70). In each of the diagonal blocks we can perform the transformation described below and the gains in the off-diagonal blocks are of no importance for the small gain condition.

In the irreducible case we may apply Corollary 2.3.16 to obtain a continuous map $\sigma : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$, where $\sigma_i \in \mathcal{K}_\infty$ for every component function of σ and so that

$$\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma \circ \sigma(\tau) < \sigma(\tau), \quad \text{for all} \quad \tau > 0.$$
 (2.77)

Define the homeomorphism $T : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+, T : s \mapsto (\sigma_1(s_1), \dots, \sigma_n(s_n))$. Then $T^{-1} \circ \mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma \circ T \not\geq id$ and we have by (2.77) for $e = \sum_{i=1}^n e_i$, that

$$T(\tau e) = \sigma(\tau) > \mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma \circ \sigma(\tau) = \mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma \circ T(\tau e),$$

so that for all $\tau > 0$

$$T^{-1} \circ \mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma \circ T(\tau e) < \tau e \,. \tag{2.78}$$

We will show that $T^{-1} \circ \tilde{\Gamma} \circ T(\tau e) < \tau e$ for an appropriate choice of the functions η_{ij} . By the converse direction of Corollary 2.3.16 this shows that $T^{-1} \circ \tilde{\Gamma} \circ T \not\geq id$ and hence $\tilde{\Gamma} \not\geq id$ as desired. Consider now a row corresponding to $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ and let j_1, \ldots, j_{p_i} be the indices for which $\gamma_{ij} \neq 0$. For this row (2.78) implies

$$\sigma_i^{-1} \circ (\mathrm{id} + \alpha) \circ \left(\sum_{j, j \neq i} \gamma_{ij}(\sigma_j(r)) \right) < r \,, \quad \forall r > 0 \,, \tag{2.79}$$

or equivalently

$$(\mathrm{id} + \alpha) \circ \left(\sum_{j, j \neq i} \gamma_{ij} \circ \sigma_j \circ \sigma_i^{-1}\right) \circ \sigma_i(r) < \sigma_i(r), \quad \forall r > 0.$$

$$(2.80)$$

This shows that

$$(\mathrm{id} + \alpha) \circ \left(\sum_{j, j \neq i} \gamma_{ij} \circ \sigma_j \circ \sigma_i^{-1}\right) < \mathrm{id}, \quad \mathrm{on} (0, \infty).$$
 (2.81)

Note that this implies that $\left(\text{id} - \sum_{j,j \neq i} \gamma_{ij} \circ \sigma_j \circ \sigma_i^{-1} \right) \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ because $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$. We may therefore choose $\hat{\gamma}_{ij} > \gamma_{ij} \circ \sigma_j \circ \sigma_i^{-1}, j = j_1, \dots, j_{p_i}$ in such a manner that

$$\operatorname{id} - \sum_{l=1}^{p_i} \hat{\gamma}_{ij_l} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}.$$

Now, define for $l = 1, \ldots, p_i$

$$\eta_{il} := \left(\mathrm{id} - \sum_{p,p \leq l} \hat{\gamma}_{ij_p}
ight) \circ \hat{\gamma}_{ij_l}^{-1} \quad \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \,.$$

It is straightforward to check that

$$(\mathrm{id} + \eta_{il}) = \left(\mathrm{id} - \sum_{p,p < l} \hat{\gamma}_{ij_p}\right) \circ \hat{\gamma}_{ij_l}^{-1},$$
$$(\mathrm{id} + \eta_{il}^{-1}) = \left(\mathrm{id} - \sum_{p,p < l} \hat{\gamma}_{ij_p}\right) \circ \left(\mathrm{id} - \sum_{p,p \leq l} \hat{\gamma}_{ij_p}\right)^{-1}$$

With $\chi_{il} := (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i1}^{-1}) \circ \ldots \circ (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i(l-1)}^{-1}) \circ (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{il})$ it follows that

$$\chi_{il} \circ \gamma_{ij_l} \circ \sigma_{j_l} \circ \sigma_i^{-1} = (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i1}^{-1}) \circ \ldots \circ (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i,l-1}^{-1}) \circ (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{il}) \circ \gamma_{ij_l} \circ \sigma_{j_l} \circ \sigma_i^{-1}$$
$$= \hat{\gamma}_{ij_l}^{-1} \circ \gamma_{ij_l} \circ \sigma_{j_l} \circ \sigma_i^{-1} < \mathrm{id} .$$

This shows that it is possible to choose $\eta_{ij}, i \in I_{\Sigma}$ such that all the entries in $T^{-1} \circ \tilde{\Gamma} \circ T$ are smaller than the identity. This shows the assertion.

" \Leftarrow ": To show the converse direction let the small gain condition (2.41) be satisfied for the operator $\tilde{\Gamma}$. Consider $i \in I_{\Sigma}$.

We consider the following two cases for the permutation π used in (2.75). Define $q := \min\{\pi(0), \pi(p_i + 1)\}$. In the first case $\{\pi(0), \pi(p_i + 1)\} = \{p_i, p_i + 1\}$, i.e., $\pi(l) < q, \forall l \in \{1, \ldots, p_i\}$. Alternatively, the second case is $\exists l \in \{1, \ldots, p_i\} : \pi(l) > q$. We define $\alpha_i \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ by

$$\alpha_{i} := \begin{cases} \eta_{iq}^{-1} \circ \sum_{l,\pi(l)>q} \gamma_{ij_{l}} \circ \left(\sum_{j} \gamma_{ij}\right)^{-1}, & \text{if } \exists j \in \{1,\dots,p_{i}\} : \pi(j)>q, \\ \eta_{i,q-1} \circ \gamma_{i,j_{\pi^{-1}(q-1)}} \circ \left(\sum_{j} \gamma_{ij}\right)^{-1}, & \text{if } \forall j \in \{1,\dots,p_{i}\}, \quad \pi(j)(2.82)$$

Consider the *i*th row of $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma$ and the case $\exists j \in \{1, \ldots, p_i\} : \pi(j) > q$. (Note that for no $l \in \{1, \ldots, p_i\}$ we have $\pi(l) = q$).

$$(\mathrm{id} + \alpha_{i}) \circ \sum_{j} \gamma_{ij} = \sum_{j} \gamma_{ij} + \alpha_{i} \circ \sum_{j} \gamma_{ij}$$

$$= \sum_{j} \gamma_{ij} + \eta_{iq}^{-1} \circ \sum_{l,\pi(l)>q} \gamma_{ij_{l}} \circ \left(\sum_{j} \gamma_{ij}\right)^{-1} \circ \sum_{j} \gamma_{ij}$$

$$= \sum_{j} \gamma_{ij} + \eta_{iq}^{-1} \circ \sum_{l,\pi(l)>q} \gamma_{ij_{l}}$$

$$= \sum_{l,\pi(l)q} \gamma_{ij_{l}}.$$

$$(2.83)$$

Applying the weak triangle inequality (2.43) first to the rightmost sum in the last line of (2.83) and then to the remaining sum, we obtain

$$\sum_{l,\pi(l) < q} \gamma_{ij_l} + (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{iq}^{-1}) \circ \sum_{l,\pi(l) > q} \gamma_{ij_l} \leq \sum_{l,\pi(l) < q-1} \gamma_{ij_l} + \max\{(\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i,q-1}) \circ \gamma_{i,\pi^{-1}(q-1)}, (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i,q-1}^{-1}) \circ (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{iq}^{-1}) \circ \max_{l,\pi(l) > q} \{(\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i,q+1}^{-1}) \circ \ldots \circ (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i,\pi(l)-1}^{-1}) \circ (\mathrm{id} + \eta_{i,\pi(l)}) \circ \gamma_{ij_l}\}\} \leq \ldots \leq \max_l \{\chi_{i\pi(l)} \circ \gamma_{ij_l}\}.$$
 (2.84)

The last expression is the defining equation for $\widetilde{\Gamma}_i(s_1, \ldots, s_n) = \max_{l=1,\ldots,p_i} \{\chi_{i\pi(l)} \circ \gamma_{ij_l}(s_{j_l})\}$. Thus, from (2.83), (2.84) we obtain $\widetilde{\Gamma}_i \geq (\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma)_i$.

Consider now the case $\forall l \in \{1, \dots, p_i\}, \pi(l) < q$. A similar approach shows that $\widetilde{\Gamma}_i \geq (\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma)_i$. Following the same steps as in the first case we obtain

Again from (2.85), $\widetilde{\Gamma}_i \geq (\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma)_i$. Taking $\alpha = \min \alpha_i \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ it holds that $\widetilde{\Gamma} \geq \mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma$. Thus if $\widetilde{\Gamma} \not\geq id$, then $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma \not\geq id$.

2.4 Stability conditions

Now, we are going to use the small gain condition (2.45) to establish stability of an interconnection of hybrid systems. In particular, applying Lemma 2.3.8 we obtain that under the condition (2.45) ISS of a system of the form (2.5) follows. Furthermore, in Theorem 2.4.13 we illustrate a construction of an ISS-Lyapunov function of a system of the form (2.5) under the condition (2.45). Finally, we establish ISS of particular subclasses of hybrid systems under the mixed small gain condition.

2.4.1 Small gain theorems in terms of trajectories

To prove the stability results we follow similar steps as in the case of continuous systems [54], [126]. We first show that an interconnection of hybrid systems has the AG-property and is pre-GS using the result of Lemma 2.3.8. The following small gain theorems extend the results of [96], [126] and [54] to the case of an arbitrary number of interconnected hybrid subsystems.

Theorem 2.4.1. Assume that all subsystems in (2.1) are pre-GS and a gain matrix is given by $\Gamma = (\hat{\gamma}_{ij})_{n \times n}$ with $\hat{\gamma}_{ij}$ as in (2.15) and (2.16). If there exists a function $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that Γ satisfies (2.45), then the system (2.5) is pre-GS.

Proof. Let us take the supremum on both sides of (2.16) and (2.15) over $(\tau, l) \leq (t, k)$. For $i \in I_{\sum}$ we have

$$\|x_{i(t,k)}\|_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})} \le \sigma_i(|x^0|) + \sum_{j,j\neq i} \hat{\gamma}_{ij}(\|x_{j(t,k)}\|_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})}) + \hat{\gamma}_i(\|u\|_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})}),$$
(2.86)

and for $i \in I_{\max}$ it follows

$$\|x_{i(t,k)}\|_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})} \le \max\{\sigma_i(|x^0|), \max_{j,j\neq i} \hat{\gamma}_{ij}(\|x_{j(t,k)}\|_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})}), \hat{\gamma}_i(\|u\|_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})})\},$$
(2.87)

where $(\bar{\tau}, \bar{l}) := \max_{(\tau, l) \in \text{dom } x_i} (\tau, l)$. Let us denote $w := \left(\|x_{1(t,k)}\|_{(\bar{\tau}, \bar{l})}, \dots, \|x_{n(t,k)}\|_{(\bar{\tau}, \bar{l})} \right)^T$,

$$v := \begin{pmatrix} \mu_1(\sigma_1(|x^0|), \hat{\gamma}_1(||u||_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})})) \\ \vdots \\ \mu_n(\sigma_n(|x^0|), \hat{\gamma}_n(||u||_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})})) \end{pmatrix} = \mu(\sigma(|x^0|), \hat{\gamma}(||u||_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})}))$$

where we use notations μ and μ_i defined in (2.51), and denote $\sigma := (\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n)^T$, $\hat{\gamma} := (\hat{\gamma}_1, \ldots, \hat{\gamma}_n)^T$. From (2.86), (2.87) we obtain $w \le \mu(\Gamma(w), v)$. Then, by Lemma 2.3.8 there exists a function $\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\|x_{1(t,k)}\|_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})},\ldots,\|x_{n(t,k)}\|_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})})^{T}\| &\leq \phi(\|\mu(\sigma(|x^{0}|),\hat{\gamma}(\|u\|_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})}))\|) \\ &\leq \phi(2|\sigma(|x^{0}|)|) + \phi(2|\hat{\gamma}(\|u\|_{(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})})\|) \end{aligned}$$
(2.88)

for all $(t, k) \in \text{dom } x$. Hence, for every initial condition and essentially bounded input u the solution of the system (2.5) exists and is bounded, since the right-hand side of (2.88) does not depend on t, k. The estimate for pre-GS in terms of summations is then given by (2.88).

As we check in Theorem 2.4.1 small gain condition (2.45) only, it seems that the theorem also holds if all σ_i in (2.16) and (2.15) are given as summands or arguments of maximization with respect to the rest of gains, i.e. in the case

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \sigma_i(|x_i^0|) + \sum_{j=1, j \ne i}^n \hat{\gamma}_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}) + \hat{\gamma}_i(||u||_{(t,k)}), \forall (t,k) \in \operatorname{dom} x_i,$$

 $i \in I_{\Sigma}$, and

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \sigma_i(|x_i^0|) + \max\{\max_{j,j\neq i} \hat{\gamma}_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}), \hat{\gamma}_i(||u||_{(t,k)})\}, \forall (t,k) \in \operatorname{dom} x_i,$$

or

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \max\{\sigma_i(|x_i^0|), \sum_{j=1, j \ne i}^n \hat{\gamma}_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}) + \hat{\gamma}_i(||u||_{(t,k)})\}, \forall (t,k) \in \operatorname{dom} x_i\}$$

 $i \in I_{\Sigma}$, and

$$|x_i(t,k)| \le \max\{\sigma_i(|x_i^0|), \max_{j,j \ne i} \hat{\gamma}_{ij}(||x_j||_{(t,k)}), \hat{\gamma}_i(||u||_{(t,k)})\}, \forall (t,k) \in \operatorname{dom} x_i$$

However, in this case we cannot apply Lemma 2.3.8 to obtain GS-estimation (2.88), see Remark 2.3.9. Thus this question is still open.

Lemma 2.4.2. Let $s : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ defined on the time domain dom *s* be continuous between the jumps and bounded. Then

$$\limsup_{(t,k)\in dom\,s,\,t+k\to\infty} s(t,k) = \limsup_{t+k\to\infty} \|s_{[(t/2,[k/2]),\lim_{\tau+j\to\infty}(\tau,j)]}\|_{\infty}.$$

Proof. The proof goes along the lines of the proof of a similar result for continuous systems in Lemma 3.2 in [54], but instead of the time t we consider the points (t, k) of the time domain. Let $\limsup_{(t,k)\in \text{dom } s, t+k\to\infty} s(t,k) = a \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ and $\limsup_{t+k\to\infty} \|s_{[(t/2,[k/2]),\lim_{\tau+j\to\infty}(\tau,j)]}\|_{\infty} = b \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$.

 $(t,k)\in \operatorname{dom} s, t+k\to\infty$ Note that we have

$$s(t,k) \le \|s_{[(t/2,[k/2]),\lim_{\tau + i \to \infty} (\tau,j)]}\|$$

for all $t, k \ge 0$. Thus we obtain that $a \le b$ by taking \limsup on both sides. It remains to show that $a \ge b$. For all $\epsilon \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$, $\epsilon > 0$ there exist $T_a, T_b \ge 0$ such that

$$\forall t+k \ge T_a: \qquad \qquad \sup_{t+k \ge T_a} s(t,k) \le a+\epsilon, \tag{2.89}$$

$$\forall t + k \ge T_b: \qquad \sup_{t+k \ge T_b} \|s_{[(t/2, [k/2]), \lim_{\tau+i \to \infty} (\tau, j)]}\| \le b + \epsilon.$$
 (2.90)

If $s(\tilde{t}, \tilde{j}) \leq a + \epsilon$ for all $\tilde{t} + \tilde{j} \geq t + k$, then $\|s_{[(\tilde{t}/2, [\tilde{k}/2]), \lim_{\tau+j\to\infty}(\tau, j)]}\| \leq a + \epsilon$ for $\tilde{t} + \tilde{j} \geq 2(t+k+1)$. Thus we obtain $a \geq b$.

In the following small gain theorems we require additionally that all the subsystems have the same jump set $D_i = D$. According to (2.6), this additional condition implies that the subsystems can jump only simultaneously. This means, in particular, that the gains $\tilde{\gamma}_{ii} = 0$ (resp. $\gamma_{ii} = 0$) for all $i \in \{1 \dots, n\}$. In Remark 2.4.7 and Example 2.4.8 we explain the necessity of this requirement.

Theorem 2.4.3. Assume that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that each subsystem of (2.1) has the AG property and that solutions of the system (2.5) exist, are bounded and some of them are complete. Let the gain matrix Γ be given by $\Gamma = (\widetilde{\gamma}_{ij})_{n \times n}$ with $\widetilde{\gamma}_{ij}$ from (2.17) and (2.18). If there exists a function $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that Γ satisfies (2.45), then system (2.5) satisfies the AG property.

If there is no complete solution of (2.5), then the system (2.5) is AG by definition.

Proof. Let (τ, l) be an arbitrary initial point of the time domain. From the definition of the AG property we have that any solution of (2.1) satisfies for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$

$$\lim_{t,k)\in\operatorname{dom} x_i,t+k\to\infty} |x_i(t,k)| \le \sum_{j,j\neq i} \widetilde{\gamma}_{ij}(\|x_{j[(\tau,l),\lim_{\bar{\tau}+\bar{l}\to\infty}(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})]}\|_{\infty}) + \widetilde{\gamma}_i(\|u\|_{\infty})$$
(2.91)

and for $i \in I_{\max}$ it follows

(

$$\lim_{(t,k)\in\operatorname{dom} x_i,t+k\to\infty} |x_i(t,k)| \le \max\{\max_{j,j\neq i}\widetilde{\gamma}_{ij}(\|x_{j[(\tau,l),\lim_{\bar{\tau}+\bar{l}\to\infty}(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})]}\|_{\infty}),\widetilde{\gamma}_i(\|u\|_{\infty})\}.$$
(2.92)

Then, from Lemma 3.6 in [28] it follows for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ that

$$\lim_{(t,k)\in\operatorname{dom} x_i,t+k\to\infty} |x_i(t,k)| \le \sum_{j,j\neq i} \widetilde{\gamma}_{ij}(\limsup_{\tau+l\to\infty} \|x_{j[(\tau,l),\lim_{\bar{\tau}+\bar{l}\to\infty}(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})]}\|_{\infty}) + \widetilde{\gamma}_i(\|u\|_{\infty})$$
(2.93)

and for $i \in I_{\max}$

$$\lim_{(t,k)\in\operatorname{dom} x_i,t+k\to\infty} |x_i(t,k)| \le \max\{\max_{j,j\neq i} \widetilde{\gamma}_{ij}(\limsup_{\tau+l\to\infty} \|x_{j[(\tau,l),\lim_{\bar{\tau}+\bar{l}\to\infty}(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})]}\|_{\infty}), \widetilde{\gamma}_i(\|u\|_{\infty})\}.$$
(2.94)

Since all solutions of (2.1) are bounded and continuous between the jumps, the following holds by Lemma 2.4.2:

$$\lim_{\substack{(t,k)\in \operatorname{dom} x_i,\\t+k\to\infty}} \sup_{|x_i(t,k)| = \limsup_{\tau+l\to\infty} (\|x_{i[(\tau,l),\lim_{\bar{\tau}+\bar{l}\to\infty}(\bar{\tau},\bar{l})]}\|_{\infty}) =: l_i(x_i).$$

By this property from (2.93) for $i \in I_{\sum}$ it follows

$$l_i(x_i) \le \sum_{j,j \ne i} \widetilde{\gamma}_{ij}(l_j(x_j)) + \widetilde{\gamma}_i(\|u\|_{\infty})$$

and for $i \in I_{\text{max}}$ from (2.94) it follows

 $l_i(x_i) \le \max\{\max_{j,j \ne i} \widetilde{\gamma}_{ij}(l_j(x_j)), \widetilde{\gamma}_i(\|u\|_{\infty})\}.$

Using Lemma 2.3.8 for $\Gamma = (\widetilde{\gamma}_{ij})_{n \times n}$, $w_i := l_i(x_i)$ and $v_i := \widetilde{\gamma}_i(||u||_{\infty})$ we conclude

$$\lim_{(t,k)\in \operatorname{dom} x, t+k\to\infty} |x(t,k)| \le \phi(|(\widetilde{\gamma}_1(||u||_{\infty}), \dots, \widetilde{\gamma}_n(||u||_{\infty}))^T|)$$
(2.95)

for some ϕ of class \mathcal{K}_{∞} , which is the desired AG property.

Remark 2.4.4. Boundedness of solutions of (2.5) is essential, otherwise the assertion is not true, see *Example 14 in [54].*

The following theorem extends a result in [96]. In particular, in Theorem 1 in [96] it was shown that an interconnection of two hybrid systems that are ISS in terms of maximizations is ISS under the small gain condition (2.41). Here, we show that the same holds in terms of mixed formulation of ISS under the small gain condition (2.45) for an arbitrary finite number of hybrid systems.

Theorem 2.4.5. Consider an interconnected system of the form (2.5). Assume that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that the set $\{f(x, u) : u \in U \cap \epsilon \mathbb{B}\}$ is convex for each $x \in \chi, \epsilon > 0$. If all the subsystems (2.1) are ISS and there exists a function $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that a corresponding gain matrix Γ satisfies $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(s) \geq s, \forall s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ \setminus \{0\}$, then the system (2.5) is ISS.

Proof. The proof follows the same steps as the proof of a similar theorem for continuous systems in [54, Theorem 4.4].

By Remark 2.2.5 and Theorem 2.2.7, since each subsystem is ISS, they are pre-GS with gains $\hat{\gamma}_{ij} \leq \gamma_{ij}$ and have the AG property with gains $\tilde{\gamma}_{ij} \leq \gamma_{ij}$. By Theorem 2.4.1 the whole interconnection (2.5) is pre-GS and thus all solutions are bounded.

Then Theorem 2.4.3 implies that the system (2.5) has the AG property. From global pre-stability of (2.5) 0-input pre-stability follows, see Remark 2.2.5.

ISS of (2.5) follows then by Theorem 2.2.7.

Remark 2.4.6. In comparison to Theorem 1 in [96], we require additionally the convexity of f(x, u) in Theorem 2.4.5. This is due to the fact that we use in our proof that ISS is equivalent to 0-input prestability and the AG property. To the best of our knowledge this property holds under the convexity assumption on f(x, u), see [28, Thereom 3.1].

Remark 2.4.7. If we drop the requirements $D_i = D$ in Theorem 2.4.3 and Theorem 2.4.5 the assertion is not true, because otherwise it may happen for some $(x, u) \in C_i$ that $(x, u) \notin C$. According to our definition of the interconnection (2.5) this allows for a situation that in one of the solutions one subsystem undergoes infinitely many jumps and the subsystem *i* is "frozen". This implies that β never tends to zero though *k* tends to infinity, see the following example.

Example 2.4.8. Consider an interconnection of two hybrid systems Σ_1 and Σ_2 :

$$\Sigma_{1} : \begin{cases} \dot{x}_{1} = -x_{1} + \frac{1}{2}x_{2} =: f_{1}(x_{1}, x_{2}), & (x_{1}, x_{2}) \in C_{1} = \{(s_{1}, s_{2}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2} : s_{1} \ge 1\}, \\ x_{1}^{+} = \frac{1}{2}x_{1} =: g_{1}(x_{1}, x_{2}), & (x_{1}, x_{2}) \in D_{1} = \{(s_{1}, s_{2}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2} : s_{1} \le 1\}, \end{cases}$$
(2.96)

$$\Sigma_{2}: \begin{cases} \dot{x}_{2} = -x_{2} + \frac{1}{2}x_{1} =: f_{2}(x_{1}, x_{2}), & (x_{1}, x_{2}) \in C_{2} = \{(s_{1}, s_{2}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2} : s_{2} \ge 1\}, \\ x_{2}^{+} = \frac{1}{2}x_{2} =: g_{2}(x_{1}, x_{2}), & (x_{1}, x_{2}) \in D_{2} = \{(s_{1}, s_{2}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2} : s_{2} \le 1\}. \end{cases}$$
(2.97)

It can be easily shown that Σ_1 and Σ_2 have the AG-property with $\gamma_{12} = \gamma_{21} = \frac{1}{2}id$. Let us now describe their interconnection Σ as in (2.5):

$$\Sigma: \begin{cases} \dot{x} = (f_1, f_2)^T, & x \in C = C_1 \cap C_2 = \{(s_1, s_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : s_1, s_2 \ge 1\}, \\ x^+ = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ \frac{1}{2}x_2 \\ \frac{1}{2}x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \frac{1}{2}x_1 \\ \frac{1}{2}x_2 \end{pmatrix}, & x_1 \ge 1, x_2 \ge 1, \\ \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}x_1 \\ \frac{1}{2}x_2 \\ \frac{1}{2}x_1 \\ \frac{1}{2}x_2 \end{pmatrix}, & x_1 \le 1, x_2 \le 1. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.98)$$

The cycle condition (2.42) corresponding to the small gain condition (2.45) is satisfied: $\gamma_{12} \circ \gamma_{21} = \frac{1}{4}id < id$. Now, if we take initial conditions $x_1^0 > x_2^0 > 1$, then the trajectories of x_1 and x_2 are at the



Figure 2.3: Trajectories of the subsystems Σ_1 and Σ_2 .

beginning continuous, see Figure 2.3 for $x_1^0 = 5$, $x_2^0 = 3$. At some time instant t^* , the trajectory of x_2 reaches D_2 , i.e. $x_2 \leq 1$ and subsystem Σ_2 begins to jump infinitely many times according to (2.98), i.e., $x_1^+(t^*, l) = x_1^+(t^*, 0)$ and $x_2^+ = (t^*, l) = \frac{1}{2}x_2^+(t^*, l-1)$ for $l \geq 1$. Thus, with the number of jumps l tending to infinity, the trajectory of x_2 stays in D_2 and tends to zero, and trajectory of x_1 stays in C and is constant. Thus, the overall trajectory $x = (x_1, x_2)^T$ does not have the AG property. Note, however, that it is pre-GS.

Now, according to Theorem 2.4.5, to establish input-to-state stability of the logistics network described as in (1.55) we need first to verify whether all logistics locations are ISS and to find their ISS estimates (2.13)-(2.14). Then, if their cooperation structure given by the matrix Γ satisfies the mixed small gain condition $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(s) \geq s$, $\forall s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ \setminus \{0\}$, then the logistics network is ISS.

From the practical point of view, it is easier to find first an ISS-Lyapunov function for the individual location. To establish ISS of the whole network in this case one needs a similar small gain theorem in terms of ISS-Lyapunov function. In the following section we prove such a theorem.

2.4.2 Construction of ISS-Lyapunov functions for interconnected hybrid systems

In this section we show how an ISS-Lyapunov function for an interconnected system of the form (2.5) can be constructed using the small gain condition (2.45). This allows to apply Proposition 2.2.12 to deduce ISS of (2.5).

First, we recall some known auxiliary results. The following lemma shows a property of the Clarke's gradient in the case of maximization.

Lemma 2.4.9. Let q_i be Lipschitz in some neighbourhood of x, and $q(x) := \max_{1 \le i \le n} q_i(x)$. Then q is Lipschitz in this neighbourhood, with $\partial q(x) \subset conv \left\{ \bigcup_{i \in I(x)} \partial q_i(x) \right\}$, where $I(x) := \{i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\} : q_i(x) = q(x)\}$.

For the proof see [34, p.83] and references therein.

Lemma 2.4.10. [*The chain rule*] Let $Q_1 : X \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be Lipschitz near $x, Q_2 : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be Lipschitz near $Q_1(x)$. Then the function $Q := Q_2 \circ Q_1$ is Lipschitz near x, and the following holds:

$$\partial Q(x) \subset \overline{conv} \{ \partial \langle \omega, Q_1(x) \rangle (x) : \omega \in \partial Q_2(Q_1(x)) \}$$

where \overline{conv} signifies the closed convex hull.

For the proof see [34, Theorem 2.5].

Now, consider the matrix Γ obtained from the matrix Γ by adding external gains γ_i as the last column and let the map $\overline{\Gamma} : \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ be defined by:

$$\overline{\Gamma}(s,r) := \{\overline{\Gamma}_1(s,r), \dots, \overline{\Gamma}_n(s,r)\}$$
(2.99)

for $s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ and $r \in \mathbb{R}_+$, where $\overline{\Gamma}_i : \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is given by $\overline{\Gamma}_i(s, r) := \gamma_{i1}(s_1) + \dots + \gamma_{in}(s_n) + \gamma_i(r)$ for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ and by $\overline{\Gamma}_i(s, r) := \max\{\gamma_{i1}(s_1), \dots, \gamma_{in}(s_n), \gamma_i(r)\}$ for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$.

The following theorem establishes ISS of an interconnected hybrid system of the form (2.5) under the existence of an Ω -path with respect to Γ and shows a construction of an ISS-Lyapunov function.

Theorem 2.4.11. Consider a system of the form (2.5) that is an interconnection of subsystems (2.1). Assume that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that each subsystem *i* of (2.1) has an ISS-Lyapunov function V_i with corresponding ISS-Lyapunov gains $\gamma_{ij}, \gamma_i, i, j = 1, ..., n$ as in (2.33)-(2.36). Let $\overline{\Gamma}$ be defined as in (2.99). Assume that there exists an Ω -path σ with respect to Γ and a function $\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that

$$\overline{\Gamma}(\sigma(r), \phi(r)) \le \sigma(r), \quad \forall r > 0.$$
(2.100)

Then the system (2.5) is ISS and an ISS-Lyapunov function is given by

$$V(x) := \max_{i=1,\dots,n} \sigma_i^{-1}(V_i(x_i)).$$
(2.101)

Proof. We apply the properties of an Ω -path to show that the function V constructed in (2.101) satisfies (2.20)-(2.22).

Without loss of generality, the gains γ_{ij} can be assumed to be smooth on \mathbb{R}_+ , see Lemma 2.3.13. Define $\psi_1(|x|) := \min_{i=1,\dots,n} \sigma_i^{-1}(\psi_{i1}(L_1|x|))$ and $\psi_2(|x|) := \max_{i=1,\dots,n} \sigma_i^{-1}(\psi_{i2}(L_2|x|))$ for some suitable positive constants L_1, L_2 that depend on the the norm $|\cdot|$. For example if $|\cdot|$ denotes the maximum norm, then one can take $L_1 = L_2 = 1$. By this choice the condition (2.20) is satisfied. Define the gain of the whole system by

$$\gamma(|u|) := \max_{j} \{ \phi^{-1}(\gamma_j(|u|)) \}.$$
(2.102)

Consider any $x \neq 0$, since the case x = 0 is obvious. Define by

$$\hat{I} := \{ i \in \{1, \dots, n\} : V(x) = \sigma_i^{-1}(V_i(x_i)) \ge \max_{j, j \neq i} \sigma_j^{-1}(V_j(x_j)) \}$$
(2.103)

the set of indices i for which the maximum in (2.101) is attained.

Note that $x_i \neq 0$ for $i \in \hat{I}$. Fix $i \in \hat{I}$. If $V(x) \geq \gamma(|u|)$, then by (2.102) it holds $\phi(V(x)) \geq \gamma_i(|u|)$ and from (2.100), (2.103) we have for $i \in I_{\max}$

$$V_i(x_i) = \sigma_i(V(x)) \geq \max\{\max_{\substack{j,j\neq i}} \gamma_{ij}(\sigma_j(V(x))), \phi(V(x))\} \\ \geq \max\{\max_{\substack{j,j\neq i}} \gamma_{ij}(V_j(x_j)), \gamma_i(|u|)\}$$

and for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$

$$V_i(x_i) = \sigma_i(V(x)) \geq \sum_{\substack{j, j \neq i \\ j, j \neq i}} \gamma_{ij}(\sigma_j(V(x))) + \phi(V(x))$$
$$\geq \sum_{\substack{j, j \neq i \\ j, j \neq i}} \gamma_{ij}(V_j(x_j)) + \gamma_i(|u|).$$
To show (2.21) assume $(x, u) \in C$. As V is obtained through maximization (2.101), by Lemma 2.4.9 we have that

$$\partial V(x) \subset \operatorname{conv}\left\{\bigcup_{i \in \hat{I}} \partial [\sigma_i^{-1} \circ V_i \circ P_i](x)\right\},\tag{2.104}$$

where $P_i(x) = x_i$. Thus, we can use the properties of σ_i and V_i to estimate $\langle \zeta, f(x, u) \rangle$, $\zeta \in \partial V$. In particular, by the chain rule for Lipschitz continuous functions in Lemma 2.4.10, we have

$$\partial(\sigma_i^{-1} \circ V_i)(x_i) \subset \{ c\zeta_i : c \in \partial \sigma_i^{-1}(y), y = V_i(x_i), \zeta_i \in \partial V_i(x_i) \},$$
(2.105)

where c is bounded away from zero due to (2.68). Applying (2.34) we obtain for all $\zeta_i \in \partial V_i(x_i)$ that

$$\langle \zeta_i, f_i(x, u) \rangle \le -\alpha_i(V_i(x_i)). \tag{2.106}$$

To get an estimate on the right-hand side of (2.106) independent on *i*, define for $\rho > 0$, $\tilde{\alpha}_i(\rho) := c_{\rho,i}\alpha_i(\rho) > 0$, where the constant $c_{\rho,i} := K_1$ with K_1 corresponding to the set $K := \{x_i \in \chi_i : \rho/2 \le |x_i| \le 2\rho\}$ given by (2.68). And define $\hat{\alpha}(r) := \min\{\tilde{\alpha}_i(V_i(x_i)) | |x| = r, V(x) = \sigma_i^{-1}(V_i(x_i))\} > 0$ for r > 0. Thus, using (2.105), (2.106) for all $\zeta \in \partial[\sigma_i^{-1} \circ V_i](x_i)$ we obtain

$$\langle \zeta, f_i(x, u) \rangle \le -\hat{\alpha}(|x|). \tag{2.107}$$

The same argument can be applied for all $i \in \hat{I}$. Note that $x_i \neq 0$ for $i \in \hat{I}$. Let us now return to $\zeta \in \partial V(x)$. From (2.104) for any $\zeta \in \partial V(x)$ we have that $\zeta = \sum_{i \in \hat{I}} \delta_i c_i \zeta_i$ for suitable $\delta_i \geq 0$, $\sum_{i \in \hat{I}} \delta_i = 1$, and with $\zeta_i \in \partial (V_i \circ P_i)(x)$ and $c_i \in \partial \sigma_i^{-1}(V_i(x_i))$. Using (2.107) and that $c_i > 0$ due to (2.68), it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \zeta, f(x,u) \rangle &= \sum_{i \in \hat{I}} \delta_i \left\langle c_i \zeta_i, f(x,u) \right\rangle = \sum_{i \in \hat{I}} \delta_i \left\langle c_i P_i(\zeta_i), f_i(x,u) \right\rangle \\ &\leq -\sum_{i \in \hat{I}} \delta_i \hat{\alpha}(|x|) \leq -\hat{\alpha}(|x|) \leq -\hat{\alpha} \circ \psi_2^{-1} \circ V(x). \end{aligned}$$

Thus condition (2.21) is satisfied with $\alpha := \hat{\alpha} \circ \psi_2^{-1}$. To show (2.22) assume that $(x, u) \in D$ now. Define

$$\lambda(t) = \max_{i} \{\sigma_i^{-1} \circ \lambda_i \circ \sigma_i(t)\}$$
(2.108)

for all t > 0. Note that $\sigma_i^{-1} \circ \lambda_i \circ \sigma_i(t) < \sigma_i^{-1} \circ \sigma_i(t) = t$ for all t > 0 as $\lambda_i(t) < t$. Thus $\lambda(t) < t$ for all t > 0. Let us show that such λ satisfies (2.22). The condition (2.36) for an ISS-Lyapunov function of subsystem *i* implies for $(x, u) \in D_i$

$$V(g(x,u)) = \max_{i} \sigma_{i}^{-1} \circ V_{i}(g_{i}(x,u)) \leq \max_{i} \sigma_{i}^{-1} \circ \lambda_{i}(V_{i}(x_{i}))$$

$$= \max_{i} \sigma_{i}^{-1} \circ \lambda_{i} \circ \sigma_{i} \circ \sigma_{i}^{-1}(V_{i}(x_{i})) = \lambda \circ \max_{i} \sigma_{i}^{-1}(V_{i}(x_{i})) = \lambda(V(x)).$$
(2.109)

Thus (2.22) is also satisfied and hence V is an ISS-Lyapunov function of the interconnected system (2.5). \Box

In the following theorem we show how for an irreducible Γ and a corresponding Ω -path a function $\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ can be constructed such that condition (2.100) is satisfied and thus the system is ISS.

Theorem 2.4.12. Assume that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that each subsystem of (2.1) has an ISS-Lyapunov function V_i and the corresponding gain matrix is given by (2.99). If Γ is irreducible and if there exists $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ as in (2.44) such that $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(s) \not\geq s$ for all $s \neq 0, s \geq 0$ is satisfied, then the whole system (2.5) is ISS and an ISS-Lyapunov function is given by $V(x) = \max_{i=1,...,n} \sigma_i^{-1}(V_i(x_i))$, where $\sigma \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}^n$ is an arbitrary Ω -path with respect to $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma$.

Proof. Recall that by Lemma 2.3.7 from $\Gamma \circ D \not\geq id$ it follows $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma \not\geq id$. Furthermore, from the irreducibility of Γ it follows the irreducibility of $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma$. Then by (ii) of Theorem 2.3.11 there exists an Ω -path σ . From the structure of \mathcal{D} it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma_i &> (\mathrm{id} + \alpha) \circ \Gamma_i(\sigma), & i \in I_{\Sigma}, \\ \sigma_i &> \Gamma_i(\sigma), & i \in I_{\max} \end{aligned}$$

The irreducibility of Γ ensures that $\Gamma(\sigma)$ is unbounded in all components. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ be such that for all $r \geq 0$ the inequality

$$\alpha(\Gamma_i(\sigma(r))) \ge \max_{i=1,\dots,n} \gamma_i(\phi(r))$$
(2.110)

holds for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ and

$$\Gamma_i(\sigma(r)) \ge \max_{i=1,\dots,n} \gamma_i(\phi(r)) \tag{2.111}$$

for $i \in I_{\text{max}}$. Note that such ϕ always exists and can be chosen as follows. For any $\gamma_i \in \mathcal{K}$ we choose $\tilde{\gamma}_i \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that $\tilde{\gamma}_i \geq \gamma_i$. Then ϕ can be taken as

$$\phi(r) := \frac{1}{2} \min\{\min_{i \in I_{\Sigma}, j \in I} \tilde{\gamma}_j^{-1}(\alpha(\Gamma_i(\sigma(r)))), \min_{i \in I_{\max}, j \in I} \tilde{\gamma}_j^{-1}(\Gamma_i(\sigma(r)))\}.$$

Note that ϕ is a \mathcal{K}_{∞} function since the minimum over \mathcal{K}_{∞} functions is again of class \mathcal{K}_{∞} . Then, using (2.110), we have for all $r > 0, i \in I_{\Sigma}$ that

$$\sigma_{i}(r) > \mathcal{D}_{i} \circ \Gamma_{i}(\sigma(r)) = \Gamma_{i}(\sigma(r)) + \alpha(\Gamma_{i}(\sigma(r)))$$

$$\geq \Gamma_{i}(\sigma(r)) + \gamma_{i}(\phi(r)) = \overline{\Gamma}_{i}(\sigma(r), \phi(r))$$

and, using (2.111), for all $r > 0, i \in I_{\max}$

$$\sigma_i(r) > \mathcal{D}_i \circ \Gamma_i(\sigma(r)) = \Gamma_i(\sigma(r)) \ge \max\{\Gamma_i(\sigma(r)), \gamma_i(\phi(r))\} = \overline{\Gamma}_i(\sigma(r), \phi(r))$$

Thus $\sigma(r) > \overline{\Gamma}(\sigma(r), \phi(r))$ and the assertion follows from Theorem 2.4.11.

The irreducibility assumption on Γ means, in particular, that the graph representing the interconnection structure of the whole system is strongly connected. To treat the reducible case we consider an approach using the irreducible components of Γ . Recall that if a matrix is reducible, it can be transformed to an upper block triangular form via a permutation of the indices.

Theorem 2.4.13. Assume that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that each subsystem of (2.1) has an ISS-Lyapunov function V_i and the corresponding gain matrix is given by (2.99). If there exists a function $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ as in (2.44) such that $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(s) \not\geq s$ for all $s \neq 0, s \geq 0$ is satisfied, then the whole system (2.5) is ISS. Moreover, there exist an Ω -path σ , a function $\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ satisfying $\overline{\Gamma}(\sigma(r), \phi(r)) < \sigma(r), \forall r > 0$ and an ISS-Lyapunov function for the whole system (2.5) is given by

$$V(x) = \max_{i=1,\dots,n} \sigma_i^{-1}(V_i(x_i)).$$

Proof. Again, by Lemma 2.3.7 we have that $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma(s) \not\geq s$ for all $s \neq 0, s \geq 0$ holds. After a renumbering of the subsystems we can assume that $\overline{\Gamma}$ is of the form (2.70). Let D be the corresponding diagonal operator that contains id or id $+\alpha$ on the diagonal depending on the new enumeration of the subsystems. Let the state x be partitioned into $z_i \in \mathbb{R}^{d_i}$ where d_i is the size of the *i*th diagonal block Υ_{ii} , $i = 1, \ldots, d$. Consider the subsystems Σ_i of the whole system (2.5) with the states

$$z_j := (x_{q_j+1}^T, x_{q_j+2}^T, \dots, x_{q_{j+1}}^T)^T,$$

where $q_j = \sum_{l=1}^{j-1} d_l$, with the convention that $q_1 = 0$. So the subsystems \sum_j correspond exactly to the strongly connected components of the interconnection graph. Note that each $\Upsilon_{jj}, j = 1, \ldots, d$ satisfies the small gain condition of the form $\Upsilon_{jj} \circ \mathcal{D}_j \not\geq id$, where $\mathcal{D}_j : \mathbb{R}^{d_j} \to \mathbb{R}^{d_j}$ is the corresponding part of \mathcal{D} .

For each Σ_j with the gain operator Υ_{jj} , $j = 1, \ldots, d$ and external inputs z_{j+1}, \ldots, z_d , u, Theorem 2.4.12 implies that there is an ISS Lyapunov function

$$W_j(z_j) = \max_{i=q_j+1,\dots,q_{j+1}} \widehat{\sigma}_i^{-1}(V_i(x_i))$$
(2.112)

for Σ_j , where $(\widehat{\sigma}_{q_j+1}, \ldots, \widehat{\sigma}_{q_{j+1}})^T$ is an arbitrary Ω -path with respect to $\Upsilon_{jj} \circ \mathcal{D}_j$. We will show by induction over the number of blocks that an ISS-Lyapunov function for the whole system (2.5) of the form $V(x) = \max_{i=1,\dots,n} \sigma_i^{-1}(V_i(x_i))$ exists, for an appropriate σ .

For one irreducible block there is nothing to show. Assume that for the system corresponding to the first l-1 blocks an ISS-Lyapunov function exists and is given by $\widetilde{V}_{l-1} = \max_{i=1,\dots,q_l} \sigma_i^{-1}(V_i(x_i))$. Consider now the first l blocks with the state $(\widetilde{z}_{l-1}, z_l)$, where $\widetilde{z}_{l-1} := (z_1, \dots, z_{l-1})^T$. Then we have the implication for $(x, u) \in C$

$$\widetilde{V}_{l-1}(\widetilde{z}_{l-1}) \geq \widetilde{\gamma}_{l-1,l}(W_l(z_l)) + \widetilde{\gamma}_{l-1,u}(||u||) \Rightarrow$$
$$\forall \widetilde{z}_{l-1} \in \partial \widetilde{V}_{l-1}(\widetilde{z}_{l-1}) : \langle \zeta_{l-1}, f_{l-1}(\widetilde{z}_{l-1}, z_l, u) \rangle \leq -\widetilde{\alpha}_{l-1}(V_{l-1}(\widetilde{z}_{l-1}))$$

and for $(x, u) \in D$

$$\widetilde{V}_{l-1}(\widetilde{z}_{l-1}) \geq \widetilde{\gamma}_{l-1,l}(W_k(z_l)) + \widetilde{\gamma}_{l-1,u}(||u||) \Rightarrow \\
\widetilde{V}_{l-1}(g_{l-1}(\widetilde{z}_{l-1}, z_l, u)) \leq \widetilde{\lambda}_{l-1}(V_{l-1}(\widetilde{z}_{l-1})),$$

where $\tilde{\gamma}_{l-1,l}, \tilde{\gamma}_{l-1,u}$ are the corresponding gains, $\tilde{f}_{l-1}, \tilde{g}_{l-1}, \tilde{\alpha}_{l-1}, \tilde{\lambda}_{l-1}$ are the right hand side and dissipation rate of the first l-1 blocks.

The gain matrix corresponding to the block l has the form

$$\overline{\Gamma}_l = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & \widetilde{\gamma}_{l-1,l} & \widetilde{\gamma}_{l-1,u} \\ 0 & 0 & \gamma_{l,u} \end{array}\right).$$

For $\overline{\Gamma}_l$ by [52, Lemma 6.1] there exists an Ω -path $\widetilde{\sigma}^l = (\widetilde{\sigma}_1^l, \widetilde{\sigma}_2^l)^T \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}^2$ and $\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that $\overline{\Gamma}_l(\widetilde{\sigma}^l, \phi) < \widetilde{\sigma}^l$ holds. Applying Theorem 2.4.11, an ISS-Lyapunov function for the whole system exists and is given by

$$\widetilde{V}_{l} = \max\{(\widetilde{\sigma}_{1}^{l})^{-1}(\widetilde{V}_{l-1}), (\widetilde{\sigma}_{2}^{l})^{-1}(W_{l})\}.$$

A simple inductive argument shows that the final Lyapunov function is of the form $V(x) = \max_{l=1,\dots,d} (\sigma_l^{-1}(W_l(z_l)))$ with W defined in (2.112), where for $l = 1, \dots, d-1$ we have (setting $\sigma_2^0 = \text{id}$)

$$\sigma_l^{-1} = \left(\tilde{\sigma}_1^{d-1}\right)^{-1} \circ \cdots \circ \left(\tilde{\sigma}_1^l\right)^{-1} \circ \left(\tilde{\sigma}_2^{l-1}\right)^{-1}$$

and $\sigma_d = \tilde{\sigma}_2^{d-1}$. This completes the proof.

Remark 2.4.14. In the case $D = \emptyset$ we obtain the results from [50],[52], [51] and [53] as particular cases.

These theorems provide a constructive method to derive Lyapunov functions for interconnected hybrid systems. In the following example we illustrate the construction of such Lyapunov functions.

Example 2.4.15. We consider three interconnected hybrid systems:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_{1} = -x_{1} + \max\left\{\frac{x_{2}^{2} + 2x_{2}}{6x_{2} + 8}, \frac{x_{3}^{2} + x_{3}}{8x_{3} + 4}\right\} + u_{1} =: f_{1}(x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}, u_{1}), \\ \dot{x}_{2} = -x_{2} + \max\left\{\frac{2x_{1}^{2} + x_{1}}{8x_{1} + 5}, \frac{x_{3}^{2} + 5x_{3}}{3x_{3} + 11}\right\} + u_{2} =: f_{2}(x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}, u_{2}), \\ \dot{x}_{3} = -x_{3} + \max\left\{\frac{x_{1}^{2} + x_{1}}{5x_{1} + 3}, \frac{x_{2}^{2} + 3x_{2}}{4x_{2} + 7}\right\} + u_{3} =: f_{3}(x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}, u_{3}), \end{cases}$$
(2.113)

for $(x_1, x_2, x_3, u_1, u_2, u_3)^T \in C_i = C = \{(s_1, s_2, s_3, w_1, w_2, w_3)^T \in \mathbb{R}^3_+ \times U : s_1 \ge \frac{1}{2} \max\{s_2, s_3\}\}$ and

$$\begin{cases} x_1^+ = \frac{1}{4}x_1 + \frac{1}{8}\max\{x_2, x_3\} =: g_1(x_1, x_2, x_3), \\ x_2^+ = \frac{1}{4}x_2 =: g_2(x_1, x_2, x_3), \\ x_3^+ = \frac{1}{4}x_3 =: g_3(x_1, x_2, x_3), \end{cases}$$
(2.114)

 $\begin{array}{l} \textit{for } (x_1, x_2, x_3, u_1, u_2, u_3)^T \in D_i = D = \left\{ (s_1, s_2, s_3, w_1, w_2, w_3)^T \in \mathbb{R}^3_+ \times U : s_1 \leq \frac{1}{2} \max\{s_2, s_3\} \right\}. \\ \textit{Consider functions } V_i(x_i) = |x_i|, \ i = 1, 2, 3 \ as \ \textit{ISS-Lyapunov function candidates for the subsystems.} \\ \textit{With } \psi_{i1}(|x_i|) = \frac{1}{2} |x_i| \ and \ \psi_{i2}(|x_i|) = 2 |x_i| \ the \ condition \ (2.32) \ is \ satisfied. \\ \textit{Consider } (x_1, x_2, x_3, u_1, u_2, u_3)^T \in C. \end{array}$

$$\begin{aligned} \text{Taking } \gamma_{12}^{c}(r) &:= \frac{r(r+2)}{(3r+4)(1-\epsilon_{1})}, \ \gamma_{13}^{c}(r) := \frac{r(r+1)}{(4r+2)(1-\epsilon_{1})}, \ \gamma_{21}(r) := \frac{2r(2r+1)}{(8r+5)(1-\epsilon_{2})}, \\ \gamma_{23}(r) &:= \frac{2r(r+5)}{(3r+11)(1-\epsilon_{2})}, \\ \gamma_{31}(r) &:= \frac{2r(r+1)}{(5r+3)(1-\epsilon_{3})}, \ \gamma_{32}(r) := \frac{2r(r+3)}{(4r+7)(1-\epsilon_{3})}, \\ \gamma_{1}(|u|) &:= \frac{2}{(1-\epsilon_{1})}|u|, \ \gamma_{2}(|u|) := \frac{2}{(1-\epsilon_{2})}|u|, \ \gamma_{3}(|u|) := \frac{2}{(1-\epsilon_{3})}|u|, \ \epsilon_{1} \in \left(0, \frac{1}{2}\right), \ \epsilon_{2} \in \left(0, \frac{1}{11}\right), \\ \epsilon_{3} \in \left(0, \frac{1}{7}\right) \text{ one can easily check that the condition (2.34) is satisfied with } \\ \alpha_{i}(|x_{i}|) &= \epsilon_{i}x_{i}, \ i = 1, \dots, 3. \\ \text{Consider now } (x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}, u_{1}, u_{2}, u_{3})^{T} \in D_{i}. \\ \text{With } \gamma_{12}^{d}(r) &:= \frac{1}{2(3-4\epsilon_{1})}r, \ \gamma_{13}^{d}(r) &:= \frac{1}{2(3-4\epsilon_{1})}r, \ the \ condition (2.36) \ is \ satisfied \ for \ i = 1 \ with \\ \lambda_{1} &= \frac{1}{2}. \ \text{And for any } (x, u) \in D \ it \ holds \ that \\ V_{2}(g_{2}(x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3})) &= V_{2}\left(\frac{1}{4}x_{2}\right) &= \frac{1}{4}|x_{2}| &=: \lambda_{2}(V_{2}(x_{2})), \\ V_{3}(g_{3}(x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3})) &= V_{3}\left(\frac{1}{4}x_{3}\right) &= \frac{1}{4}|x_{3}| &=: \lambda_{3}(V_{3}(x_{3})). \end{aligned}$$

Thus each subsystem is ISS and V_1 , V_2 , V_3 are ISS-Lyapunov functions for the corresponding subsystems with $I = I_{\text{max}}$. To verify the stability of their interconnection we apply Theorem 2.4.13 with $\mathcal{D} = \text{diag}(id, id, id)^T$ and Proposition 2.2.12. To this end define $x^T = (x_1, x_2, x_3)^T \in \mathbb{R}^3$, $u^T = (u_1, u_2, u_3)^T$, $f = (f_1, f_2, f_3)^T$, $g = (g_1, g_2, g_3)^T$. Then the whole system is of the form (2.5). Denote $\gamma_{12} := \max\{\gamma_{12}^c, \gamma_{12}^d\}, \gamma_{13} := \max\{\gamma_{13}^c, \gamma_{13}^d\}$. Then the gain matrix Γ is given by

$$\Gamma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \gamma_{12} & \gamma_{13} \\ \gamma_{21} & 0 & \gamma_{23} \\ \gamma_{31} & \gamma_{32} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$



when the small gain condition is satisfied.

Figure 2.4: Trajectory of the whole system Figure 2.5: Trajectory of the whole system when the small gain condition is not satisfied

It can be easily checked for all the gains that $\gamma_{ij} < id$ holds, hence

$$\Gamma(s) < s \tag{2.115}$$

for all $s \neq 0$. It follows then that the small gain condition $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma(s) = \Gamma(s) \not\geq s$ is satisfied. Moreover it follows that σ can be taken as $\sigma := (id, id, id)^T$ for construction of an ISS-Lyapunov function of the interconnection (2.113), (2.114) according to (2.101):

$$V(x) = \max\{V_1(x_1), V_2(x_2), V_3(x_3)\} = \max\{x_1, x_2, x_3\}.$$

Thus, by Theorem 2.4.13 and Proposition 2.2.12 the interconnection is ISS. The trajectory of the whole system corresponding to the initial condition $x(0) = (9; 3; 1)^T$, input $u(t) = (0.5(1 + \sin t); |2\cos(t + \sin t)|)$ 2|; $cos^{2} t$)^T is shown in Figure 2.4. We see that the trajectory approaches a bounded domain around the origin. However due the disturbances given by u it never reaches the origin and even do not approaches it arbitrary close.

The next example shows that if the small gain condition is not fulfilled, the system may possess an unstable behaviour.

Example 2.4.16. Consider the interconnection of three hybrid systems with the same q, C and D as in the previous example, but with slight changes of the coefficients of the first subsystem describing continuous behaviour

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\dot{x}_1 = -x_1 + \max\left\{\frac{7x_2^2 + 2x_2}{2x_2 + 1}, \frac{2x_3^2 + 3x_3}{5x_3 + 4}\right\} + u_1 \\
\dot{x}_2 = -x_2 + \max\left\{\frac{2x_1^2 + x_1}{8x_1 + 5}, \frac{x_3^2 + 5x_3}{3x_3 + 11}\right\} + u_2 \\
\dot{x}_3 = -x_3 + \max\left\{\frac{x_1^2 + x_1}{5x_1 + 3}, \frac{x_2^2 + 3x_2}{4x_2 + 7}\right\} + u_3
\end{cases}$$
(2.116)

 $(x, u) \in C.$

Using the same approach as in the previous example it can be checked that all subsystems are still ISS in terms of maximizations, i.e. $I = I_{\text{max}}$. The gains $\gamma_{12}^d(r)$, $\gamma_{13}^d, \gamma_{23}, \gamma_{31}, \gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3$ are the same as in the example before and the gains $\gamma_{12}^c(r) := \frac{2r(7r+2)}{(2r+1)(1-\epsilon_1)}$, $\gamma_{13}^c(r) := \frac{2r(r+3)}{(5r+4)(1-\epsilon_2)}$, $\gamma_{12}(r) := \max\{\gamma_{12}^c(r), \gamma_{12}^d(r)\}, \gamma_{13}(r) := \max\{\gamma_{13}^c(r), \gamma_{13}^d(r)\}, \epsilon_1 \in (0, 1), \epsilon_2 \in (0, \frac{1}{11}), \epsilon_3 \in (0, \frac{1}{7}).$ Let us check the small gain condition $\Gamma(s) \not\geq s, s \neq 0$. Note that unlike the previous example not all γ_{ij} 's are less than identity, in particular for $r \geq 0, \gamma_{12}(r) \geq r$. Thus (2.115) does not hold for the first component of the inequality and we cannot use this property to prove the small gain condition. But we can use the fact that $\Gamma(s) \not\geq s$ is equivalent to the cycle condition (2.42). However, for $r \geq 0$

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{12}^{c} \circ \gamma_{21}(r) &= \frac{4r(2r+1)(14r(2r+1)+2(8r+5)(1-\epsilon_{2}))}{(8r+5)(1-\epsilon_{2})(4r(2r+1)+(8r+5)(1-\epsilon_{2}))(1-\epsilon_{1})} \\ &= \frac{224r^{4}+(224+128(1-\epsilon_{2}))r^{3}+(56+144(1-\epsilon_{2}))r^{2}+40(1-\epsilon_{2})r}{(64r^{3}+(72+64(1-\epsilon_{2}))r^{2}+(20+40(1-\epsilon_{2}))r+25(1-\epsilon_{2}))(1-\epsilon_{1})(1-\epsilon_{2})} \\ &\geq r. \end{split}$$

Hence, the cycle condition is also violated and consequently the small gain condition is not satisfied. Figure 2.5 shows the trajectory of this interconnection corresponding to the initial condition $x(0) = (9;3;1)^T$, input $u(t) = (0.5(1 + \sin t); |2\cos(t + 2)|; \cos^2 t)^T$. We see that the trajectory grows unboundedly.

In the following sections we show an application of the small gain condition (2.45) for establishing stability of certain subclasses of hybrid systems.

2.4.3 Systems with stability of only a part of the state

In some applications one is interested in stability of only a part of the state. For example, one can use variables that describe time, counters or logical variables that never tend to zero and from a practical point of view there is no need in their stability, see [110], [131]. For such systems the definition of ISS and conditions (2.32) and (2.20) for ISS-Lyapunov functions have to be modified. Furthermore, we can adapt small gain theorem to study ISS of interconnection of such systems. Assume that the system (2.1) can be represented as follows:

ssume that the system (2.1) can be represented as follows.

$$\begin{aligned}
x_i^s &= f_i^s(x^s, u_i) \\
\dot{x}_i^t &= f_i^t(x^s, x^t, u_i) \\
x_i^{s+} &= g_i^s(x^s, u_i) \\
x_i^{t+} &= g_i^t(x^s, x^t, u_i) \\
x_i^{t+} &= g_i^t(x^s, x^t, u_i) \\
\end{aligned}$$
(2.117)

with $x_i^s \in \chi_i^s \subset \mathbb{R}^{N_i^s}, x_i^t \in \chi_i^t \subset \mathbb{R}^{N_i^t}, x^s = (x_1^{sT}, \dots, x_n^{sT})^T \in \chi^s \subset \mathbb{R}^{N^s}, \chi^s = \chi_1^s \times \dots \times \chi_n^s,$ $N^s = \sum N_i^s, x^t = (x_1^{tT}, \dots, x_n^{tT})^T \in \chi^t \subset \mathbb{R}^{N^t}, \chi^t = \chi_1^t \times \dots \times \chi_n^t, N^t = \sum N_i^t, x = (x^{sT}, x^{tT})^T \in \chi \subset \mathbb{R}^N, \chi = \chi^s \times \chi^t, N = N^s + N^t, u_i \in U_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{M_i}, u = (u_1^T, \dots, u_n^T)^T \in U \subset \mathbb{R}^M,$ $U = U_1 \times \dots \times U_n, M = \sum M_i$. Here x_i^s is the part of the state x_i , in stability of which we are interested. The interconnection of these subsystems can be represented as:

$$\dot{x}^{s} = f^{s}(x^{s}, u) , \quad (x, u) \in C
\dot{x}^{t} = f^{t}(x^{s}, x^{t}, u) , \quad (x, u) \in C
x^{s+} = g^{s}(x^{s}, u)
x^{t+} = g^{t}(x^{s}, x^{t}, u) , \quad (x, u) \in D$$
(2.118)

where f^s , f^t , g^s , g^t , C and D are constructed analogous to (2.5). We define ISS of such a system by a slight abuse of notation as in [28, 110]: **Definition 2.4.17.** The system (2.118) is ISS, if there exist β of class \mathcal{KLL} , $\gamma \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ such that for all initial values x_0 each solution pair $(x, u) \in S_u(x_0)$ satisfies

$$|x^{s}(t,k)| \le \max\{\beta(|x^{s}_{0}|,t,k), \gamma(||u||_{(t,k)})\}, \forall (t,k) \in dom \, x.$$
(2.119)

In the definition of an ISS-Lyapunov function we modify (2.20) only.

Definition 2.4.18. A locally Lipschitz continuous function $V : \chi \rightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$ is an ISS-Lyapunov function for the system (2.118) if

1) There exist functions $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that:

$$\psi_1(|x^s|) \le V(x) \le \psi_2(|x^s|) \quad \text{for any } x \in \chi.$$
(2.120)

2) Conditions (2.21) and (2.22) are satisfied.

Thus, this definition is focused on the state x^s that has to be stable.

System of the form (2.118) allows to model and then to investigate logistics networks, where some of the parameters are not stable. For example, one can model logistics networks with switching production rates, where the switching is determined by a logical variable. In this case we are not interested in stability of this variable, but rather in stability of the variables describing the "physical" states, that we denote by x_s .

For such a definition of ISS there was shown a similar connection between an ISS-Lyapunov function and ISS in [28].

Remark 2.4.19. From Proposition 2.7 in [28] it follows that if there exists an ISS-Lyapunov function satisfying (2.120), (2.21) and (2.22), then the system (2.118) is ISS.

In case of (2.117) an ISS-Lyapunov function V_i satisfies: 1) There exist functions $\psi_{i1}, \psi_{i2} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that:

There exist functions $\psi_{i1}, \psi_{i2} \in \mathcal{P}_{\infty}$ such that.

$$\psi_{i1}(|x_i^s|) \le V_i(x_i) \le \psi_{i2}(|x_i^s|). \tag{2.121}$$

2) Conditions (2.33)-(2.36) are satisfied.

Now, if we assume that the system of the form (2.118) is an interconnection of n hybrid ISS subsystems, then we can show the following small gain result.

Corollary 2.4.20. Consider a system of the form (2.118) that is an interconnection of subsystems (2.117). Assume that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that each subsystem i of (2.117) has an ISS-Lyapunov function V_i that satisfy (2.121) and (2.33)-(2.36) with the corresponding ISS-Lyapunov gains γ_{ij} , γ_i . Let Γ be defined as in (2.99). If there exists $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ as in (2.44) such that $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma(s) \geq s$ for all $s \neq 0, s \geq 0$ is satisfied, then the hybrid system (2.118) has an ISS-Lyapunov function satisfying (2.120), (2.21) and (2.22). Furthermore, an ISS-Lyapunov function for the whole system of the form (2.118) can be constructed as in (2.101).

Proof. The proof goes along the lines of the proof of Theorem 2.4.13 with $\psi_1(|x^s|) := \min_{i=1,\dots,n} \sigma_i^{-1}(\psi_{i1}(L_1|x^s|))$ and $\psi_2(|x^s|) := \max_{i=1,\dots,n} \sigma_i^{-1}(\psi_{i2}(L_2|x^s|))$ in case of the maximum norm used.

2.4.4 Impulsive dynamical systems

Impulsive systems are such hybrid systems that jump only at given time instances and between these time instances they change continuously. We consider an interconnection of n impulsive subsystems with inputs

$$\dot{x}_{i}(t) = f_{i}(x_{1}(t), \dots, x_{n}(t), u_{i}(t)), \ t \neq t_{i_{\bar{k}}},
x_{i}^{+}(t) = g_{i}(x_{1}(t), \dots, x_{n}(t), u_{i}(t)), \ t = t_{i_{\bar{k}}},$$
(2.122)

 $\tilde{k} \in \mathbb{N}, i = 1, ..., n$, where $x_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{N_i}$ is the state of the *i*th subsystem; $u_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{M_i}$ is a locally bounded, Lebesgue-measurable input and $x_j(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{N_j}, j \neq i$ can be interpreted as internal inputs of the *i*th subsystem. Given a sequence $\{t_{i_k}\}$ and a pair of times s, t satisfying $t_0 \leq s < t, \mathcal{N}_i(t, s)$ denotes the number of impulsive times t_{i_k} in the semi-open interval (s, t] of the *i*th subsystem.

We assume that functions f_i , g_i are from $\mathbb{R}^{N_1} \times \ldots \times \mathbb{R}^{N_n} \times \mathbb{R}^{M_i} \to \mathbb{R}^{N_i}$ and f_i are locally Lipschitz continuous. All signals (x_i and inputs u_i , $i = 1, \ldots, n$) are assumed to be right-continuous and to have left limits at all times.

We define $N := N_1 + \ldots + N_n$, $M := M_1 + \ldots + M_n$, $x := (x_1^T, \ldots, x_n^T)^T$, $u := (u_1^T, \ldots, u_n^T)^T$, $f := (f_1^T, \ldots, f_n^T)^T$ and the impulsive time sequence of the whole system $\{t_k\} := \{t | t = t_{i_k}, \ \tilde{k} \in \mathbb{N}\}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

It may happen that at an impulsive time $t_{i_{\tilde{k}}}$ there is a jump of the *i*th subsystem but not of the *j*th subsystem, $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$, $j \neq i$, for example. This circumstance may lead to a conservative condition for stability of the whole system, obtained from the exponential Lyapunov functions of the subsystems. Therefore, we define $I_k := \{i | t_k = t_{i_{\tilde{k}}}\}$, which is the set of impulsive times of the *i*th subsystem and the whole system; $\overline{I}_k := \{i | t_k \neq t_{i_{\tilde{k}}}\}$, which is the set of impulsive times of the whole system, but not of the *i*th subsystem; and we denote $\mathcal{N}(t, s)$ as the number of impulsive times in the semi-open interval (s, t] for the whole system.

Then we define $g := (\widetilde{g}_1^T, \dots, \widetilde{g}_n^T)^T$, where

$$\widetilde{g}_i(x, u_i) := \begin{cases} g_i(x, u_i), & i \in I_k, \\ x_i, & i \in \overline{I}_k. \end{cases}$$

With these definitions the interconnected system (2.122) can be described as a system of the form

$$\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t), u(t)), \ t \neq t_k, \ k \in \mathbb{N},
x^+(t) = g(x(t), u(t)), \ t = t_k, \ k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(2.123)

Impulsive systems allow to consider time scheduling problems in logistics networks, i.e. the arrangement of the impulsive times to achieve certain performance aims. For example, one can look for the delivery times for certain locations that guarantee stable behaviour of the network.

Remark 2.4.21. Note that we can describe a system of the form (2.123) as a hybrid system in the general form (2.5) by adding the time variable τ , the flow set $C = \{(x, \tau) : \tau \neq t_k, k \in \mathbb{N}\}$, the jump set $D = \{(x, \tau) : \tau = t_k, k \in \mathbb{N}\}$ and equations that describe the dynamics of τ :

$$\dot{\tau} = 1, \quad (x,\tau) \in C,$$

 $\tau^+ = \tau, \quad (x,\tau) \in D.$

Stability notions

We use the following notion of ISS adapted to impulsive systems in [72] as follows:

Definition 2.4.22. Assume that a sequence $\{t_k\}$ is given. We call a system of the form (2.123) ISS, if there exist functions $\beta \in \mathcal{KL}$, $\gamma \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that for every initial condition x(0) and every input u the corresponding solution to (2.123) exists globally and satisfies

$$|x(t)| \le \max\{\beta(|x(0)|, t), \gamma(||u||_{[0,t]})\}, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$
(2.124)

The impulsive system (2.123) is uniformly ISS over a given class S of admissible sequences of impulsive times, if (2.124) holds for every sequence in S with functions β and γ that are independent of the choice of the sequence.

Here the supremum norm of an input u on the interval [0, t] is defined by

$$||u||_{[0,t]} := \max \left\{ \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{s \in [0,t]} |u(s)|, \sup_{t_k \in [0,t]} |u(t_k)| \right\}.$$

For subsystems ISS can be formulated as follows:

Assume that a sequence $\{t_{i_k}\}$ is given. The *i*th subsystem of (2.123) is ISS, if there exist $\beta_i \in \mathcal{KL}$, $\gamma_{ij}, \gamma_i \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty} \cup \{0\}$ such that for every initial condition $x_i(0)$ and every input u_i the corresponding solution to (2.122) exists globally and satisfies for all $t \ge 0$

$$|x_i(t)| \le \max\{\beta_i(|x_i(0)|, t), \max_{j, j \ne i} \gamma_{ij}(||x_j||_{[0,t]}), \gamma_i(||u||_{[0,t]})\}$$
(2.125)

for $i \in I_{\max}$, and

$$|x_i(t)| \le \beta_i(|x_i(0)|, t) + \sum_{j, j \ne i} \gamma_{ij}(||x_j||_{[0,t]}) + \gamma_i(||u||_{[0,t]})$$
(2.126)

for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$.

The impulsive system (2.122) is uniformly ISS over a given class S of admissible sequences of impulsive times, if (2.125), (2.125) hold for every sequence in S with functions β_i and γ_i, γ_{ij} that are independent of the choice of the sequence.

For the stability analysis of impulsive systems we use exponential Lyapunov functions, see [72]. Here, we assume that these functions are locally Lipschitz continuous.

Definition 2.4.23. We say that a function $V : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is an exponential ISS-Lyapunov function for (2.123) with rate coefficients $c, d \in \mathbb{R}$ if V is locally Lipschitz, positive definite, radially unbounded, and the following holds:

$$V(x) \ge \gamma(|u|) \Rightarrow \nabla V(x) \cdot f(x, u) \le -cV(x) \text{ for almost all } x, \text{ all } u, \tag{2.127}$$

$$V(x) \ge \gamma(|u|) \Rightarrow V(g(x, u)) \le e^{-d}V(x) \text{ for all } x, u,$$
(2.128)

where γ is some function from \mathcal{K}_{∞} .

Condition (2.127) states, that if c is positive then the function V decreases. On the other hand, if c < 0 then the function V can increase. Condition (2.128) states, that if d is positive, then the jump (impulse) decreases the magnitude of V. On the other hand, if d < 0, then the jump (impulse) can increase the magnitude of V.

Without loss of generality we use the same function γ in (2.127) and (2.128). Choosing $\gamma_c \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ in (2.127) and $\gamma_d \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ in (2.128) and taking the maximum of these two functions, we get γ .

Remark 2.4.24. Note that in [72] the conditions (2.127) and (2.128) are in dissipative form. By Proposition 2.6 in [28] the conditions in dissipative form are equivalent to the conditions in implication form, used in Definition 2.4.23, but the coefficients c, d may be different.

In [72] the following theorem was proved, which establishes stability of a single impulsive system.

Theorem 2.4.25. Let V be an exponential ISS-Lyapunov function for (2.123) with rate coefficients $c, d \in \mathbb{R}$ with $d \neq 0$. For arbitrary constants $\mu, \lambda > 0$, let $S[\mu, \lambda]$ denote the class of impulsive time sequences $\{t_k\}$ satisfying

$$-d\mathcal{N}(t,s) - (c-\lambda)(t-s) \le \mu, \ \forall t \ge s \ge 0.$$

$$(2.129)$$

Then the system (2.123) is uniformly ISS over $S[\mu, \lambda]$.

The condition (2.129) is called *average dwell-time conditon*. If d = 0, then the jumps do not destabilize the system and the whole system will be ISS, if the corresponding continuous dynamics is ISS. This case was investigated in more detail in [72, Section 6], [153, Theorem 1].

Note that the condition (2.129) imposed on the intervals between the jumps guarantees stability of the impulsive system even if the continuous or discontinuous behaviour is unstable. For example, if the continuous behaviour is unstable, which means c < 0, then this condition assumes that the discontinuous behaviour has to stabilize the system (d > 0) and the jumps have to occur often enough. Conversely, if the discontinuous behaviour is unstable (d < 0) and the continuous behaviour is stable (c > 0), then the jumps have to occur rarely, which stabilizes the system.

Similarly, we define Lyapunov functions for subsystems:

Assume that for each subsystem of the interconnected system (2.122) there is a given function V_i : $\mathbb{R}^{N_i} \to \mathbb{R}_+$, which is continuous, proper, positive definite and locally Lipschitz continuous on $\mathbb{R}^{N_i} \setminus \{0\}$. For i = 1, ..., n the function V_i is called an exponential ISS-Lyapunov function for the *i*th subsystem of (2.122) with *rate coefficients* $c_i, d_i \in \mathbb{R}$, if

$$V_i(x_i) \ge \max\{\max_{j,j \neq i} \gamma_{ij}(V_j(x_j)), \gamma_i(|u_i|)\} \Rightarrow \nabla V_i(x_i) \cdot f_i(x, u_i) \le -c_i V_i(x_i) \text{ for almost all } x, \text{ all } u_i \text{ and}$$

$$(2.130)$$

$$V_{i}(x_{i}) \ge \max\{\max_{j, j \neq i} \gamma_{ij}(V_{j}(x_{j})), \gamma_{i}(|u_{i}|)\} \Rightarrow V_{i}(g_{i}(x, u_{i})) \le e^{-d_{i}}V_{i}(x_{i}) \text{ for all } x, u_{i},$$
(2.131)

for $i \in I_{\max}$, and

$$V_i(x_i) \ge \sum_{j,j \ne i} \gamma_{ij}(V_j(x_j)) + \gamma_i(|u_i|) \Rightarrow \nabla V_i(x_i) \cdot f_i(x, u_i) \le -c_i V_i(x_i) \text{ f.a.a. } x, \text{ all } u_i \text{ and } (2.132)$$

$$V_{i}(x_{i}) \geq \sum_{j,j \neq i} \gamma_{ij}(V_{j}(x_{j})) + \gamma_{i}(|u_{i}|) \Rightarrow V_{i}(g_{i}(x, u_{i})) \leq e^{-d_{i}}V_{i}(x_{i}) \text{ for all } x, u_{i},$$
(2.133)

for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$, where γ_{ij} , γ_i are some functions from \mathcal{K}_{∞} .

Small gain theorems

In this section we show how an exponential ISS-Lyapunov function for an interconnected impulsive system can be constructed under the small gain condition (2.45) and the dwell-time condition (2.129). Note that not for all interconnections with nonlinear gains γ_{ij} one can construct the exponential Lyapunov function for the whole system, even if the small-gain condition is satisfied. Thus we will consider the case with linear gains γ_{ij} . By slight abuse of notation we denote $\gamma_{ij}(r) = \gamma_{ij}r$, where $\gamma_{ij} \ge 0$ and r > 0. Furthermore, as in Section 2.4.1 we assume that all subsystems jump simultaneously, i.e. $I_k = \{1 \dots, n\}, \overline{I}_k = \emptyset$. **Theorem 2.4.26.** Consider system (2.123) with $I_k = \{1, ..., n\}$, $\overline{I}_k = \emptyset$. Assume that each subsystem of (2.122) has an exponential ISS-Lyapunov function V_i with corresponding linear ISS-Lyapunov gains γ_{ij} and rate coefficients c_i , d_i , $d_i \neq 0$. Define $c := \min_i c_i$ and $d := \min_i d_i$. For arbitrary constants $\mu, \lambda > 0$, let $S[\mu, \lambda]$ denote the class of impulsive time sequences $\{t_k\}$ of the whole system. If the following holds

i) $S[\mu, \lambda]$ satisfies the condition (2.129),

ii) $\Gamma = (\gamma_{ij})_{n \times n}$ satisfies the small gain condition (2.45),

then the impulsive system (2.123) is uniformly ISS over $S[\mu, \lambda]$ and the exponential ISS-Lyapunov function is given by

$$V(x) := \max\{\frac{1}{s_i} V_i(x_i)\},$$
(2.134)

where $s = (s_1, \ldots, s_n)^T$ is a linear Ω -path with $\Gamma(s) < s$.

Proof. From Theorem 2.3.11 there exists a linear Ω -path (vector) $s \in \mathbb{R}^n$, s > 0, with $\Gamma(s) < s$, see also proof of [52, Theorem 5.2]. Let us define $V(x) := \max_i \{\frac{1}{s_i} V_i(x_i)\}$ and show that this function is an exponential ISS-Lyapunov function for the system (2.123). Define $\varphi(x) := \max_i \frac{1}{2} \varphi_i(x), x > 0$

Define $\gamma(r) := \max_i \frac{1}{s_i} \gamma_i(r), r > 0.$

Consider $x \neq 0$, as the case x = 0 is obvious. Define $\hat{I} := \{i \in \{1, \ldots, n\} : \frac{1}{s_i}V_i(x_i) > \max_{j\neq i} \frac{1}{s_i}V_j(x_j)\}.$

Note that $x_i \neq 0$ for $i \in \hat{I}$. Fix $i \in \hat{I}$. Assume $V(x) \geq \gamma(|u|)$. Then

$$V_i(x_i) = s_i V(x) \ge \max\{\max_{j,j \neq i} \gamma_{ij} s_j V(x), s_i \gamma(|u|)\} \ge \max\{\max_{j,j \neq i} \gamma_{ij} V_j(x_j), \gamma_i(|u|)\}$$

and for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$

$$V_i(x_i) = s_i V(x) \ge \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ij} s_j V(x) + s_i \gamma(|u|) \ge \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_{ij} s_j V_j(x_j) + \gamma_i(|u|).$$

Then from (2.130), (2.132) we obtain for almost all x

$$\dot{V}(x) = \frac{1}{s_i} \nabla V_i(x_i) \cdot f_i(x, u_i) \le -\frac{1}{s_i} c_i V_i(x_i) = -c_i V(x).$$

By the definition of $c := \min_i c_i$ the function V satisfies (2.127). As $d := \min_i d_i$, it holds

$$V(g(x,u)) = \max_{j} \{ \frac{1}{s_j} V_j(g_j(x_1, \dots, x_n, u_j)) \} \le \max_{j} \{ \frac{1}{s_j} e^{-d_j} V_j(x_j) \} \le e^{-d} \max_{j} \{ \frac{1}{s_j} V_j(x_j) \} = e^{-d} V(x),$$

i.e., V satisfies condition (2.128).

All conditions of Definition 2.4.23 are satisfied and thus V is the exponential ISS-Lyapunov function of the system (2.123). By assumption i) there exist μ , $\lambda > 0$ such that $-d\mathcal{N}(t,s) - c(t-s) \leq \mu - \lambda(t-s), \forall t \geq s \geq 0$. Thus, applying Theorem 2.4.25 the overall system is uniformly ISS over $S[\mu, \lambda]$.

Remark 2.4.27. Note that in the case of nonlinear gains γ_{ij} , if the small-gain condition holds, then we can construct non-exponential Lyapunov functions for the whole system as in Section 2.4.2. In this case the results from [72] cannot be applied and one has to develop more general conditions that guarantee ISS of the system.

2.4.5 Comparison systems

Consider an interconnected system of the form (2.5). Assume that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that the set $\{f(x, u) : u \in U \cap \epsilon \overline{\mathbb{B}}\}$ is convex for each $x \in \chi, \epsilon > 0$. Assume also that all the subsystems (2.1) are ISS.

Consider the following interconnected discrete subsystems:

$$s_i(l+1) = \gamma_{i1}(s_1(l)) + \ldots + \gamma_{in}(s_n(l)) + v_i(l)$$
(2.135)

for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ and

$$s_i(l+1) = \max\{\gamma_{i1}(s_1(l)), \dots, \gamma_{in}(s_n(l)), v_i(l)\}$$
(2.136)

for $i \in I_{\max}$, where $s_i \in \mathbb{R}$, $v_i \in W_i \subset \mathbb{R}$, $\gamma_{ij} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ are from (2.13), (2.14), $l \in \mathbb{R}_+$. Their interconnection can be written as:

$$s(l+1) = \mu(\Gamma(s(l)), u(l)), \tag{2.137}$$

where μ is defined in (2.51), Γ is taken from (2.38) and $v(l) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$. Using the definition of ISS for discrete systems in [84] we can formulate ISS of the system of the form (2.137) as follows:

Definition 2.4.28. The system (2.137) is ISS from v to s if and only if $\exists \beta \in \mathcal{KL}$, $\gamma \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that for every $s(0) \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}$, $\{v(l)\}_{l=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}$, and every $l \geq 0$

$$|s(l+1)| \le \mu\left((\beta(|s(l)|), l), \gamma(\sup_{l\ge 0} |v(l)|)\right).$$
(2.138)

For $I_{\text{max}} = I$ and $I_{\Sigma} = I$ it was shown in [128] that (2.137) is ISS if and only if (2.41) resp. (2.40) hold. Thus, ISS of the hybrid system (2.5) can be established from ISS of the corresponding discrete system (2.137). This property can be extended to the case of I_{max} , $I_{\Sigma} \neq \emptyset$.

First, we need to combine Theorem 5.10 from [128] and Proposition 2.3.17 in [126] to adapt them to the case of the mixed gains.

Theorem 2.4.29. Let Γ be defined as in (2.38) and (2.39). Assume that there exists $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that for \mathcal{D} defined as in (2.44) the operator $\mathcal{D} \circ \Gamma$ satisfies (2.45). Then there exists $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ defined as in (2.44) with $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$, and $\sigma : \mathbb{R}_{+} \to \mathbb{R}_{+}^{n}$, $\sigma : \mathcal{K}_{\infty}^{n}$, such that $\Gamma \circ \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(\sigma(r)) < \sigma(r)$ for all r > 0. Moreover, σ can be chosen to be piecewise linear on $(0, \infty)$.

Proof. The proof follows the same steps as the proofs of Theorem 5.10 in [128] for components $i \in I_{\Sigma}$ of σ and of Proposition 2.3.17 in [126] for $i \in I_{\text{max}}$ using Lemma 2.3.4.

Now, we can show ISS of the systems of the form (2.137) under the small gain condition (2.45).

Theorem 2.4.30. System (2.137) is ISS from v to s if and only if (2.45) holds.

Proof. The proof follows exactly the same steps as the proof of Theorem IV.1 in [128].

" \Rightarrow ": If (2.137) is ISS, then the origin is globally attractive with respect to autonomous dynamics. From Proposition 4.1 in [127] it follows that $\Gamma(s) \geq s$ for all $s \neq 0$. By assumption there exists $\gamma \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that for any $s(0) \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}$ and any input signal v we have

$$\limsup_{l \to \infty} |s(l)|_1 \le \gamma(|v|_1), \tag{2.139}$$

where the equivalence of norms on \mathbb{R}^n was used. Define \mathcal{D} as in (2.44) with $\alpha(r) := \frac{1}{2n}\gamma^{-1}(r) \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$. Fix r > 0 and consider the set $S_r = \{s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : |s|_1 = \sum_i s_i = r\}$. By construction, for $s \in S_r$ we have

where

$$\mathcal{D}(s) \le s + v_r, \tag{2.140}$$

$$v_{r_i} := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2n} \gamma^{-1}(r), & i \in I_{\Sigma}, \\ 0, & i \in I_{\max}. \end{cases}$$

Observe that $|v_r|_1 \leq \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{-1}(r)$, or equivalently, $r \geq \gamma(2|v_r|) > \gamma(|v_r|_1)$. Now (2.139) implies that

$$\Gamma(s+v_r) \geq s$$
, for all $s \in S_r$. (2.141)

To prove this, assume the opposite. Then there exists $s^* \in S_r$ such that $\Gamma(s^* + v_r) \ge s^*$. Consider the trajectory ϕ of the dynamical system $w(l+1) = \Gamma(w(l) + v(l))$ with initial value $w(0) = s^*$ and input $v(l) \equiv v_r$. Assuming $w(0) \ge s^*$ we show inductively for $l \ge 0$ that $w(l+1) = \Gamma(w(l) + v(l)) \ge \Gamma(s^* + v_r) \ge s^*$. Since $|s^*|_1 = r > \gamma(|v_r|_1)$ we have a contradiction to (2.139). Thus (2.141) holds. Consider again an arbitrary $s \in S_r$. By (2.141) there exists an index $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ such that $s_i > (\Gamma(s + v_r))_i \ge (\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(s))_i$, where the inequality (2.140) was used. This implies

$$\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(s) \not\geq s$$
, for all $s \in S_r$.

Since r > 0 was chosen arbitrary and $\bigcup_{r>0} S_r = \mathbb{R}^n_+ \setminus \{0\}$, the claim follows.

"⇐":

From Theorem 2.4.29 there exist $\sigma_i \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ and $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ such that with $\sigma(r) = (\sigma_1(r), \ldots, \sigma_n(r))^T$, $r \in [0, \infty)$, and $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ as in (2.44) with corresponding $\widetilde{\alpha}$

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}} \circ \Gamma(\sigma(r)) < \sigma(r), \text{ for all } r > 0.$$
 (2.142)

By Lemma 2.3.8 there exists \mathcal{K}_{∞} function ϕ such that

$$w \le \mu(\Gamma(w), v) \Rightarrow |w| \le \phi(|v|). \tag{2.143}$$

Let us show that bounded inputs yield bounded trajectories. To this end assume that $v(l) \leq v \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ for all $l \geq 0$. For any such v and arbitrary $s(0) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ by (2.142) there exists an r > 0 such that $\sigma(r) \geq s(0)$ and $\rho(\sigma(r)) \geq v$, where $\rho : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$, $\rho_i := \tilde{\alpha}$ for $i \in I_{\Sigma}$, $\rho_i := \text{id for } i \in I_{\max}$. Now assume that

$$s(l) \leq \mathcal{D} \circ \sigma(r), \, \forall l \geq 0.$$

This is obviously true for l = 0. For l + 1 we compute

$$s(l+1) = \mu(\Gamma(s(l)), v(l))$$

$$\leq \mu(\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(\sigma(r)), v)$$

$$\leq \mu(\sigma(r), \rho(\sigma(r)))$$

$$= \mathcal{D} \circ \sigma(r),$$

where (2.142) and Lemma 2.3.7 were used. Thus, by induction it follows that the trajectory $s(\cdot)$ is bounded.

Now, for a fixed initial condition s(0) and an input bounded by $v(\cdot) \leq v$ let

$$\begin{array}{rcl} s^{*} & := & s^{*}(s(0), v) \\ & := & \sup_{l \geq 0} s(l) \\ & \leq & \sup_{l \geq 0} \{s(0), \mu(\Gamma(s(l)), v(l))\} \\ & \leq & \max\{s(0), \mu(\Gamma(s^{*}), v)\} \\ & \leq & \mu(s(0), \Gamma(s^{*}), v), \end{array}$$

where (2.135) and (2.136) were used. By Lemma 2.3.8 we have $|s^*| \leq \phi(|\mu(s(0), v)|) \leq \mu(\phi \circ \eta_1(|s(0)|), \phi \circ \eta_2(|v|))$, where the weak triangle inequality (2.43) was used and $\eta_{1,i} := (\mathrm{id} + \eta)$, $\eta_{2,i} := (\mathrm{id} + \eta^{-1})$ with arbitrary $\eta \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}, \eta_{1,i} := \mathrm{id}$ for $i \in I_{\Sigma}, \eta_{2,i} := \mathrm{id}$ for $i \in I_{\max}$. Thus the GS property of (2.137) is obtained.

For the AG property we obtain

$$s^{\sharp} := \limsup_{l \to \infty} s(l) = \limsup_{l \to \infty} \mu(\Gamma(s(l)), v(l)) \le \mu(\Gamma(s^{\sharp}), v).$$

By the weak triangle inequality (2.43) it follows that $s^{\sharp} \leq \phi(|v|)$. This is the AG property. Then the system (2.137) is ISS by Theorem 2 in [84], where AG is named \mathcal{K} -asymptotic gain and GS is named UBIBS.

Chapter 3

Model reduction approach for large-scale networks

Verification of the small gain condition $\Gamma \circ \mathcal{D}(s) \not\geq s$ in (2.45) requires large amount of analytical computations in the case of the large size of logistics network. This procedure can be facilitated by reducing the size of the system (2.5), by applying a numerical method to verify (2.45) or applying a method that reduces the size of the gain matrix Γ used in condition (2.45).

Model reduction of linear large-scale systems is already a well-developed area. The most efficient approaches are balancing and moment matching (Krylov subspace methods), see [4]. In balancing methods state variables that are hard to control/observe are eliminated from the model. An approximation norm is usually given in terms of \mathcal{H}_{∞} - or \mathcal{H}_2 -norms. In moment matching methods a function that matches certain moment of the Laurent series expansion is being looked for. These methods are computationally efficient in comparison with balancing methods, however provide no approximation error bounds. Usually, one uses a combination of both methods where first the large size is reduced by the moment matching methods and then the balancing method is applied.

On the contrary, the methods for the reduction of nonlinear systems are still in the development. As of today, there exist many different approaches that provide first steps in the direction of the reduction of nonlinear systems. However, these approaches are applied only to certain subclasses of nonlinear systems. The most known methods are an extension of the balancing and moment matching methods to nonlinear systems, proper orthogonal decomposition, singular perturbations theory, trajectory piecewise linear approach, Volterra methods and the theory of global attractors. The balancing methods [138], [93] are applied to input-affine continuous-time nonlinear systems, and the moment matching to single-input single-output systems [10] and bilinear systems [24]. In the proper orthogonal decomposition (POD) [75], [11], [76] the original system is projected onto a subspace of a smaller dimension using the known set of data (snapshots). POD methods are usually applied to models describing physical systems. Singular perturbations theory [22], [90] is used for the systems, where parameters evolve in different time scales ("slow" and "fast" parameters). This approach assumes aggregation of the variables evolving in the fast time scale. The trajectory piecewise linear approach [124] is mostly applied to input-affine systems. The system is linearized several times along a trajectory and the final model is constructed as a weighted sum of all local linearized reduced systems. In Volterra methods [121] the reduction is performed by taking into account the first several terms of the Polynomial expansion of a nonlinear function. In the theory of global attractors [88] one searches for a slow-manifold, inertial manifold or center manifold, on which a restricted dynamical system represents the "interesting" behaviour of the dynamical system.

Note that, if these methods will be directly applied to a logistics network, then information about the

real physical objects of logistics network and of its structure will be, in general, lost. Therefore, a reduction method that preserves the main structure of the network is needed.

Structure preserving model reduction was studied in [139], [92], [129]. However, it is also applied only for particular classes of systems.

Another possibility to decrease the number of analytical computations in verifying the small gain condition (2.45) is an application of numerical methods. A first attempt to perform this was done in [126] by adapting the algorithm of Eaves [57]. There is considered a local version of ISS.

On the other hand, to the best of our knowledge, there exist no approaches on the reduction of the size of the gain matrix Γ in the small gain condition (2.45). In this chapter we make the first attempt in this direction. To this end, we consider the gain operator Γ used in the small gain condition as the gain model of the network that describes the interconnection between the subsystems of the network. This model consists of the subsystems and their relations, given by the gains γ_{ij} that are collected in the gain matrix Γ . By the model reduction we understand reduction of the gain model, i.e. transition from the gain matrix Γ of size n to the matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ of size l < n.

To obtain the matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ we propose to aggregate the subsystems and the gains γ_{ij} between the subsystems that belong to certain interconnection patterns. Aggregation of these patterns keeps the main structure of the mutual influences between the subsystems in the network, i.e. between locations of the logistics network. Thus the properties of the aggregated and the original models should be similar. This prompts us that ISS of the large-scale logistics network can be established by checking the aggregated small gain condition corresponding to the gain matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$.

In this chapter we introduce three aggregation rules for the reduction of the gain model. These rules are based on three interconnection patterns: sequentially connected nodes, nodes connected in parallel and almost disconnected subgraphs. We establish that fulfillment of the reduced small gain condition implies ISS of the large network. Furthermore, we show how an ISS-Lyapunov function for the large network can be constructed using Ω -path corresponding to the reduced small gain condition.

3.1 Gain model

Consider an interconnected hybrid system of the form (2.5). Without loss of generality, assume, for convenience, that all its subsystems are ISS in terms of maximizations with gains γ_{ij} collected in the gain matrix Γ , i.e. $I = I_{\text{max}}$. Note that we can always pass from the summation formulation to the maximization one applying Proposition 2.3.17. Then, to establish ISS of the interconnection we can use Theorem 2.4.5, i.e. we need to verify the small gain condition (2.41):

$$\Gamma(s) \not\geq s, \forall s \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ \setminus \{0\},\$$

with

$$\Gamma(s) := \begin{pmatrix} \max\{\gamma_{12}(s_2), \dots, \gamma_{1n}(s_n)\} \\ \vdots \\ \max\{\gamma_{n1}(s_1), \dots, \gamma_{n,n-1}(s_{n-1})\} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.1)

Recall also that by Lemma 2.3.1 the small gain condition (2.41) is equivalent to the cycle condition (2.42):

$$\gamma_{k_1k_2} \circ \gamma_{k_2k_3} \circ \cdots \circ \gamma_{k_{r-1}k_r} < \mathrm{id}$$

for all $(k_1, ..., k_r) \in \{1, ..., n\}^r$ with $k_1 = k_r$. The largest possible number of cycles to be checked in this condition can be calculated as $\sum_{k=2}^n \binom{n}{k} k!$, where $\binom{n}{k}$ is the binomial coefficient.

To reduce the size of the gain matrix in the small gain condition (2.41) we model the structure of the logistics network described in (2.5) as a directed graph with weights $G = (V, E, \Gamma)$. The vertex set $V = \{1, \ldots, n\}$ corresponds to the subsystems of the network, the edge set E to the interconnection between subsystems, i.e.

$$e_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \gamma_{ij} \neq 0, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

The weight of the edge e_{ij} from vertex *i* to *j* is given by γ_{ji} and describes the influence of subsystem *i* on subsystem *j*. All the weights are collected in the gain matrix Γ . Note that the matrix Γ is not static, i.e. the weights are in general nonlinear functions. Such model we call *gain model* of the interconnected system (2.5).

3.2 Aggregation rules

In our model reduction approach we propose to reduce the size of the gain matrix Γ in the small gain condition (2.41). In particular, we transform the graph $G = (V, E, \Gamma)$ by introducing aggregation rules for vertices for typical subgraphs occurring in the network. Such subgraphs we will call *motifs* [103]. By aggregation of the vertices we understand the construction of a smaller graph $\widetilde{G} = (\widetilde{V}, \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{\Gamma})$ in which the vertices may represent nonempty subsets of vertices in the original graph $G = (V, E, \Gamma)$. We single out the following motifs: parallel connections, sequential connections of vertices and almost disconnected subgraphs. These reduction rules are inspired by the properties of motifs in [2].

3.2.1 Aggregation of sequentially connected nodes

The vertices of the set $V_J = \{v_1, ..., v_l\}$ are called *sequentially connected*, see Figure 3.1, if there exist vertices $v, v' \in V \setminus V_J$ such that

$$P(v_i) = \begin{cases} v & i = 1, \\ v_{i-1} & i = 2, ..., l \end{cases}$$

and

$$S(v_i) = \begin{cases} v_{i+1} & i = 1, ..., l-1, \\ v' & i = l. \end{cases}$$

The predecessor set P and successor set S were defined in Section 1.1.3.



Figure 3.1: Sequential connection of vertices v_1, \ldots, v_l .

The corresponding gain matrix is given by

The cycle condition (2.42) for the cycles that include nodes from $\{v_1, \ldots, v_l\}$ looks as follows:

$$\ldots \circ \gamma_{v',v_l} \circ \ldots \circ \gamma_{v_2,v_1} \circ \gamma_{v_1,v} \ldots < \mathsf{id}. \tag{3.4}$$

Aggregation of gains

To obtain a graph of a smaller size we aggregate the nodes v_1, \ldots, v_l with the node v. We denote the new vertex by J. A cut-out of the new reduced graph is shown in Figure 3.2. So, we consider the reduced graph $\tilde{G} = (\tilde{V}, \tilde{E}, \tilde{\Gamma})$, where the vertices are given by

$$\hat{V} = (V \setminus (V_J \cup \{v\})) \cup J \tag{3.5}$$

and the edges are given by

$$\tilde{E} = E \setminus (\{(v, w), (w, v'), (w_1, w_2) : w, w_1, w_2 \in V_J\} \cup (v, v')) \cup \{(J, v') \cup (u, J) : (u, v) \in E\}.$$

$$(3.6)$$

The corresponding weighted adjacency matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ of the dimension n-l can be obtained from Γ , where the rows and columns corresponding to the vertices v, v_1, \ldots, v_l are replaced by a row and a column corresponding to the new vertex J. The weights are then given by

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{v',J} := \max\{\gamma_{v',v_l} \circ \dots \circ \gamma_{v_2,v_1} \circ \gamma_{v_1,v}, \gamma_{v',v}\},\tag{3.7}$$

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{J,v'} := \gamma_{v,v'}, \quad \widetilde{\gamma}_{J,j} := \gamma_{v,j}, \quad \widetilde{\gamma}_{j,J} := \gamma_{j,J}, \quad j \in V \setminus (V_J \cup \{v, v'\}).$$
(3.8)



Figure 3.2: Vertices v_1, \ldots, v_l, v' are aggregated.

Other gains stay the same, i.e.

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{ij} := \gamma_{ij}, \, i, j \neq J. \tag{3.9}$$

The small gain condition (2.41) corresponding to the reduced gain matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ has the following properties.

Theorem 3.2.1. Consider a gain matrix Γ as in (3.3). If condition (2.41) holds for the matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ with gains defined in (3.7)-(3.9), then it holds also for the matrix Γ .

Assume that there were p cycles that include one of the nodes v_i from V_J . If $\gamma_{v',v} \neq 0$, then the number of cycles to be checked in the cycle condition (2.42) corresponding to the reduced matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ is decreased by p after the aggregation, otherwise it stays the same.

Proof. Let condition (2.41) for the gains defined in (3.7)-(3.9) hold. Then the cycle condition (2.42) corresponding to these gains holds. In particular, for the cycles containing the gain $\tilde{\gamma}_{v',J}$ the following inequality holds:

$$\ldots \circ \widetilde{\gamma}_{v',J} \circ \ldots < \mathrm{id}. \tag{3.10}$$

From the definition of the gain $\tilde{\gamma}_{v',J}$ in (3.7) condition (3.4) holds. Condition (2.42) on other cycles corresponding to Γ is satisfied straightforwardly. Thus, the matrix Γ satisfies (2.41).

If $\gamma_{v',J} = 0$, then, as the cycle containing one of the nodes $\{v_1, \ldots, v_l\}$ contains necessarily all other nodes from $\{v_1, \ldots, v_l\}$, the number of cycles to be checked in the cycle condition is the same. Otherwise, these cycles will "coincide" with the cycles that include gain $\gamma_{v',v}$. Thus, the overall number of the cycles will decrease by p.

Thus, to show that a system of the form (2.5) is ISS, it is enough to verify the small gain condition $\widetilde{\Gamma}(s) \geq s$ corresponding to the reduced gain matrix $\widetilde{\Gamma}$.

Corollary 3.2.2. Consider interconnected system (2.5) and assume that the set $\{f(x, u) : u \in U \cap \epsilon \mathbb{B}\}$ is convex for each $x \in \chi, \epsilon > 0$. Assume also that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that all the subsystems in (2.1) are ISS with gains as in (2.14). If condition (2.41) holds for the gains defined in (3.7)-(3.9), then the system (2.5) is ISS.

Proof. The assertion follows from Theorem 3.2.1 and Theorem 2.4.5.

Construction of an Ω **-path**

To construct an ISS-Lyapunov function of the interconnected system (2.5), we can apply Theorem 2.4.11. However, for this purpose we need to have an Ω -path σ satisfying (2.71), i.e.

$$\Gamma(\sigma) \le \sigma.$$

It appears, that if an Ω -path corresponding to the reduced gain matrix Γ is known, we can calculate an Ω -path for the large gain matrix Γ .

Proposition 3.2.3. Consider a gain matrix Γ and the corresponding reduced gain matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ with gains defined in (3.7)-(3.9). Let an Ω -path $\tilde{\sigma}$ for $\tilde{\Gamma}$ satisfying (2.71) be given. Then an Ω -path $\bar{\sigma}$ for the matrix Γ can be constructed as

$$\bar{\sigma}_{w} := \begin{cases} \gamma_{v_{i}, v_{i-1}} \circ \gamma_{v_{i-1}, v_{i-2}} \circ \cdots \circ \gamma_{v_{2}, v_{1}} \circ \gamma_{v_{1}, v} \circ \widetilde{\sigma}_{J}, & \text{if } w = v_{i}, i \in \{1, \dots, l\}, \\ \widetilde{\sigma}_{w}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}.$$
(3.11)

Proof. We assume that an Ω -path $\tilde{\sigma}$ for the small gain matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ is known. In particular, by (2.71) $\tilde{\Gamma}(\tilde{\sigma}) \leq \tilde{\sigma}$ holds. Let us check whether Ω -path $\bar{\sigma}$ defined in (3.11) is an Ω -path for the large gain matrix Γ . To this end we need to check (2.71) for $\bar{\sigma}$.

For the components $\Gamma(\bar{\sigma})_w$, $w \notin \{v_1, \ldots, v_l, v'\}$ the inequality (2.71) holds straightforwardly. Consider now $\Gamma(\bar{\sigma})_w$, $w = v_i$, $i \in \{1, \ldots, l\}$. Applying (3.7)-(3.9) and (3.11) we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(\bar{\sigma})_{v_{i}} &= \gamma_{v_{i},v_{i-1}} \circ \bar{\sigma}_{v_{i-1}} = \gamma_{v_{i},v_{i-1}} \circ \gamma_{v_{i-1},v_{i-2}} \circ \bar{\sigma}_{v_{i-2}} \\ &= \cdots = \gamma_{v_{i},v_{i-1}} \circ \cdots \circ \gamma_{v_{1},v} \circ \tilde{\sigma}_{J} \\ &= \bar{\sigma}_{v_{i}}; \\ \Gamma(\bar{\sigma})_{v'} &= \max\{\gamma_{v',1}(\bar{\sigma}_{1}), \dots, \gamma_{v',v_{l}}(\bar{\sigma}_{v_{l}}), \dots, \gamma_{v',n}(\bar{\sigma}_{n})\} \\ &= \max\{\widetilde{\gamma}_{v',1}(\widetilde{\sigma}_{1}), \dots, \underbrace{\gamma_{v',v_{l}} \circ \cdots \circ \gamma_{v_{1},v} \circ \tilde{\sigma}_{J}}_{\widetilde{\gamma}_{v',J} \circ \tilde{\sigma}_{J}}, \dots, \widetilde{\gamma}_{v',n}(\tilde{\sigma}_{n})\} \\ &= \max\{\widetilde{\gamma}_{v',1}(\widetilde{\sigma}_{1}), \dots, \underbrace{\gamma_{v',J} \circ \tilde{\sigma}_{J}, \dots, \widetilde{\gamma}_{v',n}(\tilde{\sigma}_{n})}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{v'}} = \bar{\sigma}_{v'}. \end{split}$$

Thus $\Gamma(\bar{\sigma}) \leq \bar{\sigma}$ and $\bar{\sigma}$ is an Ω -path corresponding to the large gain matrix Γ .

The proposition above implies the following result concerning the construction of an ISS-Lyapunov function.

Corollary 3.2.4. Consider a system of the form (2.5) that is interconnection of subsystems (2.1). Assume that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that each subsystem *i* of (2.1) has an ISS-Lyapunov function V_i with the corresponding ISS-Lyapunov gains $\gamma_{ij}, \gamma_i, i, j = 1, ..., n$ as in (2.34), (2.36). Let $\overline{\Gamma}$ be defined as in (2.99) with $I_{\text{max}} = \{1, ..., n\}$. Assume that there exist an Ω -path $\tilde{\sigma}$ with respect to $\widetilde{\Gamma}$ defined by (3.7)-(3.9) and a function $\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ given by (2.100). Then the system (2.5) is ISS and an ISS-Lyapunov function is given by (2.101) with σ from (3.11).

Proof. The assertion follows from Theorem 2.4.11 and Proposition 3.2.3.

3.2.2 Aggregation of nodes connected in parallel

Parallel connections are characterized by the vertices having the same predecessor and successor sets consisting of a single vertex. Let the vertices $V_J := \{v_1, \ldots, v_l\} \subset V$ be *connected in parallel*, i.e. every vertex has only one ingoing and one outgoing edge and the ingoing edges originate from one vertex $v \in V$ and also the outgoing edges end in solely one vertex $v' \in V$, see Figure 3.3. To be precise, $V_J = \{i \in V : P(i) = v, S(i) = v'\}$.



Figure 3.3: Parallel connection of vertices v_1, \ldots, v_l .

The corresponding gain matrix is given by

$$\Gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \dots & \dots \\ \dots & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & \dots & \dots \\ \dots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots \\ \dots & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & \gamma_{v_l,v} & 0 & \dots \\ \dots & 0 & \gamma_{v',v_1} & \dots & \gamma_{v',v_l} & \dots & \dots \\ \dots & \dots & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & \dots & \dots \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.12)

The cycle condition (2.42) for the cycles that include nodes from $\{v_1, \ldots, v_l\}$ looks as follows:

$$\dots \circ \gamma_{v',v_i} \circ \gamma_{v_i,v} \circ \dots < \mathrm{id}. \tag{3.13}$$

Aggregation of gains

Based on this structure a possibility to attain a graph of a smaller size is to aggregate the vertices connected in parallel to a single vertex and to leave the structure of the remaining graph as it is. We denote the new vertex by J. A cut-out of the new reduced graph is shown in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4: Aggregation of vertices v_1, \ldots, v_l, v .

So, we consider the reduced graph $\widetilde{G} = (\widetilde{V}, \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{\Gamma})$, where the vertices are given by

$$V = (V \setminus (V_J \cup \{v\})) \cup J \tag{3.14}$$

and the edges are given by

$$\tilde{E} = E \setminus (\{(v,w), (w,v') : w \in V_J\} \cup (v,v')) \cup (J,v') \cup \{(u,J) : (u,v) \in E\}.$$
(3.15)

The corresponding weighted adjacency matrix Γ of the dimension n-l can be obtained from Γ , where the rows and columns corresponding to the vertices v, v_1, \ldots, v_l are replaced by a row and column corresponding to the new vertex J. The weights are then given by

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{v',J} := \max\{\gamma_{v',v_1} \circ \gamma_{v_1,v}, \dots, \gamma_{v',v_l} \circ \gamma_{v_l,v}, \gamma_{v',v}\},\tag{3.16}$$

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{J,v'} := \gamma_{v,v'}, \quad \widetilde{\gamma}_{J,j} := \gamma_{v,j}, \quad \widetilde{\gamma}_{j,J} := \gamma_{j,J}, \quad j \in V \setminus (V_J \cup \{v, v'\}).$$
(3.17)

Other gains stay the same, i.e.

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{ij} := \gamma_{ij}, i, j \neq J. \tag{3.18}$$

The small gain condition (2.41) corresponding to the reduced gain matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ has the following properties.

Theorem 3.2.5. Consider a gain matrix Γ as in (3.12). If condition (2.41) holds for the matrix $\dot{\Gamma}$ with gains defined in (3.16)-(3.18), then it holds also for the matrix Γ .

Furthermore, if there were p cycles that include node v_i , then the number of cycles to be checked in the cycle condition (2.42) corresponding to the reduced matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ is decreased by $p(l - 1 - \delta_{v',v})$, where $\delta_{v',v} := 1$, if $\gamma_{v',v} \neq 0$ and $\delta_{v',v} := 0$ otherwise.

Proof. Let condition (2.41) for the gains defined in (3.16)-(3.18) hold. Then the cycle condition (2.42) for these gains holds. In particular, for the cycles containing the gain $\tilde{\gamma}_{v',J}$ the following inequality holds:

$$\ldots \circ \widetilde{\gamma}_{v',J} \circ \ldots < \mathrm{id}. \tag{3.19}$$

From the definition of the gain $\tilde{\gamma}_{v',J}$ in (3.16), condition (3.13) holds. Condition (2.42) on the other cycles is satisfied straightforwardly. Thus Γ satisfies (2.41).

If there were p cycles that include node v_i in the large graph, then the number of the cycles that include a node from $\{v_1, \ldots, v_l\}$ is $p \cdot l$. If $\gamma_{v',v} \neq 0$, then the number of cycles with nodes $\{v_1, \ldots, v_l\}$ and gain $\gamma_{v',v}$ is $p \cdot (l+1)$. After the aggregation of the gains these cycles will "coincide", thus the number of the cycles to be checked in the small gain condition (2.41) is decreased by $p(l-1-\delta_{v',v})$.

Again, to show that a system of the form (2.5) is ISS, it is enough to verify the small gain condition corresponding to the reduced gain matrix.

Corollary 3.2.6. Consider interconnected system (2.5) and assume that the set $\{f(x, u) : u \in U \cap \epsilon \mathbb{B}\}$ is convex for each $x \in \chi, \epsilon > 0$. Assume also that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that all subsystems in (2.1) are ISS with gains as in (2.14). If condition (2.41) holds for the gains defined in (3.16)-(3.18), then the system (2.5) is ISS.

Proof. The assertion follows from Theorem 3.2.5 and Theorem 2.4.5.

Construction of an Ω **-path**

Again we can calculate an Ω -path for a large gain matrix having an Ω -path corresponding for the reduced one.

Proposition 3.2.7. Consider a gain matrix Γ and the corresponding reduced gain matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ with gains defined in (3.16)-(3.18). Let an Ω -path $\tilde{\sigma}$ for $\tilde{\Gamma}$ satisfying (2.71) be given. Then an Ω -path $\bar{\sigma}$ for the matrix Γ can be constructed as

$$\bar{\sigma}_w := \begin{cases} \gamma_{w,v} \circ \tilde{\sigma}_J, & \text{if } w \in \{v_1, \dots, v_l\}, \\ \tilde{\sigma}_w, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(3.20)

Proof. We assume that an Ω -path $\tilde{\sigma}$ for the small gain matrix $\tilde{\sigma}$ is known. In particular, by (2.71) $\tilde{\Gamma}(\tilde{\sigma}) \leq \tilde{\sigma}$ holds. Let us check whether an Ω -path $\bar{\sigma}$ defined in (3.20) is an Ω -path for the large matrix Γ . To this end we need to check (2.71).

For the components $\Gamma(\bar{\sigma})_w$, $w \notin \{v_1, \ldots, v_l, v'\}$ the inequality (2.71) holds straightforwardly. Consider now $\Gamma(\bar{\sigma})_w$, $w \in \{v_1, \ldots, v_l\}$. Applying (3.16)-(3.18) and (3.20) we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(\bar{\sigma})_w &= \gamma_{w,v} \circ \bar{\sigma}_v = \tilde{\sigma}_w; \\ \Gamma(\bar{\sigma})_{v'} &= \max\{\gamma_{v',1}(\bar{\sigma}_1), \dots, \gamma_{v',v_1}(\bar{\sigma}_{v_1}), \dots, \gamma_{v',v_1}(\bar{\sigma}_{v_l}), \dots, \gamma_{v',n}(\bar{\sigma}_n)\} \\ &= \max\{\widetilde{\gamma}_{v',1}(\widetilde{\sigma}_1), \dots, \underbrace{\gamma_{v',v_1} \circ \gamma_{v_1,v} \circ \widetilde{\sigma}_J, \dots, \gamma_{v',v_l} \circ \gamma_{v_l,v} \circ \widetilde{\sigma}_J}_{\widetilde{\gamma}_{v',J} \circ \widetilde{\sigma}_J}, \dots, \widetilde{\gamma}_{v',n}(\widetilde{\sigma}_n)\} \\ &= \max\{\widetilde{\gamma}_{v',1}(\widetilde{\sigma}_1), \dots, \widetilde{\gamma}_{v',J} \circ \widetilde{\sigma}_J, \dots, \widetilde{\gamma}_{v',n}(\widetilde{\sigma}_n) \\ &\leq \widetilde{\sigma}_{v'} = \bar{\sigma}_{v'}. \end{split}$$

Thus $\Gamma(\bar{\sigma}) \leq \bar{\sigma}$ and $\bar{\sigma}$ is an Ω -path corresponding to the large gain matrix Γ .

Corollary 3.2.8. Consider a system of the form (2.5) that is an interconnection of the subsystems (2.1). Assume that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that each subsystem *i* of (2.1) has an ISS Lyapunov function V_i with corresponding ISS-Lyapunov gains $\gamma_{ij}, \gamma_i, i, j = 1, ..., n$ as in (2.34), (2.36). Let $\overline{\Gamma}$ be defined as in (2.99) with $I_{\text{max}} = \{1, ..., n\}$. Assume that there exists an Ω -path $\tilde{\sigma}$ with respect to $\widetilde{\Gamma}$ defined by (3.16)-(3.18) and a function $\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ given by (2.100). Then the system (2.5) is ISS and an ISS-Lyapunov function is given by (2.101) with σ from (3.20).

Proof. The assertion follows from Theorem 2.4.11 and Proposition 3.2.7.

3.2.3 Aggregation of almost disconnected subgraphs

A further structure in the network, that suggests itself to a reduction is given by subgraphs which are connected to the remainder of the network through just a single vertex. So, we consider a set of vertices $V_J = \{v_1, ..., v_l\}$ and a distinguished vertex $v^* \in V \setminus V_J$ such that any path from $v_i, i =$ 1, ..., l to the remainder of the vertices in $V \setminus V_J$, and any path from $V \setminus V_J$ to V_J necessarily passes through the vertex v^* . If we assume that the whole graph is strongly connected, this implies in particular, that the subgraph induced by $V_J \cup \{v^*\}$ is by itself strongly connected.

In Figure 3.5 an example graph is shown, where the vertices $V_J = \{v_1, \ldots, v_l\}$ are connected with the rest of the graph only through the vertex v^* .



Figure 3.5: The subgraph consisting of the vertices $V_J = \{v_1, v_2, v_3\}$ is almost disconnected from the graph.

The cycles in (2.42) that include nodes only from $\{v_1, \ldots, v_l, v^*\}$ look as follows:

$$\gamma_{k_1,k_2} \circ \gamma_{k_2,k_3} \circ \dots \circ \gamma_{k_{r-1},k_r} < \mathrm{id},\tag{3.21}$$

for all $(k_1, ..., k_r) \in \{v_1, ..., v_l, v^*\}^r$ with $k_1 = k_r$.

Aggregation of gains

To reduce the network size we aggregate the vertices of the subgraph V_J with vertex v^* and do not change the remainder of the graph. We denote the new vertex by J. For the example in Figure 3.5 the

reduced graph is shown in Figure 3.6. So we consider the reduced graph $\tilde{G} = (\tilde{V}, \tilde{E}, \tilde{A})$, where the vertices are given by

$$\tilde{V} = (V \setminus (V_J \cup \{v^*\})) \cup J \tag{3.22}$$

and the edges are given by

$$\tilde{E} = E \setminus \{ (w_1, w_2), (v^*, w_1), (w_1, v^*) : w_1, w_2 \in V_J \} \cup \{ (J, u) : u \in \tilde{V}, (v^*, u) \in E \} \cup \{ (u, J) : u \in \tilde{V}, (u, v^*) \in E \}.$$
 (3.23)



Figure 3.6: Subgraph V_J and node v^* are merged to vertex J.

The corresponding weighted adjacency matrix Γ of the dimension n - l + 1 can be obtained from Γ , where the rows and columns corresponding to the vertices v_1, \ldots, v_l are replaced by a row and column corresponding to new vertex J. The weights are then given by

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{J,v^*} := \max_{(k_1,\dots,k_r)\in\{v_1,\dots,v_l,v^*\}^r, k_1=k_r} \{\gamma_{k_1,k_2} \circ \gamma_{k_2,k_3} \circ \dots \circ \gamma_{k_{r-1},k_r}\},\tag{3.24}$$

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{v^*,J} = \mathrm{id.} \tag{3.25}$$

Other gains stay the same, i.e.

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{ij} := \gamma_{ij}, \, i, j \neq J. \tag{3.26}$$

Theorem 3.2.9. Consider a gain matrix Γ . If condition (2.41) holds for the gain matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ with gains defined in (3.24)-(3.26), then it holds also for the matrix Γ .

If there were p cycles that include nodes only from $V_J \cup \{v^*\}$, then the number of cycles to be checked in the cycle condition (2.42) corresponding to the reduced matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ is decreased by p - 1.

Proof. Let condition (2.41) for the gains defined in (3.24)-(3.26) hold. Then the cycle condition (2.42) for these gains holds. In particular, for the cycles containing $\tilde{\gamma}_{v^*,J}$, $\tilde{\gamma}_{J,v^*}$ the following inequality holds:

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{v^*,J} \circ \widetilde{\gamma}_{J,v^*} < \text{id.} \tag{3.27}$$

From the definition of the gains $\tilde{\gamma}_{J,v^*}$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_{v^*,J}$ in (3.24) and (3.25), condition (2.41) for the large matrix Γ holds. Conditions on the other cycles in (2.42) are satisfied straightforwardly.

As instead of p cycles with nodes only from $V_J \cup \{v^*\}$ we consider only one cycle $\tilde{\gamma}_{v^*,J} \circ \tilde{\gamma}_{J,v^*}$, the number of cycles corresponding to the small gain matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ is decreased by p-1.

Corollary 3.2.10. Consider interconnected system (2.5) and assume that the set $\{f(x, u) : u \in U \cap \epsilon \mathbb{B}\}$ is convex for each $x \in \chi, \epsilon > 0$. Assume also that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that all subsystems in (2.1) are ISS with gains as in (2.14). If condition (2.41) holds for the gains defined in (3.24)-(3.26), then the system (2.5) is ISS.

Proof. The assertion follows from Theorem 3.2.9 and Theorem 2.4.5.

Construction of an Ω **-path**

Again, we can calculate an Ω -path for a large gain matrix having an Ω -path corresponding for a reduced one.

Proposition 3.2.11. Consider a gain matrix Γ and the corresponding reduced gain matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$ with gains defined in (3.24)-(3.26). Let an Ω -path $\tilde{\sigma}$ for $\tilde{\Gamma}$ satisfying (2.71) be given. Then there exists an Ω -path $\bar{\sigma}$ for the matrix Γ .

Proof. Using definitions of the gains $\tilde{\gamma}_{v^*,J}$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_{J,v^*}$ in (3.24)-(3.26) we obtain that all the cycles of the large network satisfy the cycle condition (2.42). Thus, we can construct an Ω -path for a large system using Proposition 2.3.14.

Corollary 3.2.12. Consider a system of the form (2.5) that is an interconnection of the subsystems (2.1). Assume that $D_i = D, i = 1, ..., n$ and that each subsystem *i* of (2.1) has an ISS-Lyapunov function V_i with the corresponding ISS-Lyapunov gains $\gamma_{ij}, \gamma_i, i, j = 1, ..., n$ as in (2.34), (2.36). Let $\overline{\Gamma}$ be defined as in (2.99) with $I_{\text{max}} = \{1, ..., n\}$. Assume that there exists Ω -path $\tilde{\sigma}$ with respect to $\widetilde{\Gamma}$ defined by (3.24)-(3.26) and a function $\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ given by (2.100). Then the system (2.5) is ISS and an ISS-Lyapunov function is given by (2.101).

Proof. The assertion follows from Theorem 2.4.11 and Proposition 3.2.11.

3.2.4 Notes on application of the aggregation rules

The aggregation rules described in the previous subsections preserve the main structure of a logistics network. Furthermore, in the case that there exist several motifs in one network, these rules can be applied step-by-step to reduce the size of the gain matrix Γ . The sequence of the application of these rules may be arbitrary or depend on some additional information about the network topology. For example, this sequence may depend on information about the most influential nodes of the network, see [144, Algorithm 1].

We restrict us on the maximum formulation of ISS. However, this reduction approach can be extended to more general formulations by applying, for example, Proposition 2.3.17.

The "quality" of the reduction is evaluated by the verifying, whether fulfillment of the small gain condition corresponding to the reduced gain matrix implies fulfillment of the small gain condition corresponding to the original gain matrix, and by comparing the number of cycles to be checked in the corresponding small gain conditions.

Chapter 4

Conclusion and outlook

Conclusion

The existing approaches to model logistics networks vary in their capabilities to describe network dynamics and in applicability to study network performance. In Chapter 1 we have reviewed eleven different approaches to model dynamics of logistics networks with application to stability analysis. Each approach possesses one of the four types of dynamics: discrete, continuous, stochastic or hybrid one. Comparison of the characteristics of these approaches is provided in Table 1.1.

Interconnected hybrid system of the form (1.55) provides a flexibility in the modelling of logistics networks due to its ability to model continuous and discrete processes occurring in the network. In the framework of this model, the state of the network is denoted by the variable x and the external inputs by the variable u. The continuous dynamics is described by the function f(x, u) and the discrete one by the function g(x, u). The set C determines when the state of the network changes continuously and the set D when the state of the network changes discretely. Complexity of the cooperation structure of logistics networks, perturbation of external inputs, nonlinearity of dynamics can lead to instability of the behaviour of logistics networks. The notion of input-to-state stability (ISS) allows to describe stability of dynamical systems with external inputs. Furthermore, there exists already a well-established method to study ISS of interconnected systems with only continuous or only discrete dynamics. This method is based on the so-called small gain condition that serves as a sufficient condition for ISS of an interconnection.

In Chapter 2 we have extended application of this condition to hybrid systems. Furthermore, we have extended this condition to the case when some of the subsystems are ISS in terms of the maximization formulation and other in terms of summations. Such mixed formulation can lead to more sharp stability conditions, see Examples 2.3.5 and 2.3.6. To guarantee ISS of interconnected hybrid system we require in Theorem 2.4.5 ISS of all its subsystems and that the condition $\Gamma \circ D \not\geq$ id holds, where the gain matrix Γ describes the interconnection structure of the system and the diagonal operator D has id on the *i*th component of the diagonal if the *i*th system is ISS in terms of maximizations and id + α if the *i*th system is ISS in terms of summations. As well as in continuous or discrete systems, ISS-Lyapunov functions provide a useful tool to establish ISS of hybrid systems. By imposing the same small gain condition $\Gamma \circ D \not\geq$ id we have provided in Theorem 2.4.13 a construction of the ISS-Lyapunov function for the interconnection. This function is given by a scaling of ISS-Lyapunov functions for subsystems. Furthermore, we have presented application of this small gain condition to certain subclasses of hybrid systems: impulsive systems, comparison systems and systems with stability of only a part of the state. These subclasses of hybrid systems allow to model specific types of logistics networks.

In order to verify the small gain condition in the case of the large size of a logistics network, we have presented a method of the reduction of the size of the gain matrix Γ in Chapter 3. In this method we consider the interconnection structure of the network as a weighted graph where the nodes describe the subsystems and the weights describe the gains between the subsystems. Reduction of the gain matrix is performed by an aggregation of the gains of the gain matrix that correspond to certain interconnection motifs of the graph: sequentially connected nodes, nodes connected in parallel and almost disconnected subgraphs. We have established that ISS of a large-scale interconnected system can be concluded by the verifying the small gain condition corresponding to the reduced matrix $\tilde{\Gamma}$, see Corollaries 3.2.2, 3.2.6 and 3.2.10.

Outlook

Flexibility of interconnected hybrid systems in modelling of complex dynamical behaviour enables further extension and investigation of the dynamics and performance of logistics networks like considering of random effects, modelling of different production and service policies by adjusting the functions f, g and the sets C and D, and like imposing of control problems. Furthermore, the obtained stability results can be applied in other types of networks with hybrid dynamics like telecommunication, artificial neural or biological ones.

To stabilize a network with hybrid dynamics, methods for feedback control can be developed using the small gain condition and by extending the results from continuous systems, e.g. [80].

A restriction in the application of an ISS-Lyapunov function mentioned in Remark 2.2.15 suggests the development of more sharp Lyapunov-like functions and of stability conditions to be able to establish stability of hybrid systems with unstable continuous or discrete dynamics. We suppose to start by considering some subclasses of hybrid systems or particular types of stability.

The convexity assumption on the function f in Theorem 2.4.5 is needed to use the equivalence between the asymptotic gain property and 0-input pre-stability in the proof of Theorem 2.4.5 from [28, Theorem 3.1]. We suppose that in some cases we can omit this assumption. To get rid of this restriction one needs either to revise the proof of Theorem 2.4.5 or to prove the equivalence between the asymptotic gain property and 0-input pre-stability without the convexity assumption. Furthermore, we suggest that the requirement $D_i = D$ in the small gain theorems, see Theorem 2.4.5 for example, can be weakened for some particular cases of interconnections.

In Chapter 3 we have performed only initial steps in the development of a model reduction approach for large-scale networks with nonlinear dynamics. The next steps could be: extension of the aggregation rules to other types of motifs, introduction and estimation of the error measure that compares the reduced and the original models, and the development of a numerical algorithm that performs this reduction. Further improvement of the approach may be performed by the adapting of the ranking technique used in [142], [143] and [144] to identify the most influential logistic locations.

Bibliography

- [1] A.A. Ahundov. Observability of linear hybrid systems. *Vescī Akad. Navuk BSSR Ser. Fīz.-Mat. Navuk*, 5(139):53–57, 1975.
- [2] A. Altman and M. Tennenholtz. Ranking systems: the pagerank axioms. In *Proceedings of the* 6th ACM conference on Electronic commerce, Vancouver, BC, Canada, pages 1–8, 2005.
- [3] D. Angeli and A. Astolfi. A tight small-gain theorem for not necessarily ISS systems. *Systems & Control Letters*, 56(1):87–91, 2007.
- [4] A. C. Antoulas. Approximation of large-scale dynamical systems, volume 6 of Advances in Design and Control. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 2005.
- [5] P. Antsaklis, J. Stiver, and M. Lemmon. Hybrid system modeling and autonomous control systems. *Hybrid Systems*, 736:366–392, 1993. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Springer-Verlag, London, UK.
- [6] D. Armbruster, P. Degond, and C. Ringhofer. A model for the dynamics of large queuing networks and supply chains. *SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics*, 66(3):896–920, 2006.
- [7] D. Armbruster and E.S. Gel. Bucket brigades revisited: Are they always effective? *European Journal of Operational Research*, 172(1):213–229, 2006.
- [8] D. Armbruster, E.S. Gel, and J. Murakami. Bucket brigades with worker learning. *European Journal of Operations Research*, 176(1):264–274, 2007.
- [9] D. Armbruster, D. E. Marthaler, C. Ringhofer, K. Kempf, and T.-C. Jo. A continuum model for a re-entrant factory. *Operations Research*, 54(5):933–950, 2006.
- [10] A. Astolfi. Model reduction by moment matching for linear and nonlinear systems. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 55(10):2321–2336, 2010.
- [11] P. Astrid. *Reduction of process simulation models: a proper orthogonal decomposition approach.* PhD thesis, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 2004.
- [12] P. Athanasios and S. Unnikrishna Pillai. Probability, Random Variables, and Stochastic Processes. Mcgraw-Hill Higher Education, 2002.
- [13] J.-P. Aubin. Viability Theory. Birkhäuser Boston, 1 edition, 1991.
- [14] J. Bang-Jensen and G. Gutin. *Digraphs: Theory, Algorithms and Applications*. Springer Monographs in Mathematics, 2009.

- [15] J.J. Bartholdi, D.D. Eisenstein, and R.D. Foley. Performance of bucket brigades when work is stochastic. *Operations Research*, 49(5):710–719, 2001.
- [16] J.J. Bartholdi III, L.A. Bunimovich, and D.D. Eisenstein. Dynamics of two- and three-worker "bucket brigade" production lines. *Operations Research*, 47(3):488–491, 1999.
- [17] B.M. Beamon. Supply chain design and analysis: Models and methods. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 55(3):281 294, 1998.
- [18] R.E. Bellman. *Dynamic Programming*. Dover Publications, Incorporated, 2003.
- [19] A. Bemporad, F. Borrelli, and M. Morari. Min-max control of constrained uncertain discretetime linear systems. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 48(9):1600–1606, 2003.
- [20] A. Berman and R. J. Plemmons. *Nonnegative matrices in the mathematical sciences*. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Publishers], New York, 1979.
- [21] D.P. Bischak. Performance of a manufacturing module with moving workers. *IIE Transactions*, 28(9):723–733, 1996.
- [22] E. Biyik and M. Arcak. Area aggregation and time-scale modeling for sparse nonlinear networks. Systems & Control Letters, 57(2):142–149, 2008.
- [23] R.N. Boute, S.M. Disney, M.R. Lambrecht, and B. Van Houdt. An integrated production and inventory model to dampen upstream demand variability in the supply chain. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 178(1):121–142, 2007.
- [24] T. Breiten and T. Damm. Krylov subspace methods for model order reduction of bilinear control systems. Systems & Control Letters, 59(8):443 – 450, 2010.
- [25] L. Bunimovich. Dynamical systems and operations research: a basic model. *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems. Series B*, 1(2):209–218, 2001.
- [26] J.A. Buzacott and J. G. Shanthikumar. *Stochastic Models Of Manufacturing Systems*. Prentice Hall, 1992.
- [27] C. Cai and A.R. Teel. Results on input-to-state stability for hybrid systems. In *Proceedings of the 44th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC) and European Control Conference (ECC)*, pages 5403–5408, Seville, Spain, December 2005.
- [28] C. Cai and A.R. Teel. Characterizations of input-to-state stability for hybrid systems. Systems & Control Letters, 58(1):47–53, 2009.
- [29] M. Chaves. Input-to-state stability of rate-controlled biochemical networks. SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 44(2):704–727, 2005.
- [30] F. Chen, J.K. Ryan, and D. Simchi-Levi. The impact of exponential smoothing forecasts on the bullwhip effect. *Naval Research Logistics*, 47(4):269–286, 2000.
- [31] H. Chen and H. Zhang. Stability of multiclass queueing networks under FIFO service discipline. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 22(3):691–725, 1997.

- [32] H. Chen and H. Zhang. Stability of multiclass queueing networks priority service disciplines. *Operations Research*, 48(1):26–37, 2000.
- [33] M. Christopher. *Logistics and supply chain management: creating value-added networks*. Financial Times Prentice Hall, Harlow, England, 3rd edition, 2005.
- [34] F.H. Clarke, Yu.S. Ledyaev, R.J. Stern, and P.R. Wolenski. *Nonsmooth analysis and control theory*, volume 178 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998.
- [35] J. Cortés. Discontinuous dynamical systems: a tutorial on solutions, nonsmooth analysis, and stability. *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, 28(3):36–73, 2008.
- [36] C.F. Daganzo. A Theory of Supply Chains, volume 526 of Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003.
- [37] C.F. Daganzo. On the stability of supply chains. *Operations Research*, 52(6):909–921, 2004.
- [38] J. Dai. On positive Harris recurrence of multiclass queueing networks: A unified approach via fluid limit models. *Annals of Applied Probability*, 5(1):49–77, 1995.
- [39] J. G. Dai and G. Weiss. Stability and Instability of Fluid Models for Reentrant Lines. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 21(1):115–134, 1996.
- [40] C. D'Apice, R. Manzo, and B. Piccoli. Modelling supply networks with partial differential equations. *Quarterly of Applied Mathematics*, 67(3):419–440, 2009.
- [41] S. Dashkovskiy, M. Görges, M. Kosmykov, A. Mironchenko, and L. Naujok. Modelling methods and stability analysis of autonomous controlled production networks. *Logistics Research*, 3(2):145–157, 2011.
- [42] S. Dashkovskiy, M. Görges, and L. Naujok. Local input-to-state stability of production networks. In Hans-Jörg Kreowski, Bernd Scholz-Reiter, and Klaus-Dieter Thoben, editors, *Dynamics in Logistics*, pages 79–89. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011.
- [43] S. Dashkovskiy, H.R. Karimi, and M. Kosmykov. A Lyapunov-Razumikhin approach for stability analysis of logistics networks with time-delays. *To appear in International Journal of Systems Science*. DOI: 10.1080/00207721.2010.528179.
- [44] S. Dashkovskiy, H.R. Karimi, M. Kosmykov, A. Mironchenko, and L. Naujok. Application of the LISS Lyapunov-Krasovskii small-gain theorem to autonomously controlled production networks with time-delays. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Control and Fault-Tolerant Systems (SysTol'10)*, pages 765–770, Nice, France, October 2010.
- [45] S. Dashkovskiy and M. Kosmykov. Input-to-state stability of interconnected hybrid systems. Submitted to Automatica. Preprint: http://arxiv.org/abs/1012.5528.
- [46] S. Dashkovskiy and M. Kosmykov. Stability of networks of hybrid ISS systems. In Proceedings of the Joint 48th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control and 28th Chinese Control Conference (CDC/CCC 2009), pages 3870–3875, Shanghai, P.R. China, December 2009.
- [47] S. Dashkovskiy, M. Kosmykov, and L. Naujok. Stability of interconnected impulsive systems with and without time-delays using Lyapunov methods. *Submitted to Nonlinear Analysis: Hybrid Systems*. http://arxiv.org/abs/1011.2865.

- [48] S. Dashkovskiy, M. Kosmykov, and L. Naujok. ISS of interconnected impulsive systems with and without time-delays. In *Proceedings of the 8th IFAC Symposium on Nonlinear Control Systems (NOLCOS)*, pages 831–836, Bologna, Italy, September 2010.
- [49] S. Dashkovskiy, M. Kosmykov, and F. Wirth. A small gain condition for interconnections of ISS systems with mixed ISS characterizations. In *Proceedings of the European Control Conference (ECC'09)*, pages 1083–1088, Budapest, Hungary, August 2009.
- [50] S. Dashkovskiy, M. Kosmykov, and F.R. Wirth. A small-gain condition for interconnections of ISS systems with mixed ISS characterizations. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 56(6):1247–1258, 2011.
- [51] S. Dashkovskiy, B. Rüffer, and F. Wirth. A Lyapunov ISS small gain theorem for strongly connected networks. In *Proceedings of the 7th IFAC Symposium on Nonlinear Control Systems* (NOLCOS), pages 283–288, Pretoria, South Africa, August 2007.
- [52] S. Dashkovskiy, B. Rüffer, and F. Wirth. Small gain theorems for large scale systems and construction of ISS Lyapunov functions. *SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization*, 48(6):4089– 4118, 2010.
- [53] S. Dashkovskiy, B.S. Rüffer, and F.R. Wirth. An ISS Lyapunov function for networks of ISS systems. In Proceedings of the 17th International Symposium on Mathematical Theory of Networks and Systems (MTNS), pages 77–82, Kyoto, Japan, July 2006.
- [54] S. Dashkovskiy, B.S. Rüffer, and F.R. Wirth. An ISS small gain theorem for general networks. *Mathematics of Control, Signals, and Systems*, 19(2):93–122, 2007.
- [55] J. Dong, D. Zhang, and A. Nagurney. A supply chain network equilibrium model with random demands. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 156(1):194 212, 2004.
- [56] A. Dumrongsiri, M. Fan, A. Jain, and K. Moinzadeh. A supply chain model with direct and retail channels. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 187:691–718, 2008.
- [57] B.C. Eaves. Homotopies for computation of fixed points. *Mathematical Programming*, 3:1–22, 1972.
- [58] L.C. Evans. *Partial Differential Equations*, volume 19 of *Graduate Studies in Mathematics*. American Mathematical Society, 1998.
- [59] J. W. Forrester. Industrial Dynamics. MIT Press, 1961.
- [60] R. Goebel, J. Hespanha, A.R. Teel, C. Cai, and R. Sanfelice. Hybrid systems: generalized solutions and robust stability. In *Proceedings of the 6th IFAC Symposium on Nonlinear Control Systems (NOLCOS)*, Stuttgart, Germany, September 2004.
- [61] R. Goebel, R. Sanfelice, and A.R. Teel. Invariance principles for switching systems via hybrid systems techniques. Systems & Control Letters, 57(12):980–986, 2008.
- [62] R. Goebel, R.G. Sanfelice, and A.R. Teel. Hybrid dynamical systems: robust stability and control for systems that combine continuous-time and discrete-time dynamics. *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, 29(2):28–93, 2009.

- [63] R. Goebel and A.R. Teel. Solutions to hybrid inclusions via set and graphical convergence with stability theory applications. *Automatica*, 42(4):573–587, 2006.
- [64] S. Göttlich, M. Herty, and A. Klar. Network models for supply chains. Communications in Mathematical Sciences, 3(4):545–559, 2005.
- [65] S. Göttlich, M. Herty, and A. Klar. Modelling and optimization of supply chains on complex networks. *Communications in Mathematical Sciences*, 4(2):315–330, 2006.
- [66] L. Grüne. Asymptotic behavior of dynamical and control systems under perturbation and discretization, volume 1783 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002.
- [67] W.M. Haddad, V.S. Chellaboina, and S.G. Nersesov. *Impulsive and hybrid dynamical systems*. Princeton Series in Applied Mathematics. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2006.
- [68] F. Harary. Graph Theory. Addison-Wesley, Reading, 1969.
- [69] D. Helbing and S. Lämmer. Supply and production networks: From the bullwhip effect to business cycles. *Networks of Interacting Machines: Production Organization in Complex Industrial Systems and Biological Cells*, pages 33–66, 2005. World Scientific, Singapore.
- [70] D. Helbing, S. Lämmer, T. Seidel, P. Seba, and T. Platkowski. Physics, stability and dynamics of supply networks. *Physical Review E*, 70:066116.1–066116.6, 2004.
- [71] M. Herty, A. Klar, and B. Piccoli. Existence of solutions for supply chain models based on partial differential equations. *SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis*, 39(1):160–173, 2007.
- [72] J.P. Hespanha, D. Liberzon, and A.R. Teel. Lyapunov conditions for input-to-state stability of impulsive systems. *Automatica*, 44(11):2735–2744, 2008.
- [73] J.P. Hespanha and A.S. Morse. Stabilization of nonholonomic integrators via logic-based switching. *Automatica*, 35(3):385–393, 1999.
- [74] L.M. Hocking. *Optimal Control: An Introduction to the Theory with Applications*. Oxford Applied Mathematics and Computing Science. Clarendon Press, 1991.
- [75] P. Holmes, J.L. Lumley, and G. Berkooz. *Turbulence, coherent structures, dynamical systems and symmetry*. Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- [76] C. Homescu, L.R. Petzold, and R. Serban. Error estimation for reduced-order models of dynamical systems. SIAM Review, 49(2):277–299, 2007.
- [77] J. Honerkamp. Stochastic Dynamical Systems. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 1993.
- [78] G.Q. Huang, J.S.K. Lau, and K.L. Mak. The impacts of sharing production information on supply chain dynamics: a review of the literature. *International Journal of Production Research*, 41:1483–1517(35), 2003.
- [79] H. Ito. A degree of flexibility in Lyapunov inequalities for establishing input-to-state stability of interconnected systems. *Automatica*, 44(9):2340–2346, 2008.

- [80] Z.-P. Jiang and M. Arcak. Robust global stabilization with ignored input dynamics: an input-to-state stability (ISS) small-gain approach. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 46(9):1411–1415, 2001.
- [81] Z.-P. Jiang, I.M.Y. Mareels, and Y. Wang. A Lyapunov formulation of the nonlinear small-gain theorem for interconnected ISS systems. *Automatica*, 32(8):1211–1215, 1996.
- [82] Z.-P. Jiang, A.R. Teel, and L. Praly. Small-gain theorem for ISS systems and applications. *Mathematics of Control, Signals and Systems*, 7(2):95–120, 1994.
- [83] Z.-P. Jiang and Y. Wang. A converse Lyapunov theorem for discrete-time systems with disturbances. Systems & Control Letters, 45(1):49–58, 2001.
- [84] Z.-P. Jiang and Y. Wang. Input-to-state stability for discrete-time nonlinear systems. Automatica, 37(6):857–869, 2001.
- [85] Z.-P. Jiang and Y. Wang. A generalization of the nonlinear small-gain theorem for large-scale complex systems. In *Proceedings of the 2008 World Congress on Intelligent Control and Automation (WCICA)*, pages 1188–1193, Chongqing, China, 2008.
- [86] I. Karafyllis and Z.-P. Jiang. A vector small-gain theorem for general nonlinear control systems, 2009. http://arxiv.org/pdf/0904.0755.
- [87] I. Karafyllis and Z.-P. Jiang. A vector small-gain theorem for general nonlinear control systems. In Proceedings of the Joint 48th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control and 28th Chinese Control Conference (CDC/CCC 2009), pages 7996–8001, Shanghai, P.R. China, December 2009.
- [88] N. Kazantzis, C. Kravaris, and L. Syrou. A new model reduction method for nonlinear dynamical systems. *Nonlinear Dynamics*, 59(1-2):183–194, 2010.
- [89] H.K. Khalil. Nonlinear systems. Prentice Hall, New York, 2002.
- [90] P.V. Kokotović, R.E. O'Malley, Jr., and P. Sannuti. Singular perturbations and order reduction in control theory an overview. *Automatica*, 12(2):123–132, 1976.
- [91] D.S. Laila and D. Nešić. Discrete-time Lyapunov-based small-gain theorem for parameterized interconnected ISS systems. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 48(10):1783–1788, 2003.
- [92] S. Lall, P. Krysl, and J.E. Marsden. Structure-preserving model reduction for mechanical systems. *Physica D*, 184(1-4):304–318, 2003. Complexity and nonlinearity in physical systems (Tucson, AZ, 2001).
- [93] S. Lall, J.E. Marsden, and S. Glavaški. A subspace approach to balanced truncation for model reduction of nonlinear control systems. *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control*, 12(6):519–535, 2002.
- [94] M. Laumanns and E. Lefeber. Robust optimal control of material flows in demand-driven supply networks. *Physica A*, 363:24–31, 2006.

- [95] H.L. Lee, V. Padmanabhan, and S. Whang. Information distortion in a supply chain: The bullwhip effect. *Management Science*, 43(4):546–558, 1997.
- [96] D. Liberzon and D. Nesic. Stability analysis of hybrid systems via small-gain theorems. *Springer*, 3927/2006:421–435, 2006.
- [97] J. Lygeros, K.H. Johansson, S.N. Simić, J. Zhang, and S.S. Sastry. Dynamical properties of hybrid automata. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 48(1):2–17, 2003.
- [98] M. La Marca. *Control Of Continuum Models Of Production Systems*. PhD thesis, Arizona State University, 2008.
- [99] V.M. Matrosov. Vector Lyapunov functions in the analysis of nonlinear interconnected systems. Symposia Mathematica, VI(1):209–242, 1971. (INDAM, Rome, 1970), Academic Press, London.
- [100] M. Meixell and V. Gargeya. Global supply chain design: A literature review and critique. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 41(6):531–550, 2005.
- [101] A.N. Michel. Recent trends in the stability analysis of hybrid dynamical systems. *IEEE Trans. Circuits Systems I Fund. Theory Appl.*, 46(1):120–134, 1999. Darlington memorial issue.
- [102] A.N. Michel and B. Hu. Towards a stability theory of general hybrid dynamical systems. *Automatica*, 35(3):371–384, 1999.
- [103] R. Milo, S. Shen-Orr, S. Itzkovitz, N. Kashtan, D. Chklovskii, and U. Alon. Network motifs: Simple building blocks of complex networks. *Science*, 298:824–827, 2002.
- [104] H. Min and G. Zhou. Supply chain modeling: past, present and future. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 43(1-2):231 249, 2002.
- [105] T. Nagatani and D. Helbing. Stability analysis and stabilization strategies for linear supply chains. *Physica A*, 335(3-4):644–660, 2004.
- [106] A. Nagurney. "Supernetworks", Handbook of Optimization in Telecommunications. Springer US, New York, 2003.
- [107] A. Nagurney, J. Cruz, and D. Matsypura. Dynamics of global supply chain supernetworks. *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, 37(9-10):963 983, 2003.
- [108] A. Nagurney, K. Ke, J. Cruz, K. Hancock, and F. Southworth. Dynamics of supply chains: a multilevel (logistical, informational, financial) network perspective. *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 29(6):795 – 818, 2002.
- [109] A. Nagurney and D. Zhang. Projected Dynamical Systems and Variational Inequalities with Applications. International Series in Operations Research & Management Science. Springer, 1995.
- [110] D. Nesic and A.R. Teel. A Lyapunov-based small-gain theorem for hybrid ISS systems. In Proceedings of the 47th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, pages 3380–3385, Cancun, Mexico, December 2008.

- [111] D. Nesic, L. Zaccarian, and A.R. Teel. Stability properties of reset systems. *Automatica*, 44(8):2019–2026, 2008.
- [112] G.F. Newell. A simplified theory of kinematic waves in highway traffic, part I: General theory. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 27(4):281–287, 1993.
- [113] S. Nikitin. Control of manufacturing systems with re-entrant lines. *Mathematical Models & Methods in Applied Sciences*, 6(2):195–215, 1996.
- [114] J.M. Ortega. Stability of difference equations and convergence of iterative processes. *SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis*, 10(2):268–282, 1973.
- [115] Y. Ouyang. The effect of information sharing on supply chain stability and the bullwhip effect. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 182(3):1107 1121, 2007.
- [116] Y. Ouyang and C. Daganzo. Characterization of the bullwhip effect in linear, time-invariant supply chains: Some formulae and tests. *Management science*, 52(10):1544–1556, 2006.
- [117] Y. Ouyang and C. Daganzo. Counteracting the bullwhip effect with decentralized negotiations and advance demand information. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 363(1):14 – 23, 2006.
- [118] Y. Ouyang and C. Daganzo. Robust tests for the bullwhip effect in supply chains with stochastic dynamics. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 185(1):340–353, 2008.
- [119] K. Peters. *Hybrid systems modeling manufacturing and front dynamics*. PhD thesis, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, 2003.
- [120] K. Peters, J. Worbs, U. Parlitz, and H.-P. Wiendahl. Nonlinear Dynamics of Production Processes, chapter Manufacturing systems with restricted buffer sizes, pages 39–54. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2004.
- [121] J.R. Phillips. Projection-based approaches for model reduction of weakly nonlinear, timevarying systems. *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, 22(2):171 – 187, 2003.
- [122] C. Prieur and A. Astolfi. Robust stabilization of chained systems via hybrid control. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 48(10):1768–1772, 2003.
- [123] T. Reis and T. Stykel. A survey on model reduction of coupled systems. In Model order reduction: theory, research aspects and applications, volume 13 of Journal of Mathematics in Industry, pages 133–155. Springer, Berlin, 2008.
- [124] M. Rewieński and J. White. Model order reduction for nonlinear dynamical systems based on trajectory piecewise-linear approximations. *Linear Algebra and its Applications*, 415(2-3):426–454, 2006.
- [125] R.T. Rockafellar and R. J.-B. Wets. Variational Analysis. Springer, 1998.
- [126] B. S. Rüffer. *Monotone Systems, Graphs and Stability of Large-Scale Interconnected Systems*. PhD Thesis, Universität Bremen, Germany, 2007.
- [127] B. S. Rüffer. Monotone inequalities, dynamical systems, and paths in the positive orthant of Euclidean *n*-space. *Positivity*, 14(2):257–283, 2010.
- [128] B. S. Rüffer. Small-gain conditions and the comparison principle. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 55(7):1732–1736, 2010.
- [129] B. Salimbahrami. *Structure Preserving Order Reduction of Large Scale Second Order Models*. PhD thesis, Technischen Universität München, 2005.
- [130] R. Sanfelice. Interconnections of hybrid systems: Some challenges and recent results. *Journal* of Nonlinear Systems and Applications, pages 111–121, 2011.
- [131] R.G. Sanfelice. *Robust Hybrid Control Systems*. PhD Thesis, University of California, Santa Barbara, 2007.
- [132] R.G. Sanfelice, R. Goebel, and A.R. Teel. Invariance principles for hybrid systems with connections to detectability and asymptotic stability. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 52(12):2282–2297, 2007.
- [133] R.G. Sanfelice, R. Goebel, and A.R. Teel. Generalized solutions to hybrid dynamical systems. *ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var.*, 14(4):699–724, 2008.
- [134] R.G. Sanfelice and A.R. Teel. A nested Matrosov theorem for hybrid systems. In *American Control Conference*, pages 2915–2920, Seattle, USA, June 2008.
- [135] H. Sarimveis, P. Patrinos, C.D. Tarantilis, and C.T. Kiranoudis. Dynamic modeling and control of supply chain systems: A review. *Computers & Operations Research*, 35(11):3530 – 3561, 2008.
- [136] A.V. Savkin. Regularizability of complex switched server queueing networks modelled as hybrid dynamical systems. *Systems & Control Letters*, 35(5):291–299, 1998.
- [137] A.V. Savkin and J. Somlo. Optimal distributed real-time scheduling of flexible manufacturing networks modeled as hybrid dynamical systems. *Robotics and Computer-Integrated Manufacturing*, 25(3):597 – 609, 2009.
- [138] J.M.A. Scherpen. Balancing for nonlinear systems. Systems & Control Letters, 21(2):143–153, 1993.
- [139] W.H.A. Schilders, H.A. van der Vorst, and J. Rommes, editors. *Model order reduction: theory, research aspects and applications*, volume 13 of *Mathematics in Industry*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2008. European Consortium for Mathematics in Industry (Berlin).
- [140] B. Scholz-Reiter, M. Freitag, C. de Beer, and T. Jagalski. Modelling dynamics of autonomous logistic processes: Discrete-event versus continuous approaches. *CIRP Annals-Manufacturing Technology*, 54(1):413 – 416, 2005.
- [141] B. Scholz-Reiter, M. Schönlein, M. Kosmykov, and T. Makuschewitz. A comparison of mathematical modelling approaches for stability analysis of supply chains. In *Proceedings of International Conference on Industrial Logistics 'Logistics and Sustainability' (ICIL' 2010)*, pages 297–305, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, March 2010.

- [142] B. Scholz-Reiter, F. Wirth, S. Dashkovskiy, M. Kosmykov, T. Makuschewitz, and M. Schönlein. Application of the PageRank algorithm for ranking locations of a production network. In *42nd CIRP Conference on Manufacturing Systems*, Grenoble, France, June 2009. Proceedings CD.
- [143] B. Scholz-Reiter, F. Wirth, S. Dashkovskiy, M. Kosmykov, T. Makuschewitz, and M. Schönlein. An approach to model reduction of logistic networks based on ranking. In Hans-Jörg Kreowski, Bernd Scholz-Reiter, and Klaus-Dieter Thoben, editors, *Dynamics in Logistics*, pages 91–103. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011.
- [144] B. Scholz-Reiter, F. Wirth, S. Dashkovskiy, T. Makuschewitz, M. Schönlein, and M. Kosmykov. Structure-preserving model reduction of large-scale logistics networks - applications for supply chains. *The European Physical Journal B*, to appear. DOI: 10.1140/epjb/e2011-10894-6.
- [145] B. Scholz-Reiter, F. Wirth, S. Dashkovskiy, M. Schönlein, T. Makuschewitz, and M. Kosmykov. Some remarks on stability and robustness of production networks based on fluid models. In Hans-Jörg Kreowski, Bernd Scholz-Reiter, and Klaus-Dieter Thoben, editors, *Dynamics in Logistics*, pages 27–35. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011.
- [146] B. Scholz-Reiter, F. Wirth, S. Dashkovskiy, M. Schönlein, M. Kosmykov, and T. Makuschewitz. A comparison of mathematical modelling approaches for stability analysis of supply chains. *International Journal of Logistics Systems Management*, 10(2):208–223, 2011.
- [147] B. Scholz-Reiter, F. Wirth, T. Makuschewitz, and M. Schönlein. Robust capacity allocation in dynamic production networks. *CIRP Annals - Manufacturing Technology*, 60(1):445–448, 2011.
- [148] B. Scholz-Reiter, F. Wirth, T. Makuschewitz, and M. Schönlein. An approach to supply chain design based on robust capacity allocation of production locations. In Mark D. Hanna, editor, *Proceedings of the 21st Annual POMS Conference, Vancouver, Canada*, May 2010. http://www.pomsmeetings.org/ConfPapers/015/015-0639.pdf.
- [149] T. Schurmann and I. Hoffmann. The entropy of 'strange' billiards inside n-simplexes. *Journal* of *Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 28(17):5033–5039, 1995.
- [150] R. Shorten, F. Wirth, O. Mason, K. Wulff, and C. King. Stability criteria for switched and hybrid systems. *SIAM Review*, 49(4):545–592, 2007.
- [151] R. Sipahi, S. Lämmer, S.-I. Niculescu, and D. Helbing. On stability problems of supply networks constrained with transport delay. *Journal of Dynamic Systems, Measurement and Control*, 131(2), 2009.
- [152] E.D. Sontag. Smooth stabilization implies coprime factorization. IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, 34(4):435–443, 1989.
- [153] E.D. Sontag and Y. Wang. On characterizations of the input-to-state stability property. *Systems & Control Letters*, 24(5):351–359, 1995.
- [154] J.D. Sterman. Modeling managerial behavior: Misperceptions of feedback in a dynamic decision making experiment. *Management Science*, 35(3):321–339, 1989.

- [155] J. P. Stinson and A. W. Smith. Heuristic programming procedure for sequencing the static flowshop. *International Journal of Production Research*, 20:753–64, 1982.
- [156] S.V. Strel'cov. On necessary conditions for the optimality of the controls in hybrid systems. *Differencial'nye Uravnenija*, 12(5):940–943, 1976.
- [157] S.H. Strogatz. Nonlinear dynamics and Chaos: With applications to physics, biology, chemistry, and engineering. Studies in nonlinearity. Perseus Books Group, 1 edition, January 1994.
- [158] S.H. Strogatz. Exploring complex networks. Nature, 410:268–276, 2001.
- [159] M. Tabbara and D. Nesic. Input-output stability with input-to-state stable protocols for quantized and networked control systems. In *Proceedings of the 47th IEEE Conference on Decision* and Control, pages 2680–2685, Cancun, Mexico, December 2008.
- [160] L. Tavernini. Differential automata and their discrete simulators. *Nonlinear Analysis*, 11(6):665–683, 1987.
- [161] J. Uffer, F. Cassim, J. Chastenet, and M. Laumanns. A stochastic optimal control model for supply networks with correlated demand and transshipments. Technical report, Institute for Operations Research, ETH Zurich, 2008. Preprint.
- [162] A. van der Schaft and H. Schumacher. An introduction to hybrid dynamical systems, volume 251 of Lecture Notes in Control and Information Sciences. Springer-Verlag London Ltd., London, 2000.
- [163] H.S. Witsenhausen. A class of hybrid-state continuous-time dynamic systems. *IEEE Transac*tions on Automatic Control, 11(2):161–167, 1966.
- [164] J. Zhang, K.H. Johansson, J. Lygeros, and S. Sastry. Zeno hybrid systems. *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control*, 11(5):435–451, 2001.

Index

I, 41 I_{Σ} , 41 $I_{\rm max}, 41$ $\mathcal{D}, 48$ Γ, 18, 47 $Lip_{loc}, 9$ $\mathcal{N}(t,s), 72$ Ω -path, 54 S, 73 χ , 36 $P_{J}, 7$ R_I , 7 $S_u(x^0), 37$ $\mathbb{R}_+, 7$ \mathbb{R}^n_+ , 7 $|\cdot|, 8$ $|\cdot|_{\max}, 8$ $|\cdot|_{1}, 8$ $\|\cdot\|_{(t,k)}, 39$ $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}, 9, 39$ ≱,7 $\mathbb{B}, 8$ $\overline{\mathbb{B}}, 8$ $u_{i[(t_1,j_1),(t_2,j_2)]}, 37$ $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle, 7$ id, 9 σ , 54 *K*, 9 KL. 9 $\mathcal{KLL}, 9$ $\mathcal{K}_{\infty}, 9$ adjacency matrix, 8 admissible sequences, 73

affine function, 9 aggregation almost disconnected subgraphs, 87 nodes connected in parallel, 84 sequentially connected nodes, 81 anti-projection, 7 average dwell-time conditon, 74 bouncing ball, 39 bucket brigade, 12 bullwhip effect, 15, 20 chain rule, 63 Clarke generalized gradient, 9 comparison system, 76 cycle condition, 48 damped oscillator model, 19 decentralized supply chain, 14 dynamical system continuous, 9 discrete, 10 hybrid, 10, 36 impulsive, 72 stochastic, 10 unforced, 10 equilibrium, 11 financial network, 20 fixed point, 11 asymptotically stable, 11 attractive, 11 globally attractive, 11 stable, 11 unstable, 11 fluid approximation, 30 gain, 47 **ISS-Lyapunov**, 42 nonlinear, 40 gain matrix, 47 gain model, 81 gain operator, 48 graph, 8 strongly connected, 8 weight directed, 8

hybrid arc, 37 hybrid dynamical system model, 24 hybrid input, 37 hybrid signal, 37 hybrid time domain, 36 information network, 20 input, 6 external, 37 internal, 37 irreducible, 8 ISS, 11, 40 ISS-Lyapunov function, 42 exponential, 73 locally Lipschitz continuous, 9 location, 5 logistics network, 5 model reduction, 79 motifs, 81 multiclass queueing network, 30 multilevel network model, 20 ordinary differential equation model, 17 output, 6 partial differential equation model, 22 path, 8 Poincare' map, 10 policy, 5 LTI, 14 proper, 14 positive definite function, 9 predecessor, 8 primitive, 8 product line, 12 production function, 6 production network, 5 projection, 7 queue, 5 queueing system, 15 rate coefficient, 74 re-entrant line, 15 reducible, 8 relatively closed set, 8 restriction to interval, 37

small gain condition, 18, 48 solution of hybrid system, 37 complete, 37 maximal, 37 stability 0-input pre-stability, 41 asymptotic gain property (AG), 41 global pre-stability (pre-GS), 41 input-to-state (ISS), 11, 18, 40 uniformly ISS, 73 state of logistic location, 5 stochastic model, 28 successor, 8 supply chain, 5 switched system, 26 tangent cone, 9 weak triangle inequality, 49 weighted edge, 8 Zeno solution, 37